



Functional fitness, cardiovascular risk factors, and health-related quality of life in older adults: interrelations and effects of different exercise types





Flávia Accioly Canuto Wanderley Porto, 2011

Universidade do Porto Contro de Desporto Centro de Investigação em Actividade Física, Saúde e Lazer CIAFEL

Flávia Accioly Canuto Wanderley

Functional fitness, cardiovascular risk factors, and health-related quality of life in older adults: interrelations and effects of different exercise types

Universidade do Porto FACULDADE DE DESPORTO UNIVERSIDADE DO 'ORTO Centro de Investigação em Actividade Física, Saúde e Lazer CIAFEL

Flávia Accioly Canuto Wanderley

Functional fitness, cardiovascular risk factors, and health-related quality of life in older adults: interrelations and effects of different exercise types

Dissertação apresentada às provas para obtenção do grau de Doutor em Actividade Física e Saúde, nos termos do Decreto - Lei nº 216/92 de 13 de Outubro, orientada pela Professora Doutora Maria Joana Mesquita Cruz Barbosa de Carvalho e co-orientada pelo Professor Doutor José Manuel Fernandes de Oliveira.

Wanderley, F. A. C. (2011).Functional fitness, cardiovascular risk factors and health-related quality of life in older adults: interrelations and effects of different exercise types. Porto: F. Wanderley. Dissertação apresentada às provas de Doutoramento em Actividade Física e Saúde. Faculdade de Desporto da Universidade do Porto.

KEY WORDS: TRAINING; QUALITY OF LIFE; AGING; PHYSICAL FITNESS; CARDIOVASCULAR FUNCTION.

Funding

The candidate performed this doctoral thesis with a grant from the Portuguese Foundation for Science and Technology (SFRH/BD/33124/2007).

This work was supported by a grant from Portuguese Foundation for Science and Technology (PTDC/DES/108780/2008 - FCOMP-01-0124-FEDER-009606) and developed in the Research Centre in Physical Activity, Health and Leisure, Faculty of Sport Sciences, University of Porto.

The Faculty of Sport, University of Porto provided the facilities and the logistical supports.



Ao Rafa, à tia Déia e à Liginha que partiram mais cedo e não puderam comemorar comigo mais esta vitória.

Acknowledgements

(Agradecimentos)

Agradeço a Deus, a N. Sra. de Fátima e a Santo Antônio por nos momentos mais difíceis darem-me a força necessária para levantar, erguer a cabeça e seguir em frente.

Aos meus pais por desde muito cedo ensinarem a mim e ao meu irmão quais são realmente as coisas valorosas, por se esforçarem ao máximo para nos darem educação e fazerem-nos entender que o conhecimento é um grande legado.

Ao Gus pelas palavras de incentivo.

A minha enorme e amada família que mesmo com um oceano de distância conseguiu fazer-se presente em meus quatro anos de vida portuguesa.

Aos meus padrinhos pelos semanais telefonemas com palavras de carinho e encorajamento.

As minhas "amigas para sempre", Lidi, Catha e Liginha, e as recém adicionadas ao grupo, Rê e Lú, simplesmente por serem minhas "amigas para sempre".

Aos queridos amigos e treinadores das equipes de natação do Clube Fênix Alagoano e late Clube Pajuçara. Crescemos juntos e aprendemos a amar a vida de atleta com todas as suas implicações. Tivemos que abdicar de muito das nossas vidas de adolescentes mas, não me arrependo nem um minuto dessa escolha pois, a amizade e carinho que temos ainda hoje uns pelos outros vale muito mais que as festas perdidas ou o sono interrompido as 4.30h da manhã para ir treinar ou ainda todas as medalhas e troféus. Não podia deixar de vos agradecer a força que me deram para concretizar mais esta conquista. A Prof^a. Leonéa e Carlos, amigos queridos, e pais adotivos em Portugal, por todo apoio e incentivo, sempre.

A Nanda e Tatá, minhas também irmãs adotivas pela amizade e carinho.

A Socorrinho, por todo o carinho e por todas as partilhas de experiências vividas.

Nórton e Aninha, amigos e companheiros de jornada nesses quatro anos, a vocês que estiveram presentes nos momentos mais alegres e mais tristes da minha vida portuguesa, os meus sinceros agradecimentos.

A Faimara, Paulinha, Ivana, Joana, Margriet, Issam, Lino, Rojapon e Kurussart, minha família multi-cultural da Residência Universitária de Paranhos.

A Pri por cuidar dos meus alunos nos dias em que eu tinha avaliação e por isso não podia estar presente nas aulas.

A todos os professores do programa doutoral em Actividade Física e Saúde da Faculdade de Desporto da Universidade do Porto e a todos os meus professores do curso de Educação Física da Universidade Federal de Alagoas, por terem contribuído para minha formação.

Um agradecimento especial a Prof^a. Doutora Joana Carvalho e ao Prof. Doutor José Oliveira meus queridos orientadores pela disponibilidade e atenção e, principalmente, por terem contribuído "imenso" para meu crescimento como pesquisadora.

Aos serviços de Imunologia do Hospital São João, especialmente ao Dr. André Moreira, Dr^a. Carmo, Oksana e Luísa pela preciosa ajuda com as recolhas de sangue e análises dos biomarcadores inflamatórios.

Ao Prof. Doutor Pedro Moreira pela enorme disponibilidade com que sempre me recebeu bem como pelos préstimos com os recordatórios alimentares. Ao Prof. Doutor José Maia pela também enorme disponibilidade e pelos ensinamentos estatísticos.

Ao Prof. Doutor José Carlos pela ajuda com os softwares e tratamentos estatísticos.

Aos colegas de doutoramento por dividirem as angústias e felicidades da vida de doutorandos. Aqui, gostaria de agradecer especialmente a Nórton, Mére, Elisa, Andréia e Luísa Miranda pela ajuda na recolha dos meus dados, ao Gustavo que sempre prestativo teve enorme paciência ao me ajudar no tratamento estatístico dos dados, a Júlia, Clarice e Anelise pela amizade e incentivo.

Aos alunos de graduação da opção Recreação em Tempos Livres e aos alunos do Mestrado em Actividade Física para Terceira Idade pela grande ajuda nas aulas do centro de estágio.

A Faculdade de Alagoas e ao Instituto Batista de Ensino superior de Alagoas pois, acreditando na importância da especialização de seus professores, liberaram-me de meus compromissos como professora e autorizaram minha licença para realização deste doutoramento.

A Universidade Sénior de Gondomar por nos ter aberto as portas sempre que preciso, auxiliando-nos desde a fase de divulgação do estudo e recrutamento dos idosos até as últimas avaliações.

Finalmente, o sincero agradecimento a todos os nossos alunos Seniores e voluntários pela enorme contribuição, respeito e carinho. Sem vocês este trabalho não teria sido possível.

Table of Contents

	Page
List of Figures	xiii
List of Tables	XV
List of Equations	xviii
Resumo	xix
Abstract	xxi
List of Abbreviations	xxiii
List of Publications	xxix
Chapter I – Introduction and Background	1
1. Introduction and Background	3
1.1. Statistics on Cardiovascular Diseases and Aging	3
1.2. Cardiovascular Diseases Risk Factors	4
1.2.1. Age	5
1.2.2. Sex	5
1.2.3. Family history of premature coronary heart disease	6
1.2.4. Ethnic characteristics	7
1.2.5. Blood pressure	7
1.2.6. Obesity	9
1.2.7. Total and low density lipoprotein cholesterol	10
1.2.8. Smaller, denser low density lipoprotein particles	12
1.2.9. High density lipoprotein cholesterol	12
1.2.10. Serum apoliproteins, lipoprotein(a), and non-HDL	13
cholesterol	
1.2.11. Triglycerides	15
1.2.12. Diabetes and fasting glycemia	15
1.2.13. Homocysteine	17
1.2.14. Inflammatory, infectious and thrombotic markers	18

1.2.15. Cigarette smoking	20
1.2.16. Physical inactivity	21
1.2.17. Psychosocial factors	23
1.2.18. Autonomic dysfunction	23
1.3. Important Definitions	26
1.4. Theoretical Background on Disability and Health-related	27
Quality of Life	
1.5. Questions and Objectives of the Study	29
Chapter II – Methodology	49
2. Methodology	51
2.1. Study Design and Participants	51
2.1.1. Study design	51
2.1.2. Participant selection criteria	52
2.2. Intervention	54
2.2.1. Walking program (pilot study)	54
2.2.2. Aerobic training, resistance training and waiting list (RCT)	55
2.3. Measurements	56
2.3.1. Anthropometrics	56
2.3.2. Biochemical analysis	56
2.3.3. Cytokine measurements	56
2.3.4. Resting blood pressure and heart rate	57
2.3.5. Autonomic function	57
2.3.6. Physical and functional fitness assessment	57
2.3.7. Health-related quality of life	58
2.3.8. Daily physical activity	59
2.3.9. Energy intake	60
2.4. Data Analysis	60
Chapter III – Study I	65

Effects of a Moderate-intensity Walking Program on Blood Pressure, Body Composition and Functional Fitness in Older Women: results of a pilot study

Chapter IV – Study II	75
Six-minute walk distance (6MWD) is associated with body fat, systolic blood pressure, and rate-pressure product in community dwelling elderly subjects	
Chapter V – Study III	81
Associations between Objectively Assessed Physical Activity Levels and Fitness and Self-reported Health-related Quality of Life in Community-dwelling Older Adults	
Chapter VI – Study IV	91
Effects of training on fatness, inflammation and autonomic function in older adults	
Chapter VII – Study V	121
Health-related Quality of Life (HRQoL), Body Composition and Functional Fitness of Older Adults: Results from Aerobic <i>vs.</i> Resistance Training.	
Chapter VIII – Final Remarks	159
Chapter IX – Conclusion	165
Appendix 1 – Informed Written Consent	xxxiii
Appendix 2 – Medical Outcomes Study 36-Item Short-Form Health Study questionnaire, adapted and validated for the Portuguese population	xxxvii
Appendix 3 – Physical Activity Diary	xliii

Appendix 4 – Dietary Record	xlvii
Appendix 5 – Individual Physical Fitness Report	liii
Appendix 6 – Acknowledgement Letter	lix

List of Figures

Chapter II	Page
Figure 1	52
Thesis design	
Chapter III – Study I	
Figure1	69
Study Design	
Chapter VI – Study IV	
Figure 1	97
Flowchart depicting the study design.	
Figure 2	105
Flowchart describing retention of participants.	
Chapter VII – Study V	
Figure 1	128
Flowchart describing study design.	
Figure 2	137
Flowchart describing retention of participants.	
Chapter VIII – Final Remarks	

The first model was suggested by Rikli & Jones (1999). The 164 second model was amended based on the results obtained in this

thesis and aims to explain the interactions between CVD risk factors, an inactive lifestyle, functional fitness, impairment-disability evolution, and HRQoL in physically independent, community-dwelling older adults with no serious medical conditions.

List of Tables

	Page
Chapter I	
Table 1	31
The titles, specific objectives and status of each study included in the thesis.	
Chapter II	
Table 1	54
Sample size of each study.	
Table 2	61
Statistical tests used in each study.	
Chapter III – Study I	
Table 1	70
Weight, Percent Body Fat (%BF), Trunk fat, Lean Mass (LM), Systolic Blood Pressure (SBP), Diastolic Blood Pressure (DBP), and Heart Rate (HR): Mean ± SD on different moments (M1, M2, and M3).	
Table 2	71
Physical Fitness: Mean \pm SD on different moments (M1, M2, and M3).	
Chapter IV – Study II	
Table 1	78
Descriptive characteristics of study sample, mean ± S.D.	
Table 2	79
Percentual amount of variance $(R_a\%)$ in risk factors explained by	

the models: unadjusted and adjusted for age and sex.

Chapter V – Study III

Summary characteristics of study participants and the differences observed between men and women.

Table 2

Table 1

Spearman's *rho* correlation coefficients between each selfreported HRQoL domain and each physical activity (PA) or physical fitness variable.

Table 3

Odds ratios (ORs) and 95% confidence intervals (CI) for scoring in highest quartile on each self-reported HRQoL domain per quartile increase in each physical activity and physical fitness variables.

Chapter VI – Study IV

Table 1106

Baseline characteristics of the participants.

Tabl	e 2
------	-----

Changes in body composition, lipoproteic profile, fasting glycemia, and inflammatory biomarkers before and after training. Values normally distributed are represented by means with standard deviations and values not normally distributed are represented by medians with percentiles between 25 and 75 ($25^{th} - 75^{th}$ percentiles).

Table 3

Changes in blood pressure, heart rate variability and aerobic fitness before and after training. Values are represented by means with standard deviations.

Table 4

General Linear Models: relative amount of variance explained by models.

86

87

88

107

109

110

Chapter VII – Study V

Table 1	137
Baseline characteristics of the sample.	
Table 2	140
Outcomes at baseline (before) and after protocol.	
Table 3	141
Frequencies and percentages for each self-rating option in the item "changes in general health", before and after protocol.	
Table 4	142
General Linear Models: between group comparisons of mean relative changes (% Δ).	

List of Equations

BMI = Weight (kg)/ (height [m])²

HR_{max}= 208 x 0.7 (age)

 $HR_{Reserve} = HR_{max} - HR$ at rest

Resumo

Objectivo. Esta tese teve como principais objectivos: (i) investigar as possíveis relações entre a performance avaliada mediante testes simples de terreno para avaliação da aptidão física e funcional, factores de risco para doenças cardiovasculares (DCV) e a qualidade de vida relacionada a saúde (QVRS), (ii) determinar e comparar a magnitude dos efeitos de dois tipos de exercício físico sobre os factores de risco cardiovasculares modificáveis, função cardíaca, aptidão funcional e QVRS, em idosos fisicamente independentes e sem condições clínicas severas. Método. Para atingir estes objectivos, esta tese foi dividida em cinco estudos. O Estudo I foi o estudo piloto, os Estudos II e III foram estudos descritivos nos quais as relações entre factores de risco cardiovascular (pressão arterial, composição corporal, função autonómica, marcadores bioquímicos e inflamatórios), aptidão física e QVRS foram determinadas. Os Estudos IV e V foram estudos experimentais delineados para verificar os efeitos de oito meses de treino (aeróbio vs. resistido), com frequência semanal de três dias sobre as variáveis do estudo. Resultados. No baseline, 105 indivíduos (68.9±5.4 anos) foram avaliados. No Estudo II, os modelos de regressão linear demonstraram que o teste de seis minutos de caminhada (6MWT) está associado à percentagem de gordura corporal (%BF; p<0.01), pressão arterial sistólica (SBP; p<0.01) e duplo-produto em repouso (RPP_{rest}; p<0.01). No Estudo III, os modelos de regressão logística demonstraram que os indivíduos com melhor performance no 6MWT têm maiores odds ratio (OR) de auto-reportarem maiores valores nos domínios de QVRS, função física (PF; OR = 1.87), limitação devido a problemas físicos (RP; OR = 1.95) e vitalidade (VT; OR = 1.79). Os indivíduos com maior força de preensão manual também tiveram maiores odds ratio de auto-reportarem menos limitações devido a problemas físicos (OR = 2.37) e maior VT (OR = 1.83). Nos estudos experimentais, 85 indivíduos foram aleatoriamente sorteados para integrarem os grupos de treino aeróbio (AT), treino resistido (RT) ou lista de espera. Após oito meses de treino, foram observadas mudanças significativas (Δ%) na %BF (-5.4±6.3% e -3.3±2.9%), gordura de tronco (8.9±11.3% e -4.8±4.5%), performance nos testes de sentar e levantar cinco vezes (-18.2±10.8% e -21.5±13.9%), subir degraus (-12.8±9.9% e -20.1±11.4%), 8-foot up-and-go (-8.8±9.7% e -13.3±9.6%) e, domínio saúde geral (16.8±17.0% e 14.4±19.7%) no RT e AT, respectivamente. A força de preensão manual (9.0±8.4%) e a variabilidade da frequência cardíaca total (29.7±40.0%) mudaram significativamente em resposta ao RT; A performance no 6MWT (9.5±6.9%), a pressão arterial sistólica e diastólica em repouso (-9.2±9.8% e -8.5±9.6%), a frequência cardíaca (-4.6±6.5%), a actividade parassimpática (364.0±739.0%), a hs-CRP (-18.6±60.6%), os domínios PF, (4.4±8.1%) e saúde mental (21.9±37.3%) mudaram em resposta ao AT. Conclusão. Os resultados sugerem que, em indivíduos idosos, fisicamente independentes, vivendo na comunidade e sem condições clínicas severas: (i) uma baixa aptidão aeróbia está relacionada a um risco cardiovascular acrescido, (ii) uma maior aptidão aeróbia está associada a uma melhor função cardiovascular em repouso, (iii) um maior nível de aptidão física, avaliada pelo 6MWT e pela força de preensão manual, está associada a uma melhor percepção em vários domínios da QVRS, (iv) oito meses de treino, independentemente do tipo de exercício (aeróbio vs. resistido), com intensidade de moderada a vigorosa são capazes de melhorar a aptidão física e funcional, reduzir o risco cardiovascular, aumentar a função cardiovascular e, melhorar a QVRS auto-reportada, não havendo diferenças estatisticamente significativas nas mudanças observadas entre os dois tipos de treino.

Palavras-chave: Treino; Qualidade de Vida; Envelhecimento; Aptidão Física; Função Cardiovascular.

Abstract

Purpose. This thesis aimed (i) to investigate the possible relationships between performance on simple functional fitness field tests, cardiovascular disease (CVD) risk factors, and healthrelated quality of life (HRQoL), (ii) to determine and to compare the magnitude of the effects of two different types of exercise training on modifiable CVD risk factors, cardiovascular function, functional fitness, and HRQoL. Methods. This thesis encompassed five studies, Study I, a pilot study; Studies II and III, descriptive, correlational studies in which relationships between subjects' CVD risk profile (blood pressure, body composition, autonomic function, inflammatory and biochemical markers), functional fitness, and HRQoL were explored; and Studies IV and V (randomized controlled trials studies, RCT) which were designed to test the effects of two types of exercise training (resistance vs. aerobic) performed during eight months, three days per week, on outcomes. Results. A total of 105 subjects (68.9±5.4 years) had outcomes evaluated at baseline. In Study II, the multiple linear regression models demonstrated that 6MWT was associated with percentage of body fat (%BF; p < 0.01), systolic blood pressure (SBP; p<0.01) and rate-pressure product at rest (RPP_{rest}; p<0.01). In Study III, the logistic regression models demonstrated that individuals with superior 6MWT were more likely to score higher on HRQoL, namely on physical function (PF; OR = 1.87), role limitations due to physical problems (RP; OR = 1.95) and vitality (VT; OR = 1.79). Additionally, individuals with superior hand-grip strength were more likely to score higher on RP (OR = 2.37) and VT (OR = 1.83). In the RCT studies, 85 subjects were randomized into, aerobic training (AT), resistance training (RT) or waiting list groups. After eight months of training, it was observed a significant change (Δ %) in %BF (-5.4±6.3% and -3.3±2.9%), central body fat (8.9±11.3% and -4.8±4.5%), performance on the sitto-stand five times (-18.2±10.8% and -21.5±13.9%), stair ascent (-12.8±9.9% and -20.1±11.4%), 8-foot up-and-go (-8.8±9.7% and -13.3±9.6%) tests, and general health (16.8±17.0% and 14.4±19.7%) in RT and AT groups, respectively; hand-grip strength (9.0±8.4%) and overall heart rate variability (29.7±40.0%), changed significantly in response to RT; 6MWT (9.5±6.9%), resting systolic and diastolic blood pressure (-9.2±9.8% and -8.5±9.6%), heart rate (-4.6±6.5%), vagal activity (364.0±739.0%), hs-CRP (-18.6±60.6%), PF, (4.4±8.1%), and mental health (21.9±37.3%) changed in response to AT. Conclusion. Results suggest that, in physically independent, community-dwelling, older adults with no serious clinical condition: (i) a worse cardiovascular profile is related with lower aerobic fitness; (ii) an elevated aerobic fitness level is correlated with a favorable cardiovascular function at rest; (iii) higher levels of physical fitness, as assessed by hand-grip strength and 6MWT, are associated with higher self-reports in several domains of HRQoL; (iv) eight months of moderate to vigorous exercise training is capable to improve physical and functional fitness, decrease CVD risk profile, increase cardiovascular function, and improve subjective HRQoL, and finally, (v) it seems that AT and RT induce changes of similar magnitude on physical and functional fitness, CVD risk profile, and subjective HRQoL.

Key-words: Training; Quality of Life; Aging; Physical Fitness; Cardiovascular Function.

List of Abbreviations

- Abs Antibodies
- ACh Acetylcholine
- ACSM American College of Sports Medicine
- AHA American Heart Association
- ANOVA Analysis of variance
- ApoA Apoliprotein A
- ApoB Apoliprotein B
- AT Aerobic training
- BMI Body mass index
- BP Blood pressure
- BP Bodily pain
- CHD Coronary heart disease
- CI Confidence intervals
- CRP C-reactive protein
- CS Cigarette smoking
- CVD Cardiovascular disease
- CRF Cardiovascular risk factors
- CVDRF Cardiovascular risk factors

- DBP Diastolic blood pressure
- DXA Dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry
- eNOS endothelial nitric oxide synthase
- FD Frequency domain
- FRS Framingham Risk Score
- GH General health
- HDL High density lipoprotein
- HDL-C High density lipoprotein cholesterol
- HF High frequency
- HR Heart rate
- HR_{reserve} Heart rate reserve
- HR_{rest} Heart rate at rest
- HRQoL Health-related quality of life
- HRT Hormone replacement therapy
- HRV Heart rate variability
- ICAM-1 Inter-cellular adhesion molecule-1
- ICC Intra-class correlation
- IDL Intermediate density lipoprotein
- IFN-Y Interferon-gamma

- IL-1 Interleukin-1
- IL-6 Interleukin-6
- INE Instituto Nacional de Estatística
- LDL Low density lipoprotein
- LDL-C Low density lipoprotein cholesterol
- LF Low frequency
- LM Lean mass
- M Mean
- MCP-1 Monocyte chemo-attractant protein-1
- MCS Mental component summary
- Md Median
- MH Mental health
- NCEP National Cholesterol Education Program
- OR Odds ratio
- PA Physical activity
- PCS Physical component summary
- PF Physical functioning
- PI Physical inactivity
- PP Pulse pressure

- QoL Quality of life
- RCT Randomized controlled trial
- RE Role limitations due to emotional problems
- Reps. repetitions
- ROS Reactive oxygen species
- RP Role limitations due to physical problems
- RPE Rating of perceived effort
- RPP_{rest} Rate-pressure product at rest
- RT Resistance training
- SBP Systolic blood pressure
- SCORE Systematic Coronary Risk Evaluation
- SD Standard deviation
- SDRR Standard deviation of normal RR intervals
- SES Socioeconomic status
- SF Social functioning
- SF-36 Medical Outcomes Study 36-item Short-Form Health Study Questionnaire
- SPSS Statistical Package for the Social Sciences
- SFT Senior fitness test
- TD Time domain

- TG Triglycerides
- TNF-α Tumor necrosis factor-alpha
- USDA United States Department of Agriculture
- VCAM-1 Vascular cell adhesion molecule-1
- VLDL Very low density lipoprotein
- VLF Very low frequency
- VO_{2max} Maximal oxygen consumption
- VT Vitality
- WHO World Health Organization
- WL Waiting list
- %BF percent of total body fat
- R_a% Adjusted partial Eta squared
- NO Nitric oxide
- 1RM one repetition maximum
- 6MWD 6-minute walk distance
- 6MWT 6-minute walk test
- 8FUG 8-foot up-and-go

List of Publications

Peer-reviewed Scientific Journal Published Articles

Wanderley F A C, Silva G, Marques E, Oliveira J, Mota J, Carvalho J. (2011). Associations between objectively assessed physical activity levels and fitness and self-reported quality of life in community-dwelling older adults. *Quality of Life Research.* 2011. DOI: 10.1007/s11136-011-9875-x.

Wanderley F A C, Oliveira J, Mota J, Carvalho J. (2010). Effects of a moderateintensity walking program on blood pressure, body composition and functional fitness in older women: results of a pilot study. *Archives of Exercise in Health and Disease*, 1(2), 50-57.

Wanderley F A C, Oliveira J, Mota J, Carvalho M J. (2011). Six-minute walk distance (6MWD) is associated with body fat, systolic blood pressure, and rate-pressure product in community dwelling elderly subjects. *Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics*, 52(2), 206-210.DOI: 10.1016/j.archger.2010.03.020

Peer-reviewed Scientific Journal Submitted Articles

Wanderley F A C, Moreira A, Sokhatska O, Palmares C, Moreira P, Oliveira J, Carvalho J. Effects of training on fatness, inflammation and autonomic function in older adults. Submitted to the European Journal of Cardiovascular Prevention and Rehabilitation on the 3rd of March, 2011.

Wanderley F A C, Oliveira N L, Marques E, Moreira P, Oliveira J, Carvalho J. Health-related Quality of Life (HRQoL), Body composition and functional fitness of older adults: results from aerobic *vs.* resistance training. Submitted to the Journal of Aging and Physical Activity on the 04th of January, 2011. Current Status: Under review.

Wanderley F, Moreira A, Sokhatska O, Palmares C, Carvalho J. Cardiovascular Function, Body Composition, hs-CRP, and Physical Fitness in Older Adults: Effects of two training regimens. Submitted to the Journal of Aging Research on the 31st of August, 2010.

Invited Book Chapters

Wanderley F, Moreira A, Sokhatska O, Palmares C, Carvalho J. The Role of Resistance Training in the Management of Cardiovascular Risk in Older Adults: Perspectives from a 4-month intervention study. Chapter contribution to the edited textbook entitled 'Current Advances in Cardiovascular Risk' to be published by NOVA Medical Publishers. Current Status: Under review.

Wanderley F, Oliveira J, Marques E, Carvalho J. Time-course of Changes in Body Fat, Blood Pressure, C-reactive Protein, and Physical Function, During 8month Exercise Training in Older Adults. Chapter contribution to the edited textbook entitled 'Body Fat: Composition Measurements and Reduction Procedures' to be published by NOVA Medical Publishers. Current Status: Page Proofs.

Peer-reviewed Scientific Journals Published Abstracts

Wanderley F A C, Carvalho J, Oliveira J. (2010). Effects of a 4-month Exercise Training on Fitness, Body Composition, Blood Pressure and Autonomic Function. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, 42 (5) (Suppl), S425.

Wanderley F C, Carvalho J, Oliveira J, Oliveira N. (2010). Cardiovascular Function on Older Adults: Effects of 4 and 8.month of aerobic training. *European Journal of Cardiovascular Prevention & Rehabilitation,* (Suppl), S26.

Wanderley F A C. Santiago L, Marques E, Carvalho J. (2010). Exploring Portuguese Older Individuals' Self-report Health Status: A gender analysis. *Revista Portuguesa de Ciências do Desporto,* 10 (1), 90-91.

Wanderley F, Carvalho J, Bohn L, Carvalho N, Mota J. (2009). Five-times sit--to-stand and stair climb: reliable tests to the elderly. *Archivos de Medicina del Deporte*, 129 (XXVI), 32.

Oral Presentations

Wanderley F A C, Carvalho J. (2010). Programas de caminhada para idosos: respostas fisiológicas e funcionais a diferentes volumes e intensidades. In *Workshop "Ciência, Percursos Pedestres, Recursos Naturais e Promoção da Saúde"*. Vila Real, Portugal: Universidade de Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro.

Wanderley F A C, Carvalho J. (2009). Improving blood pressure in older women through a 16-week walking program. In *IJUP 09.* Porto.

Abstracts in Proceedings

Carvalho J, Wanderley F, Oliveira N, Mota J. (2010). Aerobic Training on Old Age: Effects on Functional Fitness, Body Composition and Isokinetic Strength. In *Proceedings of the 3rd International Congress on Physical Activity and Public Health* (p. 113), Toronto, Canada.

Wanderley F, Carvalho J, Marques E, Oliveira N, Oliveira J.(2010). Physical Activity and Aerobic Fitness correlate with Cardiovascular Risk Factors and Cardiac Function in Older Adults. In *15th Annual Congress of the European College of Sport Science Book of Abstracts* (p.108). Antalya, Turkey.

Wanderley F A C, Carvalho J. (2010).Treino contra resistência induz melhorias na aptidão funcional e composição corporal em idosos. In *Livro de Resumos do XIII Congresso de Ciências do Desporto e Educação Física dos Países de Língua Portuguesa* (p. 206). Maputo.

Wanderley F A C, Carvalho M J. (2009). Effects of a Feasible Aerobic Training on Women's Body Composition, Blood Pressure, Physical Fitness, and Health-related Quality of Life. In *14th Annual Congress of the European College of Sport Science Book of Abstracts* (p.393). Oslo.
Wanderley F A C, Carvalho M J. (2009). Aptidão Funcional em Idosos: estudo do grau de correlação entre medidas objectivas e subjectivas. In *Livro de Resumos do V Seminário Internacional/II Ibero-americano de Educação física, Lazer e Saúde* (p.56). São Miguel.

Wanderley F A C, Carvalho M J, Mota J. (2008). Estudo das Relações entre Aptidão Muscular e Variáveis da Composição Corporal em Idosos Saudáveis. In *Livro Digital do XII Congresso de Educação Física e Ciências do Desporto dos Países de Língua Portuguesa*, Rio Grande do Sul.

Wanderley F A C, Carvalho M J. The Effects of a Walking Programme on Body Composition and Blood Pressure of Elderly Women. (2008). In *13th Annual Congress of the European College of Sport Science Book of Abstracts* (p.97). Estoril.

CHAPTER I INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

1. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

1.1. Statistics on Cardiovascular Diseases and Aging

Although cardiovascular-related mortality has been decreasing in Western countries, cardiovascular diseases (CVDs) continue to be the leading cause of death and are an important source of disability in most European populations. The fact that cardiovascular morbidity and mortality increases steeply with advancing age (Versari, Daghini, Virdis, Ghiadoni, & Taddei, 2009), in addition to the rapid increase in older adults worldwide, seems to be contributing in a large part to the maintenance of high levels of CVD incidence and prevalence as well as to the increased healthcare expenses derived from these medical conditions.

In these regards, Portugal is no exception. CVDs accounted for 32.3% of total deaths in 2008 (Instituto Nacional de Estatística [INE], 2008a). The older population is growing both in the number of older people and as a proportion of the total population due to a declining birth rate and increasing longevity. While at the beginning of the 20th century, the proportion of the population over 65 years of age did not exceed 5.0%; currently this segment represents 11.0% of the global population, as estimated by the World Health Organization (WHO, 2010). In Portugal, the group of older adults that in 1960 represented 8.0% of the population had increased to 11.4% by 1981 and to 14.0% by 1991. In 2007, the group 65 and over reached 17.4% (59.4% of them women) in this country (INE, 2008b). This proportion is projected to continue to rise in the 21st century.

The ensuing demographic change will have obvious impacts on society and healthcare systems. Unfortunately, the increased longevity generally represents a longer period of time that older people will suffer from decreased levels of functioning and independence because of chronic diseases such as CVDs. The elevated cost of CVD treatment has increased interest in developing new tests and therapies that would improve screening, prognosis and prevention. Consequently, a number of risk factors¹ have been identified and other potential factors have been investigated.

1.2. Cardiovascular Diseases Risk Factors

Because CVD etiology is related to multiple risk factors, generally, global risk assessment seems to be more accurate than the investigation of a single risk factor (Greenland, Smith, & Grundy, 2001). Global risk scores, such as the Framingham Risk Score (FRS) or the Systematic Coronary Risk Evaluation (SCORE), incorporate the major traditional CVD risk factors, i.e., age; sex; cigarette smoking; levels of total, high (HDL) and low density lipoproteins (LDL); cholesterol (HDL-C and LDL-C, respectively); diabetes or fasting glycemia; and levels of blood pressure (BP). These factors are combined in predictive models to estimate the risk of fatal and non-fatal cardiovascular events (Greenland, et al., 2010). Though obesity and physical inactivity are not included in these predictive models, they are considered major risk factors by the American Heart Association (AHA) (Grundy, Pasternak, Greenland, Smith, & Fuster, 1999). Other factors associated with increased risk for coronary heart disease (CHD) are classified as: 1) conditional risk factors - those associated with CHD although their causative independent contribution to CHD has been not yet well documented; and 2) predisposing risk factors - those that exacerbate the independent risk factors. Generally, the first category includes a family history of premature CHD, ethnic characteristics, and psychosocial factors. The latter category includes elevated serum triglycerides, small LDL particles, elevated serum homocystein, and elevated serum lipoprotein(a) (Grundy, et al., 1999). In addition to these traditional risk factors, inflammatory (e.g., C-reactive Protein [CRP]), infectious and thrombotic (e.g., fibrinogen) markers have been emerging as CHD risk factors due to their ability to improve risk assessment (Greenland, et al., 2001). The influence and impact of each of the abovementioned CVD risk factors on health will be briefly discussed in the following paragraphs.

¹ Social, economic or biological status, behaviors or environments which are associated with or cause increased susceptibility to a specific disease, ill health, or injury (WHO, 1998).

1.2.1. Age

The absolute risk for CVD increases with advancing age and reflects, mainly, the cumulative nature of arteriogenesis (Greenland, et al., 2001) and the increased time of exposure to other cardiovascular risk factors (Versari, et al., 2009), which lead to a more advanced stage of atherosclerosis. Older adults generally present higher BP levels (Blacher & Safar, 2002), increased abdominal fat content (Guo, Zeller, Chumlea, & Siervogel, 1999), dyslipidemia² (Windler, et al., 2007), low-grade chronic inflammation (Sajadieh, et al., 2004), increased heart rate (Sajadieh, et al., 2004), and reduced heart rate variability (Sajadieh, et al., 2004).

Despite researchers' increased efforts, the role of specific age-associated changes in cardiovascular structure and function in concerning age-CVD interaction continue to be mainly recognized (Lakatta & Levy, 2003).

1.2.2. Sex

Compared to men of a similar age and postmenopausal women, the incidence of CVD is significantly lower in premenopausal women (Roeters van Lennep, Westerveld, Erkelens, & van der Wall, 2002). It was also demonstrated that the overall median age of people experiencing their first acute myocardial infarction is about nine years lower in men than in women in all regions of the world (Yusuf, et al., 2004). To date, the hypothesis that endogenous estrogen is cardioprotective in women is the most widespread, but not exclusively accepted explanation for the gender-related differences in CVD risk (Rossouw, 2002).

Indeed, higher estrogen levels attenuate the development and progression of the atherosclerotic process through a variety of mechanisms such as the lowering of total cholesterol, LDL-C, lipoprotein(a), and homocystein, as well as increasing HDL-C and post-prandial lipid metabolism. Moreover, estrogens

² Dyslipidemia, the imbalance between atherogenic and atheroprotective lipoproteins is one of the most powerful and potentially modifiable risk factors for CVD (Windler, Schöffauer, & Zyriax, 2007), is characterized by low concentrations of HDL-C, elevated triglycerides and a preponderance of small, dense LDL particles that confer increased atherogenicity (Windler, et al., 2007).

have an acute vasodilatory effect and inhibit smooth-muscle cell proliferation, as reported by Roeters van Lennep, et al. (2002) and Vaccarino (2011). Additionally, women tend to have higher parasympathetic activity, and therefore a more favorable autonomic function, whereas men tend to have a higher sympathetic cardiac activity. It is possible that such differences in the autonomic control of heart are modulated by other factors like obesity, hormone levels or inflammation (Vaccarino, et al., 2011).

Despite the lower incidence of CVD in premenopausal women, which has long been attributed to ovarian hormones, there is no evidence of an increase in the year-on-year rate of increase of CHD around the age of menopause. Moreover, there is a constant proportional increase in CHD incidence with age, with no inflection upward at the average age of menopause. This is greater evidence for an age effect than for a gender effect (Rossouw, 2002), even though the specific mechanisms underlying the CVD protection in females until menopause have not been completely elucidated.

1.2.3. Family History of Premature Coronary Heart Disease

A family history of premature CHD, defined most often as occurring in a firstdegree male relative <55 years of age or in a first-degree female relative <65 years of age, has long been considered a risk factor for CHD in offspring (Greenland, et al., 2010). More recently, it was suggested that a maternal history of CHD may be more strongly associated with the risk of CHD than a paternal history (Sesso, et al., 2001). Higher CHD risk for maternal versus paternal histories of CHD may reflect mothers' influence on their children's dietary and behavioral patterns retained later in life (Sesso, et al., 2001).

Although family history of CHD is an independent risk factor for CVDs, it was suggested that a large part of the effect of family history might be mediated through known risk factors like hypertension, dyslipidemia, diabetes or obesity, which could be affected by both shared lifestyles and genetic factors, rather than through independent pathways (Greenland, et al., 2010; Yusuf, et al.,

2004). Moreover, family history seems to be more important in the young than in older individuals (Sesso, et al., 2001; Yusuf, et al., 2004).

1.2.4. Ethnic Characteristics

Black men and women seem to be more prone to CVD morbidity compared with their caucasian counterparts (Carnethon, et al., 2006). Mensah, Mokdad, Ford, Greenlund, & Croft (2005) reported that the age-adjusted death rates for heart diseases in United States were 30% higher among Black individuals than among Caucasians of both sexes. In the same vein, Thomas et al. (2005) observed that more than four times as many Black men as Caucasian men had elevated risk factor levels. However, the adjustment for age, income, and major risk factor differences explained 35% of the excess mortality among Black men in this study, suggesting that higher overall mortality among Black men can be largely explained by differences in socioeconomic status.

Another study also observed that most traditional risk factors (smoking status, diabetes, body mass index [BMI], age, education, high cholesterol level and hypertension) had similar associations with mortality in Black and Caucasian adults of the same sex (Carnethon, et al., 2006).

It is difficult to prove the independent risk of ethnicity in CVD because evidence demonstrates that a great proportion of ethnic minorities live in unfavorable socioeconomic levels that can mask the real contribution of ethnicity in CVD risk (Thomas, et al., 2005). In addition, a great proportion of studies come from countries with Caucasian majorities and only compare Blacks versus Caucasians and do not include other ethnic groups.

The only well-established difference between Blacks and Caucasians concerning CVD is that the former group has the highest prevalence rates of hypertension (Carnethon, et al., 2006; Mensah, et al., 2005).

1.2.5. Blood Pressure

Beyond a high prevalent CVD, hypertension is also considered a major risk factor for other CVDs like stroke (Wolf-Maier, et al., 2003) or heart failure (Levy,

Larson, Vasan, Kannel, & Ho, 1996). The relative importance of the various components of blood pressure (BP) in predicting CVD risk seems to change with increasing age. Initially, diastolic BP (DBP) was thought to be the best measure of risk, but today it is known that in patients <50 years of age DBP is the strongest predictor, between 50 and 59 years of age there is a transition period when DBP, systolic BP (SBP) and pulse-pressure (PP) are comparable predictors, and from 60 years of age on, DBP is negatively associated with CVD, and PP and SBP become superior predictors of risk (Franklin, Larson, et al., 2001).

The prevalence of hypertension increases with age and generally overreaches the rate of 40% in European older populations (Wolf-Maier, et al., 2003). In Portugal, for example, the 2005/2006 National Health Report reported that 55.9 and 57.2% of men and women between 65 and 74 years older, respectively, had used prescribed medications to low BP (Instituto Nacional de Estatística & Instituto Nacional de Saúde Doutor Ricardo Jorge, 2009). The most prevalent type of hypertension in older adults is isolated systolic hypertension (Franklin, Jacobs, Wong, L'Italien, & Lapuerta, 2001), which is characterized by SBP \geq 140 mmHg with a DBP < 90 mmHg. This is favored by the average DBP decreases concomitantly with SBP increases that are also observed with advancing age (Shephard, 1994).

Hypertension, as other CVDs, has multiple origins. It is not the aim of this study to discuss all of them in depth, however, considering the great impact that high levels of BP have on older adults' health, it seems important to briefly point out the main aspects involved in creating hypertension in older adults, namely, the increase in PP due to an increase in SBP and a decrease of DBP, the disappearance of PP amplification, early wave reflections, and the increased arterial stiffness, which is generally observed in the central arteries (Blacher & Safar, 2002). Taken together, these changes have deleterious consequences on left ventricular structure and function. The increased SBP induces myocardial hypertrophy, impairs diastolic myocardial function and reduces the left ventricular ejection fraction. In addition, increased SBP and PP accelerate

arterial damage, increasing the fatigue of biomaterials, causing degenerative changes and further arterial stiffening (Blacher & Safar, 2002). In summary, vascular and cardiac changes induced by age and prolonged exposure to CVD risk factors make older individuals more prone to ischemia-reperfusion injuries and heart failure.

1.2.6. Obesity

It has been well documented that obesity is associated with increased risk for many chronic conditions including CHD (Tanne, Medalie, & Goldbourt, 2005), stroke (Winter, et al., 2008) and diabetes mellitus (Narayan, Boyle, Thompson, Gregg, & Williamson, 2007), as well as disease risk factors such as hypertension (Sardinha, Teixeira, Guedes, Going, & Lohman, 2000; Williams, Hunter, Kekes-Szabo, Snyder, & Treuth, 1997) and dyslipidemia (Williams, et al., 1997). Indeed, the evidence suggests that a central distribution of body fat (subcutaneous or visceral) is much more closely related with an atherogenic metabolic profile than total body fat (Sardinha, et al., 2000).

Although the etiology of obesity is multifactorial, the root cause is an energy imbalance, i.e., more calories consumed than expended. This energy imbalance leads to the storage of excess energy in adipocytes, which exhibits both hypertrophy and hyperplasia. The increase in the number of increased adipocytes is associated with intracellular abnormalities of adipocyte function, particularly endoplasmatic reticulum and mitocondrial stress (de Ferranti & Mozaffarian, 2008). The resultant intracellular and systemic consequences include adipocyte insulin resistance, cytokine³ production, free-fat acids, inflammatory mediators, and the promotion of systemic dysfunction (de Ferranti & Mozaffarian, 2008).

In fact, obesity is now increasingly recognized as an inflammatory disorder (Brooks, Blaha, & Blumenthal, 2010). The adipose tissue, particularly the highly metabolically active visceral tissue, is now regarded as a complex organ that

³ Cytokines are low-molecular-weight proteins that, after binding to specific receptors, affect immune cell differentiation, proliferation and activity (Johnston & Webster, 2009).

not only contributes to the management of energy flux, but also interactes with the inflammatory system and vascular wall (Mathieu, Poirier, Pibarot, Lemieux, & Despres, 2009). At the adipose tissue level, an abundance of triacylglycerol creates large adipocytes that initiate cellular stress responses, leading to the activation of inflammatory pathways. The release of cytokines promotes the recruitment of monocytes, which are then shunted down the inflammatory pathway and become macrophages. When activated, these macrophages will locally produce tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- α) and induce the expression of interleukin-6 (IL-6). The increased levels of circulating cytokines will further induce the hepatic synthesis of acute-phase proteins including fibrinogen, C-reactive protein (CRP) and serum amyloid A (Brooks, et al., 2010; Ribeiro, Alves, Duarte, & Oliveira, 2010). Furthermore, there is evidence that these cytokines play a role in regulating the size of the adipose tissue stores (Mohamed-Ali, et al., 1997). Therefore, an increase in inflammation might lead to an increase in adiposity, initiating a cycle of dysfunction.

Recent evidence (Christou, Parker Jones, Pimentel, & Seals, 2004; Gonzalez-Clemente, et al., 2007; Heffernan, et al., 2009; Jamerson, Julius, Gudbrandsson, Andersson, & Brant, 1993; Shibao, et al., 2007) suggests that there is intricate interplay among adipocytes, inflammation, the sympathetic nervous system, and the rennin-angiotensin system, which can partially explain the close relationship between obesity, hypertension and insulin resistance.

Given that the major cause of obesity in most individuals is an energy imbalance, the optimal approach to restore caloric balance is lifestyle modification. Relatively modest changes in lifestyle seem to powerfully affect multiple pathways related to obesity (de Ferranti & Mozaffarian, 2008).

1.2.7. Total and Low Density Lipoprotein Cholesterol

Cholesterol is a fat-like substance (lipid) that is present in cell membranes and is a precursor of bile acids and steroid hormones. Cholesterol travels in the blood in distinct particles containing both lipids and proteins (lipoproteins). Three major classes of lipoproteins are found in the serum of a fasting

individual: LDL, HDL, and very low density lipoproteins (VLDL). Another lipoprotein class, intermediate density lipoprotein (IDL), resides between LDL and VLDL, but in clinical practice, IDL is included in the measurement of LDL (National Cholesterol Education Program [NCEP], 2002).

Many earlier studies measured only total serum cholesterol, although most of the total cholesterol is contained in LDLs. Thus, the robust relationship between total cholesterol and CHD observed in epidemiological studies indicates that an elevated LDL level is a powerful CVD risk factor (NCEP, 2002). For years LDL-C, a measure of the amount of cholesterol present in LDL particles (Kastelein, et al., 2008), has been recognized under treatment guidelines as the primary target of lipid therapy (this is supported by an extensive evidence base) (Windler, et al., 2007).

The link between LDLs and CVD is based on the central role of LDL particles in atherogenesis. Atherosclerotic plaque results from the progressive accumulation of cholesterol and diverse lipids in native and oxidized forms, extracellular matrix material, and inflammatory cells (Kontush & Chapman, 2006). LDL particles, in particular, move into the arterial intima through a gradient-driven process, and the rate of passive diffusion increases when the concentration of circulating LDL particles increases. Once inside the intima, the LDL particles bind to proteoglycans and initiate a process whereby the LDL particles become oxidized or otherwise modified and are taken up by monocytes or macrophages to form foam cells (Contois, et al., 2009). These lipid-laden phagocytes amplify inflammation in the vessel wall by secreting several cytokines (interleukin -1 [IL-1], IL-6 and TNF-a), and hence contribute to leukocyte infiltration and accumulation, smooth muscle cell proliferation, and extracellular matrix remodeling (Ribeiro, et al., 2010). Cholesterol serves as a useful surrogate for estimating LDL-related risk, but the cholesterol molecules contained in the LDL are "passengers"; the intact LDL particles are those which atherosclerotic process. In normal-lipidemic states, LDL-C drive the concentrations reflect a similar risk to LDL particles, but LDL-C concentration can vary widely between individuals with the same LDL particle concentration.

This happens because metabolic reactions involving lipids can alter both lipoprotein size and lipid composition (Contois, et al., 2009). Therefore, as will be discussed later on, other markers have been studied in order to better evaluate lipid-related risk of CVD.

According to the Fourth Joint Task Force of the European Society of Cardiology and the Societies on Cardiovascular Disease Prevention in Clinical Practice (2007), in general, to decrease CVD risk, individuals should have a total plasma cholesterol below 5 mmol/L (190 mg/dL), and an LDL cholesterol below 3 mmol/L (115 mg/dL).

1.2.8. Smaller, Denser Low Density Lipoprotein Particles

The most common dyslipidemia associated with premature vascular disease (hypertriglyceridemic, hyper-ApoB) is characterized by an increased quantity of LDL particles, which are smaller and denser because they contain less cholesterol (Miremadi, Sniderman, & Frohlich, 2002). Attention is given to this kind of particle because it has been demonstrated that smaller and denser LDL is present in higher concentrations in subjects with CHD than in controls with no CVD (Ai, et al., 2010). Additionally, an increased number of smaller and denser LDL particles were also able to predict cardiovascular and cerebro-vascular events in individuals with metabolic disorders (Rizzo, et al., 2009). Because these smaller and denser LDL particles are cholesterol-depleted, measurement of the total and LDL cholesterol levels under such conditions may not accurately reflect their number in plasma (Miremadi, et al., 2002).

1.2.9. High Density Lipoprotein Cholesterol

Low HDL-C is a risk factor for adverse cardiovascular outcomes that is independent of levels of LDL-C. The atheroprotective effect of HDL is due to its biological properties, including 1) its capacity to mediate cellular cholesterol efflux by acting as a primary acceptor, thereby facilitating reverse cholesterol transport from the arterial wall and peripheral tissues to the liver; 2) the protection of LDLs against oxidative stress; 3) anti-inflammatory actions on arterial wall cells; and 4) anti-apoptotic, 5) vasodilatory, 6) anti-thrombotic, and 7) anti-infectious activities (Kontush & Chapman, 2006).

Low levels of HDL-C are commonly found to coexist with insulin resistance, hypertriglyceridemia and a shift in the subclass distribution of LDLs towards smaller, denser, and more atherogenic lipoproteins, especially in patients with type 2 diabetes or the metabolic syndrome⁴ (Eric Bruckert, 2006). The prevalence of low HDL-C levels can vary from 20% in the general population to 60% in patients with established CHD (Kontush & Chapman, 2006). It was estimated that the overall prevalence of low HDL-Cs among Europeans under treatment for dyslipidemia is 33% in men and 40% in women (Bruckert, Baccara-Dinet, McCoy, & Chapman, 2005).

The available evidence suggests that as an ever-larger proportion of the population reaches an age at which atherosclerosis becomes a major cause of morbidity and mortality, a low HDL-C level will become a more important therapeutic target for the prevention of atherosclerotic vascular disease in addition to the conventional risk factors (Windler, et al., 2007).

No specific treatment goals are defined for HDL cholesterol, but concentrations of HDL cholesterol <1.0 mmol/L (~40 mg/dL) in men and <1.2 mmol/L (~50 mg/dL) in women, serve as markers of increased cardiovascular risk (Graham, et al., 2007; Kontush & Chapman, 2006).

1.2.10. Serum Apoliproteins, Lipoprotein(a) and Non-HDL Cholesterol

Beyond the standard fasting lipid profile (total cholesterol, LDL-C, HDL-C, and triglycerides), additional measurements of lipid parameters have been proposed to extend the relationship between risk factors and cardiovascular prediction (Greenland, et al., 2010).

Apoliproteins, the protein components of lipoproteins, collectively have three major functions. They are involved in (1) modulating the activity of enzymes that

⁴ The term "metabolic syndrome" refers to the combination of several factors that tend to cluster – central obesity, hypertension, low HDL-C, raised triglycerides and raised glycemia – to increase risk of diabetes and CVD (Graham, et al., 2007).

act on lipoproteins, (2) maintaining the structural integrity of the lipoprotein complex, and (3) facilitating the uptake of lipoproteins by acting as ligands for specific cell-surface receptors (Contois, et al., 2009).

Atherogenic lipoproteins including LDL particles, VLDL particles and remnants of triglyceride-rich particles each contain one molecule of apoliprotein B (ApoB). Consequently, the quantity of ApoB gives an accurate estimation of the total number of atherogenic particles (Roeters van Lennep, et al., 2002). The relationship between apoliprotein A (ApoA) and HDL is less direct (Greenland, et al., 2010), probably because HDL has two subclasses: HDL that only contains apoliprotein A-I (ApoAI) and HDL particles that contain both ApoAI and apoliprotein AII (ApoAII). ApoAI is the major apoliprotein of HDL and is considered to be more protective against CHD than ApoAI/AII (Roeters van Lennep, et al., 2002).

Lipoprotein(a) is an LDL subfraction containing ApoA. It is highly homologous with plasminogen and competes with plasminogen for fibrin-binding sites, inhibiting fibrinolysis (Fletcher, et al., 2005). Non-HDL cholesterol, in turn, is the sum of the cholesterol concentration in all pro-atherogenic lipoproteins (VLDL, IDL and LDL particles) and ApoB, the major apoliprotein in these particles (Kastelein, et al., 2008).

Most of the early population and intervention studies measured LDL in terms of its associated cholesterol, but in recent years, as immunoassays for ApoB have improved and become more readily available, researchers have increasingly investigated both ApoB and LDL-C (Contois, et al., 2009). Considerable debate and controversy have developed regarding the relative merits of monitoring LDL in terms of cholesterol content or particle concentration, as measured by ApoB, to assess risk and monitor therapy (Contois, et al., 2009).

In the Framingham Heart Study, little additional risk information was obtained from ApoB or the ApoB/ApoAI ratio compared with the total/HDL-cholesterol ratio (Ingelsson, et al., 2007). Nevertheless, the superiority of non-HDL

cholesterol or ApoB compared with LDL-C as a cardiovascular risk predictor was recently demonstrated during a statin treatment, as were the superiority of ApoB/ApoAI compared with other single pro-atherogenic measurements and other pro-atherogenic/anti-atherogenic measurements (Kastelein, et al., 2008).

1.2.11. Triglycerides

The principal cardiovascular significance of an elevated triglyceride (TG) level is that it is a component of atherogenic dyslipidemia, which is commonly found in patients with type 2 diabetes, metabolic syndrome, and excess adiposity. The triad of lipid abnormalities in these conditions consists of an elevated plasma TG level (>150 mg/dL), reduced HDL-C level (<40 mg/dL for men; <50 mg/dL for women), and a relative excess of small, dense LDL particles that accompanies generally normal total LDL-C levels (Fletcher, et al., 2005).

The role of plasma TG as an independent risk factor is still elusive. First, there are methodological difficulties in interpreting TG levels because of high biologic intra- and inter-individual variability. Second, strong interactions exist between TG and other lipid factors (Roeters van Lennep, et al., 2002). For example, elevated triglycerides are often seen with lower HDL levels (Bruckert, et al., 2005).

There are a number of underlying causes of elevated serum TG: being overweight or obese; lacking physical inactivity; cigarette smoking; excessive alcohol consumption; high-carbohydrate diets (>60% of total energy); other diseases such as type 2 diabetes, chronic renal failure, and nephrotic syndrome; and a genetic predisposition (Fletcher, et al., 2005). Similarly to HDL-C, no specific treatment goals are defined for triglycerides, but a concentration of fasting triglycerides >1.7 mmol/L (~150 mg/dL), serve as the marker of increased cardiovascular risk (Graham, et al., 2007).

1.2.12. Diabetes and Fasting Glycemia

Diabetes is a metabolic disorder of multiple etiology characterized by chronic hyperglycemia with disturbances of carbohydrate, fat, and protein metabolism resulting from defects in insulin secretion, insulin action, or a combination of both (Rydén, et al., 2007)

Classification of diabetes includes etiological types and different clinical stages of hyperglycemia. Four main etiological categories have been identified: type 1 diabetes, type 2 diabetes, other specific types, and gestational diabetes. Type 2 diabetes is caused by a combination of decreased insulin secretion and decreased insulin sensitivity. This type of diabetes comprises over 90% of adult diabetes and typically develops after middle age. In Portugal, 46.9% of the diagnosed cases of diabetes occur in individuals aged 65 years and over. These patients are often obese and physically inactive (Rydén, et al., 2007).

Atherosclerotic CVD is the major cause of premature mortality in patients with type 2 diabetes (Krentz, 2002). It has been observed that up to 75-80% of diabetic patients die of CVDs, and 75% of those deaths are caused by CHD (Roeters van Lennep, et al., 2002).

The mechanisms underlying the increased risk of CVD in type 2 diabetes remain incompletely delineated, but several possible mechanisms linking type 2 diabetes and atheroma have been suggested: central obesity, vascular endothelial dysfunction,⁵ and disordered lipid metabolism (Krentz, 2002). Insulin sensitivity and cardiovascular risk may also be influenced by adipocytokines,⁶ excess fatty acids liberated from visceral fat (Krentz, 2002), and inflammatory processes (de Rekeneire, et al., 2006). Finally, disturbances of the neuro-endocrine system, possibly mediated via visceral obesity, have also been identified as possible factors (Krentz, 2002).

⁵ Endothelial dysfunction is a broad term that implies diminished production or availability of nitric oxide and/or an imbalance in the relative contribution of endothelium-derived relaxing and contracting factors, such as endothelin-1 angiotensin, and oxidants (Szmitko, et al., 2003).

⁶ Cytokines synthesized and released by the adipose tissue (e.g., leptin and adiponectin).

It is important to refer to results from an epidemiological study (Meigs, Nathan, D'Agostino, & Wilson, 2002) and from a meta-analysis (Levitan, Song, Ford, & Liu, 2004) that demonstrated that subjects with impaired glucose regulation (as assessed by fasting blood glucose or post-challenge glucose levels), have higher CVD risk even before the onset of type 2 diabetes than their peers with normal glucose regulation.

The current European Guidelines on CVD Prevention (Graham, et al., 2007) recommend values of fasting glycemia below 110mg/dL in order to maintain a lower CVD risk.

1.2.13. Homocysteine

Homocysteine is a sulfur-containing amino acid that is rapidly oxidized in plasma to the disulfides homocystine and cysteine-homocysteine. Plasma/serum total homocysteine, also termed homocystine, is the sum of homocysteine in all three components (Malinow, Bostom, & Krauss, 1999). Observations in epidemiological studies (Vollset, et al., 2001) have suggested that beyond the sensitive markers of folate and cobalamin (vitamin B12) deficiencies (Refsum, et al., 2004), increased total plasma homocysteine is an independent risk factor for cardiovascular mortality.

Because variable changes in homocysteine levels have been observed postprandially, it is customary to obtain measurements in the fasting state. Normal levels of fasting plasma homocysteine are considered to be between 5 and 15 µmol/L. Moderate, intermediate, and severe hyperhomocysteinemia refer to concentrations between 16 µmol/L and 30 µmol/L, between 31 µmol/L and 100 µmol/L, and >100 µmol/L, respectively (Malinow, et al., 1999). However, the cost of homocysteine analysis, coupled with the lack of definitive evidence for the clinical benefits of reducing homocysteine levels (O'Leary, Knuiman, & Divitini, 2004), precludes recommendations for population-wide screening. Thus, some researchers consider that a reasonable approach is to determine levels of fasting homocysteine in "high-risk patients" only (Malinow, et al., 1999).

1.2.14. Inflammatory, Infectious and Thrombotic Markers

Cardiovascular diseases are life course diseases that begin with the evolution of risk factors that in turn contribute to the development of subclinical atherosclerosis (Vasan, 2006). Atherosclerosis is characterized by the accumulation of lipids and fibrous elements in the large arteries, resulting in increased arterial stiffening, decreased blood flow, and consequently, the reduction of oxygen supply to the tissues (Lusis, 2000). This pathology is especially harmful because it evolves silently, without clinical manifestation. The traditional cardiovascular disease risk factors are not sensitive enough for use in evaluating the progression of the atherosclerotic pathology.

In recent years, there has been a growing appreciation that the immune system plays a critical role at every stage of the atherosclerotic process, from lesion initiation to the rupture of atherosclerotic plaque (Kritchevsky, Cesari, & Pahor, 2005). The involvement of the immune system is a key factor in the development and progression of atherosclerosis, which is now viewed as a dynamic and progressive pathology arising from the combination of endothelial dysfunction and inflammation (Szmitko, et al., 2003).

Because inflammation is considered to be of paramount importance in the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis, numerous inflammatory biomarkers have been evaluated as risk factors or risk markers for CVD. The most intensively studied inflammatory biomarker associated with CVD risk is high-sensitivity CRP (hs-CRP) (Greenland, et al., 2010). The intense interest in this acute-phase protein derives from accumulating evidence that CRP is one of the strongest independent predictors of all-cause and cardiovascular death in a number of settings (den Elzen, van Manen, Boeschoten, Krediet, & Dekker, 2006; Willems, Trompet, Blauw, Westendorp, & de Craen, 2010).

High levels of CRP elicit a multitude of effects on endothelial biology that favor a pro-inflammatory and pro-atherosclerotic phenotype. For example, CRP potently down-regulates endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) transcription in endothelial cells and destabilizes eNOS mRNA, with resultant decreases in

vasodilatory responses. Indeed, CRP has been shown to stimulate endothelin-1 and IL-6 release, up-regulate adhesion molecules, and stimulate monocyte chemo-attractant protein-1 (MCP-1), while facilitating macrophage LDL uptake. More recently, CRP has been shown to facilitate endothelial cell apoptosis and inhibit angiogenesis (Szmitko, et al., 2003).

Many other "novel" biomarkers of endothelial dysfunction (vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 [VCAM-1] and intercellular adhesion molecule-1 [ICAM-1]) and vascular inflammation (TNF- α , IL-6, IL-10, and IL-18) have been used as additional tools to assess CVD risk. TNF- α is a primary and potent inflammation mediator. It is primarily synthesized by monocytes/macrophages and T cells. TNF- α plays a critical role in coordinating the inflammatory response and activating mediators distantly in the cytokine cascade; it is also a potent inducer of other pro-inflammatory cytokines, and an activator of coagulation and muscle catabolism (Johnston & Webster, 2009). However, despite its importance, it has not been frequently measured in epidemiologic studies (Kritchevsky, et al., 2005). IL-6 synthesis is induced by TNF- α and IL-1 from many cell types (e.g., lymphocites, fibroblasts and monocytes); its biological effects include neutrophil activation, induction of the hepatic acute-response, and activation of coagulation (Johnston & Webster, 2009). High levels of IL-6 have been associated with higher mortality in older women with CVD (Volpato, et al., 2001). Interferon-gamma (IFN- χ) is a pro-inflammatory cytokine secreted by activated T cells that limits the synthesis of new collagen required for fibrous plaque cap preservation (Szmitko, et al., 2003). IL-10 is an anti-inflammatory cytokine that inhibits the production of a variety of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-2, IL-6, TNF- α and IFN- γ , and it is strongly associated with better prognosis in patients with acute coronary syndromes (Kritchevsky, et al., 2005).

Additionally, the soluble plasma glycoprotein fibrinogen, which is synthesized in the liver, is also considered a biomarker related to atheroma, since it is involved in the coagulation cascade leading to clot formation as a consequence of the vascular inflammatory process.

1.2.15. Cigarette Smoking

Smoking is the single most important preventable cause of CHD. Cigarette smoking (CS) also predisposes the individual to atherosclerosis and to its related acute clinical syndromes such as angina pectoris, myocardial infarction, stroke, and sudden death (Ambrose & Barua, 2004). As few as one to five cigarettes per day increases an individual's CVD risk (Yusuf, et al., 2004). Indeed, this increased CVD risk seems to be reported in both active and passive smokers (Venn & Britton, 2007).

The mechanisms behind the increased risk of CVD observed in smokers versus non-smokers are not completely understood; however, increases in intima-media thickness (Ambrose & Barua, 2004), endothelial dysfunction (Mazzone, et al., 2001), fibrinogen (Venn & Britton, 2007), homocystein (Venn & Britton, 2007), inflammation as assessed by white blood cell (WBC) count, (Mazzone, et al., 2001), IL-6 (Tappia, Troughton, Langley-Evans, & Grimble, 1995), CRP (Tracy, et al., 1997) and TNF- α (Tappia, et al., 1995), as well as a modification of lipids (Ambrose & Barua, 2004) have been observed in smokers.

Endothelial dysfunction is one of the earliest manifestations of atherosclerotic changes in a vessel. Nitric oxide ('NO), a free radical, is primarily responsible for the vasodilatory function in the endothelium; it also helps to regulate inflammation, leukocyte adhesion, platelet activation, and thrombosis. Therefore, an alteration in 'NO availability could have primary and secondary effects on the initiation and progression of atherosclerosis and on thrombotic events (Liu-Ambrose, et al., 2005). Several lines of evidence (Powell, 1998) suggest that smoking impairs the synthesis of 'NO by the endothelium, increases lipid oxidation and reactive oxygen species (ROS) production, decreases anti-adhesive properties of the endothelium, and triggers vascular inflammation and thrombogenesis.

Despite previous findings (Hatsukami, et al., 2005) relating the improvement in several biomarkers of CVD risk to a reduction in the recurrence of CS, it is not clear whether these changes translate into significant health improvements.

On the other hand, CS cessation can considerably reduce (~24%) the risk of CVD after two to three years of abstinence (Kawachi, et al., 1993). The exceeded risk for total mortality and cardiovascular mortality among former smokers approaches the level of that people who have never smoked after 10 to 14 years of abstinence (Kawachi, et al., 1993).

1.2.16. Physical Inactivity

Physical activity (PA) is believed to improve several CVD risk factors. PArelated benefits include raising HDL-C cholesterol, lowering LDL-C and TG, lowering BP, improving fasting and postprandial glucose insulin homeostasis, inducing and maintaining weight loss, improving psychological well-being, and likely lowering inflammation, improving endothelial function, and facilitating smoking cessation (Mozaffarian, Wilson, & Kannel, 2008). Physical inactivity, (PI) on the other hand, is thought to contribute to an increased risk for all-cause (Martinson, O'Connor, & Pronk, 2001) and CVD mortality (Haapanen-Niemi, et al., 2000).

Physical inactivity is defined differently by different research instruments. The following examples were listed by Oldridge (2008) in order to exemplify the variety of definitions for PI found in the literature: "doing very little or no physical activity," "no participation plus sitting down for >6 h/week," "<10% of leisure-time in activities \leq 4 metabolic equivalents." Despite these definitions, consensus is growing that, for health benefits, some, but insufficient, activity is defined as "<2.5 h/week of moderate intensity activity" (Oldridge, 2008).

Independent of the adopted definition, many studies have demonstrated the increased CVD risk in less physically active individuals when compared with their more active peers. In a prospective 16-year follow-up study, compared with the most active subjects, the men and women with no weekly vigorous PA had higher relative risks of 1.6 and 4.7, respectively, for CVD mortality (Haapanen-Niemi, et al., 2000). A similar relationship was observed in individuals with diagnosed chronic conditions. In these individuals, those who were physically inactive had twice the rate of subsequent mortality over a short

follow-up (42 months) of the more active individuals (Martinson, et al., 2001). Finally, in a recent meta-analysis that included 33 studies and 883,372 individuals, PA was associated with a risk reduction of 35% for CVD mortality (Nocon, et al., 2008).

The importance of PA in the prevention of CVD is also reflected in healthcare costs. Allender et al. (2007), for example, estimated that in the United Kingdom, the costs associated with CHD directly attributed to physical inactivity amounted to approximately £1.06 billion. Considering the great contribution of PI to mortality and the costs of CVD and other chronic conditions, nowadays, PA is recommended for all age groups (children, young, middle-aged, and older adults) and for a wide range of health conditions including individuals with CVD (ACSM, 2000; ACSM/AHA, 2007; Pescatello, et al., 2004; Pollock, et al., 2000). For the former group, however, a clinical judgment including exercise testing is necessary (Graham, et al., 2007).

Despite knowledge of the benefits of an active lifestyle, a large majority of individuals still maintains a sedentary lifestyle. Actually, it was estimated that the prevalence of PI ranges from 30.0-61.4% depending on age, gender, geographical living site and criteria used to assess PA or PI (Kruger, Ham, & Sanker, 2008; Martins, Assis, Nahas, Gauche, & Moura, 2009). The prevalence data on PI available from the World Health Organization Global InfoBase Online estimates that the mean prevalence of leisure time PI is 35.7% in developed countries (WHO, 2011).

In the elderly population, physiological and mental changes that come with increasing age may contribute to PI (Graham, et al., 2007). In fact, few older adults participate in levels of PA that may benefit their health (Taylor, et al., 2004). However, considering that regular PA may effectively slow down age-related changes, decrease CVD morbidity and mortality, and lower healthcare costs, PA should be promoted in older-aged individuals (Graham, et al., 2007). The net potential benefits on health and savings appear to be greatest in

those with greater disabilities and highest costs, which probably refers to the oldest and sickest (Martinson, et al., 2001).

1.2.17. Psychosocial Factors

An association between lower socioeconomic status (SES) and poorer health has been observed for hundreds of years (Kaplan & Keil, 1993). Indeed, the evidence appears to support that SES is an important factor in the etiology, treatment, and progression of CVDs and their risk factors. For example, it was observed that a lower prevalence of high BP, as well as diabetes mellitus and high cholesterol, was associated with higher SES as assessed by income or education (Kanjilal, et al., 2006). Negative associations between SES and risk of CHD were also observed by Andersen, Osler, Petersen, Gronbaek, & Prescott (2003). A reasonable explanation for these relationships is that individuals with lower SES have fewer possibilities for success in terms of quality of housing, access to healthcare, variety in diet, and group-based physical activity (Andersen, et al., 2003).

1.2.18. Autonomic Dysfunction

The rhythm of a healthy heart varies as a result of physical and autonomic nervous system activity, mental stress, body position, respiration, blood pressure regulation, thermoregulation, rennin-angiotensin system activity, and other unknown factors (Kowalewski & Urban, 2004; Pitzalis, et al., 1996). Of these, the two limbs (sympathetic and parasympathetic/vagal) of the autonomic system are the most important in determining changes in heart rate (Pitzalis, et al., 1996). The parasympathetic influence on heart rate is mediated via the release of acetylcholine by the vagus nerve, and the sympathetic influence on heart rate is mediated by release of epinephrine and norepinephrine. Under resting conditions, parasympathetic activity prevails and variations in heart period are largely dependent on vagal modulation (Malik, et al., 1996).

Conversely, autonomic dysfunction reflects reduced parasympathetic and/or increased sympathetic nervous system activity (Kamphuis, et al., 2007). Although autonomic dysfunction is not considered a "traditional" CVD risk factor,

it is involved in the pathophysiology of myocardial ischemia, heart failure, diabetes, ventricular tachycardia, ventricular fibrillation, and sudden cardiac death (Kamphuis, et al., 2007). It has also been related to high blood pressure, inflammation, dyslipidemia, and obesity (Christou, et al., 2004; Felber Dietrich, et al., 2006; Sajadieh, et al., 2004). Indicators of heart autonomic dysfunction are elevated resting heart rate, low heart-rate variability (HRV), and prolonged cardiac cycle (Kamphuis, et al., 2007).

Evidence for an association between a predisposition for lethal arrhythmias and signs of either increased sympathetic or reduced vagal activity have encouraged the development of quantitative markers of autonomic activity. HRV, the spontaneous fluctuations around the mean heart rate (Schuit, et al., 1999), represents one of the most promising prognostic markers of cardiovascular mortality and morbidity (Felber Dietrich, et al., 2006; Malik, et al., 1996; Tsuji, et al., 1996). Generally, HRV is assessed by time domain (TD, which includes statistical and geometrical measures) or frequency domain (FD) measures. The Task Force of the European Society of Cardiology and the North American Society of Pacing and Electrophysiology (Malik, et al., 1996) suggest the use of the FD measures compared to the TD measures when analyzing data from short-term recordings. Three main spectral components are distinguished in a spectrum calculated from short-term recordings of two to five minutes, using very low frequency (VLF), low frequency (LF), and high frequency (HF) components. Efferent vagal activity is considered a major contributor to the HF component. The interpretation of the LF component is more controversial, while some authors consider it as a marker of sympathetic modulation (Pitzalis, et al., 1996; Sinnreich, Kark, Friedlander, Sapoznikov, & Luria, 1998), others refer that it includes both sympathetic and vagal influences (Schuit, et al., 1999). The physiological explanation of the VLF component is much less defined, and the existence of a specific physiological process attributable to these heart period changes might be questionable (Malik, et al., 1996).

It is easy to understand that some CVDs risk factors are non-modifiable, while others are susceptible to lifestyle modification. Since the aging process, similarly with gender and race, is not reversible, the therapeutical approach might focus on the greatest number of modifiable risk factors as possible in order to decrease the global risk.

Several strategies, policies, and drugs have been developed, and many others still being studied, that aim to counteract CVD risk factors and mortality. Generally, CVD risk factor management includes extensive lifestyle counseling by healthcare providers with a variety of expertise (physicians, nurses, dietitians, and exercise specialists), in addition to prescription drug therapies (Fletcher, et al., 2005). In fact, the increase in longevity observed in the past few decades can be mainly attributed to this combined effort. However, morbidity due to CVDs remains high, which means that individuals are living longer, but are usually limited by chronic conditions. Although medications can be prescribed to people who are at great risk of developing dyslipidemia, diabetes or hypertension, providing medications to hundreds millions of adults worldwide is not desirable for many reasons, including cost and potential adverse side effects. Since many more people are living longer today, it is crucial to understand how to prevent disability and increase the quality of life among this aged population.

It was previously suggested that the adoption of healthy lifestyle changes, such as the daily consumption of fruits and vegetables, regular PA, and avoiding smoking, can potentially reduce the risk for CVD by approximately 75% (Yusuf, et al., 2004). In specific case, several studies have demonstrated that low levels of PA are associated with several CVD risk factors such as increased total body and trunk fat (Scott, Blizzard, Fell, & Jones, 2009); higher concentrations of CRP, white blood cells, and fibrinogen (Geffken, et al., 2001); lower HRV (Rennie, et al., 2003); and increased levels of SBP and DBP (Reaven, Barrett-Connor, & Edelstein, 1991).

Equally, or perhaps even most importantly, are the findings suggesting that, beyond reducing individual and global CVD risk, PA levels are positively related with quality of life (QoL) in older adults (Brown, et al., 2004; Leinonen, Heikkinen, & Jylha, 2001).

1.3. Important Definitions

Before a discussion of the interplay between PA, chronic conditions, functional limitation, disability, and QoL, it is necessary to define these terms. PA, in this thesis, refers to any bodily movement produced by contraction of skeletal muscle that substantially increases energy expenditure (Howley, 2001) and exercise (or exercise training) is an assumed subcategory of PA in which planned, structured and repetitive bodily movements are performed to improve or maintain one or more components of physical fitness (Howley, 2001). Physical fitness, in turn, will be defined as a set of attributes that people have or achieve that relate to their ability to perform PA. This is generally sub-classified as performance-related fitness and health-related fitness (Howley, 2001). The former focuses mainly on body composition, cardiorespiratory fitness, muscular strength, endurance, and flexibility (Howley, 2001).

More recently, with increased interest in the study of the older population, another term current in use is functional fitness. Functional fitness describes having the physiologic capacity (all components of health-related fitness plus balance and agility) necessary to maintain independence and the ability to perform the activities of daily living, such as walking, stepping or standing from a seated position, without undue fatigue (Rikli & Jones, 1999).

A chronic condition or a chronic disease is usually characterized by complex causality, multiple risk factors, a long latency period, a prolonged course of illness, functional impairment or disability, and in most cases, the unlikelihood of cure (National Public Health Partnership, 2001). Cardiovascular diseases, cancer, chronic lung diseases and diabetes are examples of such conditions. Functional limitation, as primary used by Nagi and referred by Jette (2006), represents restrictions in a person's performance. An example of functional

limitation that might result from arthritis of the knee could include limited performance in the person's ability to walk or stand from a seated position. Disability is a limitation to performing the socially defined roles and tasks expected of an individual within a socio-cultural and physical environment (Jette, 2006).

QoL is very difficult to define because it has been used to refer to different parameters in a variety of contexts. There is no definitively accepted theoretical framework of QoL, however, classic conceptualizations have included such domains as physical health; social relationships and support; environmental, financial, and material circumstances; and cognitive beliefs (Halvorsrud & Kalfoss, 2007). Each of these domains can also be influenced by several factors. Although each factor has a different impact on different individuals, it is assumed that there are group-specific characteristics in QoL (Netuveli & Blane, 2008). For older adults, family relationships, social contacts and activities, functional ability, health status, and general health seem to be important factors when assessing QoL (Farquhar, 1995).

Although health is not a unique factor influencing QoL in older adults, it is generally considered an important aspect. In this regard, instruments used with this population to assess health-related quality of life (HRQoL) include several aspects of life such as illness, chronic conditions, disability and SES, which affect perceived physical and mental health (Brown, et al., 2004; Halvorsrud & Kalfoss, 2007).

1.4. Theoretical Background on Disability and Health-related Quality of Life

Although several models have been suggested to explain the interactions between active lifestyles and the prevalence of chronic diseases and their impact on functionality and the HRQoL of older adults, until now, these complex interactions were not full elucidated. According to Rikli & Jones (1999), all these factors interact with one another. The clinical manifestation of a chronic disease leads to a decline in functional capacity, which is linked to a tendency to reduce PA. Physical inactivity, in turn, can exacerbate disease and therefore decrease

functional capacity. If any other factor interferes in this cycle, great disability would result (Rikli & Jones, 1999).

Chronic illness, disability, and decreased health and QoL usually occur in older adults. In 2005 in Portugal, 45.1% of individuals aged 75 years and over self-reported disability related to health factors (Instituto Nacional de Estatística & Instituto Nacional de Saúde Doutor Ricardo Jorge, 2009) and in 2007, 46.0% of the individuals in this age range rated their health status as bad or very bad (INE, 2008b). Nevertheless, cumulative lifetime disability could be reduced if primary prevention were implemented to postpone the onset of chronic conditions, as demonstrated by Newman, et al. (2003). These researchers observed that the prevention of subclinical vascular disease might increase the quantity and quality of years in later life as assessed by the likelihood of maintaining intact health and function.

With regard to the observed associations between PA with CVDs, loss of functionality and HRQoL among older adults, numerous organizations strongly recommend the dissemination of exercise programs and the adoption of a more active lifestyle as primary and secondary methods of CVD and disability prevention (ACSM/AHA, 2007; Chodzko-Zajko, et al., 2009; Graham, et al., 2007). However, the existing body of evidence is based mainly on epidemiological observations or in experimental setups using isolated endurance exercise training and, less frequently, resistance exercise training programs (Durstine, Grandjean, Cox, & Thompson, 2002). While the effects of endurance training programs on the traditional cardiovascular risk factors are well established (Durstine, et al., 2001), data are often contradictory regarding the role of resistance training, with some authors describing the positive benefits (Fahlman, Boardley, Lambert, & Flynn, 2002) and others not (Vincent, Braith, Feldman, Kallas, & Lowenthal, 2002). Additionally, few studies have directly investigated the effects of exercise training, independent of type, on the "novel" biomarkers of CVDs and on autonomic dysfunction.

Another point to clarify is if the benefits associated with PA are really due to PA, or if they are due to an increase in overall fitness induced by higher levels of PA. Many studies have reported that the associations between fitness and CVD risk factors (Dvorak, et al., 2000; McMurray, Ainsworth, Harrell, Griggs, & Williams, 1998; Suzuki, Yamada, Sugiura, Kawakami, & Shimizu, 1998), or between fitness and CVD mortality (Nocon, et al., 2008), are stronger than those observed between PA and CVD risk factors and mortality. Indeed, the associations between fitness and HRQoL in older adults have not been well explored. The lack of appropriate measures to assess fitness in older populations may make it difficult to clarify the independent associations between PA and fitness with CVD risk factors, as well as to better explore the relationship between fitness and HRQoL.

The most traditional protocols for assessing fitness are, generally, linear adaptations of those that are applied to the youngest portion of the population (Rikli & Jones, 1999). Considering that recent evidence proposed that exercise capacity represents the most powerful predictor of total mortality in a clinical population (Laukkanen, Kurl, Salonen, Rauramaa, & Salonen, 2004), it seems important to have valid, but feasible, instruments for evaluating the physical fitness of older adults. Many studies use aerobic fitness, assessed by maximal oxygen consumption (VO_{2max}) determination tests, to assess general fitness. Tests to determine VO_{2max} are, in general, inadequate for the majority of older adults, and very little is known about the predictive value of functional field tests like the 6-minute walk test (6MWT) on cardiovascular risk factors or HRQoL of this population.

1.5. Questions and Objectives of the Study

Based on the above-described background, three study questions were formulated:

1. Are simple physical/functional fitness field tests capable of identifying, in a group of community-dwelling older adults, those who are at an increased risk of CVD and those with a lower HRQoL?

2. Does exercise training improve the CVD risk profile, cardiovascular function, functional fitness, and HRQoL of community-dwelling older adults?

3. Are there differences in the effects of aerobic versus resistance training on the CVD risk profile, cardiovascular function, functional fitness, and HRQoL of community-dwelling older adults?

Guided by these research questions, the studies included in this thesis had three main objectives:

1. To investigate the possible relationships between performance on simple functional fitness field tests, CVD risk factors, and HRQoL in community-dwelling older adults;

2. To determine the effects of two different types of exercise training on modifiable CVD risk factors, cardiovascular function, functional fitness, and HRQoL in community-dwelling older adults.

3. To observe if the effects of two different types of exercise training (aerobic and resistance) on modifiable CVD risk factors, cardiovascular function, functional fitness, and HRQoL in community-dwelling older adults have the same magnitude.

In order to achieve these objectives, this thesis was divided into nine chapters. Chapter I contains a brief background of the theme and presents the main objectives of the study, as well as its structure. Chapter II describes the adopted methodology. The following five chapters (III to VII) present five original studies, each presented in article format; all of these were submitted to peer-reviewed scientific journals. The titles and specific objectives of each study are presented in Table 1. The final chapters (VIII and IX) report the final remarks and the main conclusions of the thesis.

Table 1. The titles, specific objectives, and status of each study included in the thesis.

	Title: Effects of a Moderate-intensity Walking Program on Blood Pressure, Body Composition and Functional Fitness in Older Women: Results of a pilot study.
Chapter III	Flávia A. C. Wanderley, José Oliveira, Jorge Mota, Joana Carvalho
Study I	Aim: To evaluate the effects of a moderate-intensity walking program on the physical fitness, body composition, and resting blood pressure of older women.
	Status: Published in Arch. Exerc. Health Dis. (2010),1(2):50-57
	Title: Six-minute walk distance (6MWD) is associated with body fat, systolic blood pressure and rate-pressure product in community-dwelling elderly subjects
Chapter IV	Flávia A. C. Wanderley, José Oliveira, Jorge Mota, Maria Joana Carvalho
Study II	Aim: To determine if aerobic fitness assessed by 6MWD is able to predict resting cardiovascular function and cardiovascular disease risk factors.
	Status: Published in Arch. Gerontol. Geriatr (2011), 52(2):206-210
	DOI: 10.1016/j.archger.2010.03.020
	Title: Associations between Objectively Assessed Physical Activity Levels and Fitness and Self-reported Health-related Quality of Life in Community-dwelling Older Adults
Chapter V	Flávia A. C. Wanderley, Gustavo Silva, Elisa Marques, José Oliveira, Jorge Mota, Joana Carvalho
Study III	Aim: To examine the associations between self-reported health-related quality of life (HRQoL) and each of habitual physical activity (PA) and physical fitness in community-dwelling older adults.
	Status: Published on line in Qual. Life Res, DOI: 10.1007/s11136-011-9875-x
	Title: Effects of training on fatness, inflammation and autonomic function in older adults
Chapter VI	Flávia A. C. Wanderley; André Moreira; Oksana Sokhatska; Carmo Palmares; Pedro Moreira; José Oliveira; Joana Carvalho
Study IV	Aim: To examine the effectiveness of two different training regimens on reducing body fat, improving autonomic dysfunction, and decreasing low-grade inflammation in community-dwelling older adults with no serious medical conditions.
	Status: Submitted to European Journal of Cardiovascular Prevention and Rehabilitation, on 3 rd of March, 2011
	Title: Health-related Quality of Life (HRQoL), Body Composition and Functional Fitness of Older Adults: Results from aerobic <i>vs</i> . resistance training.
Chapter VII	Flávia A. C. Wanderley, Nórton L. Oliveira, Elisa Marques, Pedro Moreira, José Oliveira, Joana Carvalho
Study V	Aim: To investigate the effects of two types of exercise training on subjective Health- related Quality of Life (HRQoL), functional fitness, and body composition of independent community-dwelling older adults with no serious medical conditions.
	Status: Under review - Journal of Aging and Physical Activity

REFERENCES

- Ai, M., Otokozawa, S., Asztalos, B. F., Ito, Y., Nakajima, K., White, C. C., et al. (2010). Small Dense LDL Cholesterol and Coronary Heart Disease: Results from the Framingham Offspring Study. *Clinical Chemistry*, *56*(6), 967-976.
- Allender, S., Foster, C., Scarborough, P., & Rayner, M. (2007). The burden of physical activity-related ill health in the UK. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, *61*(4), 344-348.
- Ambrose, J. A., & Barua, R. S. (2004). The pathophysiology of cigarette smoking and cardiovascular disease: An update. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology, 43*(10), 1731-1737.
- American College of Sports Medicine (ACSM). (2000). ACSM's Guidelines for Exercise Testing and Prescription. (5 ed.).
- American College of Sports Medicine & American Heart Association (ACSM/AHA). (2007). Physical Activity and Public Health in Older Adults: Recommendation From the American College of Sports Medicine and the American Heart Association (ACSM/AHA). *Circulation, 116*(9), 1094-1105.
- Andersen, I., Osler, M., Petersen, L., Gronbaek, M., & Prescott, E. (2003). Income and risk of ischaemic heart disease in men and women in a Nordic welfare country. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, *32*(3), 367-374.
- Blacher, J., & Safar, M. (2002). Specific aspects of high blood pressure in the elderly. Journal of *Renin-Angiotensin-Aldosterone System*, 3 (Suppl 1), S10-15.
- Brooks, G., Blaha, M., & Blumenthal, R. (2010). Relation of C-reactive protein to abdominal adiposity. The *American Journal of Cardiology, 106*(1), 56-61.

- Brown, D., Brown, D., Heath, G., Balluz, L., Giles, W., Ford, E., et al. (2004).
 Associations between physical activity dose and health-related quality of life. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, *36*(5), 890-896.
- Bruckert, E. (2006). Epidemiology of low HDL-cholesterol: results of studies and surveys. *European Heart Journal Supplements, 8*(suppl F), F17-F22.
- Bruckert, E., Baccara-Dinet, M., McCoy, F., & Chapman, J. (2005). High prevalence of low HDL-cholesterol in a pan-European survey of 8545 dyslipidaemic patients. *Current Medical Research and Opinion, 21*(12), 1927-1934.
- Carnethon, M. R., Lynch, E. B., Dyer, A. R., Lloyd-Jones, D. M., Wang, R., Garside, D. B., et al. (2006). Comparison of Risk Factors for Cardiovascular Mortality in Black and White Adults. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, *166*(11), 1196-1202.
- Chodzko-Zajko, W., Proctor, D., Fiatarone Singh, M., Minson, C., Nigg, C., Salem, G., et al. (2009). American College of Sports Medicine position stand. Exercise and physical activity for older adults. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, *41*(7), 1510-1530.
- Christou, D. D., Parker Jones, P., Pimentel, A. E., & Seals, D. R. (2004). Increased abdominal-to-peripheral fat distribution contributes to altered autonomic-circulatory control with human aging. *American Journal of Physiology - Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, 287(4), H1530-1537.
- Contois, J. H., McConnell, J. P., Sethi, A. A., Csako, G., Devaraj, S., Hoefner, D. M., et al. (2009). Apolipoprotein B and Cardiovascular Disease Risk: Position Statement from the AACC Lipoproteins and Vascular Diseases Division Working Group on Best Practices. *Clinical Chemistry*, *55*(3), 407-419.

- de Ferranti, S., & Mozaffarian, D. (2008). The Perfect Storm: Obesity, Adipocyte Dysfunction, and Metabolic Consequences. *Clinical Chemistry*, *54*(6), 945-955.
- de Rekeneire, N., Peila, R., Ding, J., Colbert, L. H., Visser, M., Shorr, R. I., et al. (2006). Diabetes, Hyperglycemia, and Inflammation in Older Individuals. *Diabetes Care*, 29(8), 1902-1908.
- den Elzen, W. P. J., van Manen, J. G., Boeschoten, E. W., Krediet, R. T., & Dekker, F. W. (2006). The effect of single and repeatedly high concentrations of C-reactive protein on cardiovascular and noncardiovascular mortality in patients starting with dialysis. *Nephrology Dialysis Transplantation, 21*(6), 1588-1595.
- Durstine, J., Grandjean, P., Cox, C., & Thompson, P. (2002). Lipids, lipoproteins, and exercise. *Journal of Cardiopulmonary Rehabilitation and Prevention*, 22(6), 385-398.
- Durstine, J., Grandjean, P., Davis, P., Ferguson, M., Alderson, N., & DuBose, K. (2001). Blood lipid and lipoprotein adaptations to exercise: a quantitative analysis. *Sports Medicine*, *31*(15), 1033-1062.
- Dvorak, R. V., Tchernof, A., Starling, R. D., Ades, P. A., DiPietro, L., & Poehlman, E. T. (2000). Respiratory Fitness, Free Living Physical Activity, and Cardiovascular Disease Risk in Older Individuals: A Doubly Labeled Water Study. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 85(3), 957-963.
- Fahlman, M. M., Boardley, D., Lambert, C. P., & Flynn, M. G. (2002). Effects of Endurance Training and Resistance Training on Plasma Lipoprotein Profiles in Elderly Women. *The Journals of Gerontology Series A: Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, *57*(2), B54-60.
- Farquhar, M. (1995). Elderly people's definitions of quality of life. *Social Science* & *Medicine*, *41*(10), 1439-1446.

- Felber Dietrich, D., Schindler, C., Schwartz, J., Barthélémy, J.-C., Tschopp, J.-M., Roche, F., et al. (2006). Heart rate variability in an ageing population and its association with lifestyle and cardiovascular risk factors: results of the SAPALDIA study. *Europace*, 8(7), 521-529.
- Fletcher, B., Berra, K., Ades, P., Braun, L. T., Burke, L. E., Durstine, J. L., et al. (2005). Managing Abnormal Blood Lipids: A Collaborative Approach. *Circulation*, 112(20), 3184-3209.
- Franklin, S. S., Jacobs, M. J., Wong, N. D., L'Italien, G. J., & Lapuerta, P. (2001). Predominance of Isolated Systolic Hypertension Among Middle-Aged and Elderly US Hypertensives: Analysis Based on National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) III. *Hypertension*, *37*(3), 869-874.
- Franklin, S. S., Larson, M. G., Khan, S. A., Wong, N. D., Leip, E. P., Kannel, W. B., et al. (2001). Does the Relation of Blood Pressure to Coronary Heart Disease Risk Change With Aging?: The Framingham Heart Study. *Circulation*, 103(9), 1245-1249.
- Geffken, D. F., Cushman, M., Burke, G. L., Polak, J. F., Sakkinen, P. A., & Tracy, R. P. (2001). Association between Physical Activity and Markers of Inflammation in a Healthy Elderly Population. *American Journal of Epidemiology.*, 153(3), 242-250.
- Gonzalez-Clemente, J.-M., Vilardell, C., Broch, M., Megia, A., Caixas, A., Gimenez-Palop, O., et al. (2007). Lower heart rate variability is associated with higher plasma concentrations of IL-6 in type 1 diabetes. *European Journal of Endocrinology, 157*(1), 31-38.
- Graham, I., Atar, D., Borch-Johnsen, K., Boysen, G., Burell, G., Cifkova, R., et al. (2007). Fourth Joint Task Force of the European Society of Cardiology and Other Societies on Cardiovascular Disease Prevention in
Clinical Practice (Constituted by representatives of nine societies and by invited experts). *Journal of Cardiovascular Risk, 14*(2 suppl), E1-E40.

- Greenland, P., Alpert, J. S., Beller, G. A., Benjamin, E. J., Budoff, M. J., Fayad,
 Z. A., et al. (2010). 2010 ACCF/AHA Guideline for Assessment of Cardiovascular Risk in Asymptomatic Adults: A Report of the American College of Cardiology Foundation/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines Developed in Collaboration With the American Society of Echocardiography, American Society of Nuclear Cardiology, Society of Atherosclerosis Imaging and Prevention, Society for Cardiovascular Angiography and Interventions, Society of Cardiovascular Computed Tomography, and Society for Cardiovascular Magnetic Resonance. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, *56*(25), e50-103.
- Greenland, P., Smith, S. C., Jr, & Grundy, S. M. (2001). Improving Coronary Heart Disease Risk Assessment in Asymptomatic People: Role of Traditional Risk Factors and Noninvasive Cardiovascular Tests. *Circulation*, 104(15), 1863-1867.
- Grundy, S. M., Pasternak, R., Greenland, P., Smith, S., Jr., & Fuster, V. (1999). Assessment of Cardiovascular Risk by Use of Multiple-Risk-Factor Assessment Equations: A Statement for Healthcare Professionals From the American Heart Association and the American College of Cardiology. *Circulation, 100*(13), 1481-1492.
- Guo, S. S., Zeller, C., Chumlea, W. C., & Siervogel, R. M. (1999). Aging, body composition, and lifestyle: the Fels Longitudinal Study. *American Journal* of Clinical Nutrition, 70(3), 405-411.
- Haapanen-Niemi, N., Miilunpalo, S., Pasanen, M., Vuori, I., Oja, P., & Malmberg, J. (2000). Body mass index, physical inactivity and low level of physical fitness as determinants of all-cause and cardiovascular disease mortality: 16 y follow-up of middle-aged and elderly men and

women. International Journal of Obesity and Related Metabolic Disorders, 24(11), 1465-1474.

- Halvorsrud, L., & Kalfoss, M. (2007). The conceptualization and measurement of quality of life in older adults: a review of empirical studies published during 1994-2006. *European Journal of Ageing, 4*, 229-246.
- Hatsukami, D. K., Kotlyar, M., Allen, S., Jensen, J., Li, S., Le, C., et al. (2005). Effects of Cigarette Reduction on Cardiovascular Risk Factors and Subjective Measures. *Chest*, 128(4), 2528-2537.
- Heffernan, K. S., Jae, S. Y., Vieira, V. J., Iwamoto, G. A., Wilund, K. R., Woods, J. A., et al. (2009). C-reactive protein and cardiac vagal activity following resistance exercise training in young African-American and white men. *American Journal of Physiology: Regulatory, Integrative, and Comparative Physiology, 296*(4), R1098-1105.
- Howley, E. T. (2001). Type of activity: resistance, aerobic and leisure versus occupational physical activity. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise,* 33(6 Suppl), S364-369; discussion S419-320.
- Ingelsson, E., Schaefer, E. J., Contois, J. H., McNamara, J. R., Sullivan, L., Keyes, M. J., et al. (2007). Clinical Utility of Different Lipid Measures for Prediction of Coronary Heart Disease in Men and Women. *JAMA: The Journal of the American Medical Association, 298*(7), 776-785.

Instituto Nacional de Estatística (INE) (Ed.). (2008a). The People. Lisboa.

- Instituto Nacional de Estatística (INE) (Ed.). (2008b). *Statistical Yearbook of Portugal 2007*. Lisboa.
- Instituto Nacional de Estatística & Instituto Nacional de Saúde Doutor Ricardo Jorge (Eds.). (2009). *Inquérito Nacional de Saúde 2005/2006*. Lisboa.

- Jamerson, K., Julius, S., Gudbrandsson, T., Andersson, O., & Brant, D. (1993). Reflex sympathetic activation induces acute insulin resistance in the human forearm. *Hypertension*, 21(5), 618-623.
- Jette, A. M. (2006). Toward a Common Language for Function, Disability, and Health. *Physical Therapy*, *86*(5), 726-734.
- Johnston, G. R., & Webster, N. R. (2009). Cytokines and the immunomodulatory function of the vagus nerve. *British Journal of Anaesthesia*, *102*(4), 453-462.
- Kamphuis, M. H., Geerlings, M. I., Dekker, J. M., Giampaoli, S., Nissinen, A., Grobbee, D. E., et al. (2007). Autonomic dysfunction: a link between depression and cardiovascular mortality? The FINE Study. *Journal of Cardiovascular Risk, 14*(6), 796-802.
- Kanjilal, S., Gregg, E. W., Cheng, Y. J., Zhang, P., Nelson, D. E., Mensah, G., et al. (2006). Socioeconomic Status and Trends in Disparities in 4 Major Risk Factors for Cardiovascular Disease Among US Adults, 1971-2002. *Archives of Internal Medicine, 166*(21), 2348-2355.
- Kaplan, G. A., & Keil, J. E. (1993). Socioeconomic factors and cardiovascular disease: a review of the literature. *Circulation, 88*(4), 1973-1998.
- Kastelein, J. J. P., van der Steeg, W. A., Holme, I., Gaffney, M., Cater, N. B., Barter, P., et al. (2008). Lipids, Apolipoproteins, and Their Ratios in Relation to Cardiovascular Events With Statin Treatment. *Circulation*, *117*(23), 3002-3009.
- Kawachi, I., Colditz, G. A., Stampfer, M. J., Willett, W. C., Manson, J. E., Rosner, B., et al. (1993). Smoking Cessation in Relation to Total Mortality Rates in Women: A Prospective Cohort Study. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, *119*(10), 992-1000.

- Kontush, A., & Chapman, M. J. (2006). Functionally Defective High-Density Lipoprotein: A New Therapeutic Target at the Crossroads of Dyslipidemia, Inflammation, and Atherosclerosis. *Pharmacological Reviews*, *58*(3), 342-374.
- Kowalewski, M., & Urban, M. (2004). Short- and long-term reproducibility of autonomic measures in supine and standing positions. *Clinical Science (Lond), 106*(1), 61-66.
- Krentz, A. J. (2002). Type 2 diabetes and atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease: do they share common antecedents? *The British Journal of Diabetes & Vascular Disease, 2*(5), 370-378.
- Kritchevsky, S. B., Cesari, M., & Pahor, M. (2005). Inflammatory markers and cardiovascular health in older adults. *Cardiovascular Research*, 66(2), 265-275.
- Kruger, J., Ham, S., & Sanker, S. (2008). Physical inactivity during leisure time among older adults--Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System, 2005. *Journal of Aging and Physical Activity*, *16*(3), 280-291.
- Lakatta, E. G., & Levy, D. (2003). Arterial and Cardiac Aging: Major Shareholders in Cardiovascular Disease Enterprises: Part I: Aging Arteries: A "Set Up" for Vascular Disease. *Circulation*, *107*(1), 139-146.
- Laukkanen, J. A., Kurl, S., Salonen, R., Rauramaa, R., & Salonen, J. T. (2004). The predictive value of cardiorespiratory fitness for cardiovascular events in men with various risk profiles: a prospective population-based cohort study. *European Heart Journal*, 25(16), 1428-1437.
- Leinonen, R., Heikkinen, E., & Jylha, M. (2001). Predictors of decline in selfassessments of health among older people--a 5-year longitudinal study. *Social Science & Medicine, 52*(9), 1329-1341.

- Levitan, E. B., Song, Y., Ford, E. S., & Liu, S. (2004). Is Nondiabetic Hyperglycemia a Risk Factor for Cardiovascular Disease?: A Metaanalysis of Prospective Studies. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, *164*(19), 2147-2155.
- Levy, D., Larson, M. G., Vasan, R. S., Kannel, W. B., & Ho, K. K. L. (1996). The Progression From Hypertension to Congestive Heart Failure. *JAMA: The Journal of the American Medical Association*, 275(20), 1557-1562.
- Liu-Ambrose, T., Khan, K., Eng, J., Lord, S., Lentle, B., & McKay, H. (2005). Both resistance and agility training reduce back pain and improve healthrelated quality of life in older women with low bone mass. *Osteoporosis International*, *16*(11), 1321-1329.
- Lusis, A. (2000). Atherosclerosis. Nature, 407(6801), 233-241.
- Malik, M., Bigger, J. T., Camm, A. J., Kleiger, R. E., Malliani, A., Moss, A. J., et al. (1996). Heart rate variability: Standards of measurement, physiological interpretation, and clinical use *European Heart Journal*, *17*, 354-381.
- Malinow, M. R., Bostom, A. G., & Krauss, R. M. (1999). Homocyst(e)ine, Diet, and Cardiovascular Diseases : A Statement for Healthcare Professionals From the Nutrition Committee, American Heart Association. *Circulation*, 99(1), 178-182.
- Martins, T., Assis, M., Nahas, M., Gauche, H., & Moura, E. (2009). Leisure-time physical inactivity in adults and factors associated. *Revista de Saude Publica, 43*(5), 814-824.
- Martinson, B. C., O'Connor, P. J., & Pronk, N. P. (2001). Physical Inactivity and Short-term All-Cause Mortality in Adults With Chronic Disease. *Archives* of Internal Medicine, 161(9), 1173-1180.

- Mathieu, P., Poirier, P., Pibarot, P., Lemieux, I., & Despres, J. P. (2009).
 Visceral Obesity: The Link Among Inflammation, Hypertension, and Cardiovascular Disease. *Hypertension*, *53*(4), 577-584.
- Mazzone, A., Cusa, C., Mazzucchelli, I., Vezzoli, M., Ottini, E., Ghio, S., et al. (2001). Cigarette smoking and hypertension influence nitric oxide release and plasma levels of adhesion molecules. *Clinical Chemistry and Laboratory Medicine*, 39(9), 822-826.
- McMurray, R. G., Ainsworth, B. E., Harrell, J. S., Griggs, T. R., & Williams, O. D. (1998). Is physical activity or aerobic power more influential on reducing cardiovascular disease risk factors? *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, *30*(10), 1521-1529.
- Meigs, J. B., Nathan, D. M., D'Agostino, R. B., & Wilson, P. W. F. (2002). Fasting and Postchallenge Glycemia and Cardiovascular Disease Risk. *Diabetes Care*, 25(10), 1845-1850.
- Mensah, G. A., Mokdad, A. H., Ford, E. S., Greenlund, K. J., & Croft, J. B. (2005). State of Disparities in Cardiovascular Health in the United States. *Circulation*, 111(10), 1233-1241.
- Miremadi, S., Sniderman, A., & Frohlich, J. (2002). Can Measurement of Serum Apolipoprotein B Replace the Lipid Profile Monitoring of Patients with Lipoprotein Disorders? *Clinical Chemistry*, *48*(3), 484-488.
- Mohamed-Ali, V., Goodrick, S., Rawesh, A., Katz, D. R., Miles, J. M., Yudkin, J. S., et al. (1997). Subcutaneous Adipose Tissue Releases Interleukin-6, But Not Tumor Necrosis Factor-{alpha}, in Vivo. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 82(12), 4196-4200.
- Mozaffarian, D., Wilson, P. W. F., & Kannel, W. B. (2008). Beyond Established and Novel Risk Factors: Lifestyle Risk Factors for Cardiovascular Disease. *Circulation*, 117(23), 3031-3038.

- Narayan, K. M. V., Boyle, J. P., Thompson, T. J., Gregg, E. W., & Williamson,D. F. (2007). Effect of BMI on Lifetime Risk for Diabetes in the U.S. *Diabetes Care*, *30*(6), 1562-1566.
- National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP). (2002). Third Report of the National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP) Expert Panel on Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Cholesterol in Adults (Adult Treatment Panel III) Final Report. *Circulation, 106*(25), 3143-3421.
- National Public Health Partnership (Ed.). (2001). *Preventing Chronic Disease: A strategic framework*. Melbourne.
- Netuveli, G., & Blane, D. (2008). Quality of life in older ages. *British Medical Bulletin, 85*(1), 113-126.
- Newman, A. B., Arnold, A. M., Naydeck, B. L., Fried, L. P., Burke, G. L., Enright, P., et al. (2003). "Successful Aging": Effect of Subclinical Cardiovascular Disease. Archives of Internal Medicine, 163(19), 2315-2322.
- Nocon, M., Hiemann, T., Müller-Riemenschneider, F., Thalau, F., Roll, S., & Willich, S. N. (2008). Association of physical activity with all-cause and cardiovascular mortality: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Cardiovascular Risk, 15*(3), 239-246.
- O'Leary, C. M., Knuiman, M. W., & Divitini, M. L. (2004). Homocysteine and cardiovascular disease: a 17-year follow-up study in Busselton. *European Journal of Cardiovascular Prevention & Rehabilitation, 11*(4), 350-351.
- Oldridge, N. B. (2008). Economic burden of physical inactivity: healthcare costs associated with cardiovascular disease. *Journal of Cardiovascular Risk*, *15*(2), 130-139.
- Pescatello, L. S., Franklin, B. A., Fagard, R., Farquhar, W. B., Kelley, G. A., & Ray, C. A. (2004). American College of Sports Medicine position stand.

Exercise and hypertension. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise,* 36(3), 533-553.

- Pitzalis, M. V., Mastropasqua, F., Massari, F., Forleo, C., Di Maggio, M., Passantino, A., et al. (1996). Short- and long-term reproducibility of time and frequency domain heart rate variability measurements in normal subjects. *Cardiovascular Research*, 32(2), 226-233.
- Pollock, M. L., Franklin, B. A., Balady, G. J., Chaitman, B. L., Fleg, J. L., Fletcher, B., et al. (2000). Resistance Exercise in Individuals With and Without Cardiovascular Disease: Benefits, Rationale, Safety, and PrescriptionAn Advisory From the Committee on Exercise, Rehabilitation, and Prevention, Council on Clinical Cardiology, American Heart Association. *Circulation*, 101(7), 828-833.
- Powell, J. T. (1998). Vascular damage from smoking: disease mechanisms at the arterial wall. *Vascular Medicine*, *3*(1), 21-28.
- Reaven, P. D., Barrett-Connor, E., & Edelstein, S. (1991). Relation between leisure-time physical activity and blood pressure in older women. *Circulation*, 83(2), 559-565.
- Refsum, H., Smith, A. D., Ueland, P. M., Nexo, E., Clarke, R., McPartlin, J., et al. (2004). Facts and Recommendations about Total Homocysteine Determinations: An Expert Opinion. *Clinical Chemistry*, *50*(1), 3-32.
- Rennie, K. L., Hemingway, H., Kumari, M., Brunner, E., Malik, M., & Marmot, M. (2003). Effects of Moderate and Vigorous Physical Activity on Heart Rate Variability in a British Study of Civil Servants. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, *158*(2), 135-143.
- Ribeiro, F., Alves, A., Duarte, J., & Oliveira, J. (2010). Is exercise training an effective therapy targeting endothelial dysfunction and vascular wall inflammation? *International Journal of Cardiology*, *141*(3), 214-221.

- Rikli, R. E., & Jones, C. J. (1999). Development and Validation of a Functional Fitness Test for Community-Residing Older Adults. *Journal of Aging and Physical Activity*, 7, 129-161.
- Rizzo, M., Pernice, V., Frasheri, A., Di Lorenzo, G., Rini, G., Spinas, G., et al. (2009). Small, dense low-density lipoproteins (LDL) are predictors of cardio- and cerebro-vascular events in subjects with the metabolic syndrome. *Clinical Endocrinology (Oxf)*, *70*(6), 870-875.
- Roeters van Lennep, J. E., Westerveld, H. T., Erkelens, D. W., & van der Wall,
 E. E. (2002). Risk factors for coronary heart disease: implications of gender. *Cardiovascular Research*, *53*(3), 538-549.
- Rossouw, J. E. (2002). Hormones, genetic factors, and gender differences in cardiovascular disease. *Cardiovascular Research*, *53*(3), 550-557.
- Rydén, L., Standl, E., Bartnik, M., Van den Berghe, G., Betteridge, J., de Boer, M.-J., et al. (2007). Guidelines on diabetes, pre-diabetes, and cardiovascular diseases: executive summary. *European Heart Journal*, 28(1), 88-136.
- Sajadieh, A., Nielsen, O. W., Rasmussen, V., Hein, H. O., Abedini, S., & Hansen, J. F. (2004). Increased heart rate and reduced heart-rate variability are associated with subclinical inflammation in middle-aged and elderly subjects with no apparent heart disease. *European Heart Journal, 25*(5), 363-370.
- Sardinha, L. B., Teixeira, P. J., Guedes, D. P., Going, S. B., & Lohman, T. G. (2000). Subcutaneous central fat is associated with cardiovascular risk factors in men independently of total fatness and fitness. *Metabolism*, 49(11), 1379-1385.
- Schuit, A. J., van Amelsvoort, L. G., Verheij, T. C., Rijneke, R. D., Maan, A. C., Swenne, C. A., et al. (1999). Exercise training and heart rate variability in older people. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, *31*(6), 816-821.

- Scott, D., Blizzard, L., Fell, J., & Jones, G. (2009). Ambulatory activity, body composition, and lower-limb muscle strength in older adults. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, *41*(2), 383-389.
- Sesso, H. D., Lee, I. M., Gaziano, J. M., Rexrode, K. M., Glynn, R. J., & Buring, J. E. (2001). Maternal and Paternal History of Myocardial Infarction and Risk of Cardiovascular Disease in Men and Women. *Circulation*, 104(4), 393-398.
- Shephard, R. (1994). Aerobic Fitness & Health. Champaign: Human Kinetics.
- Shibao, C., Gamboa, A., Diedrich, A., Ertl, A. C., Chen, K. Y., Byrne, D. W., et al. (2007). Autonomic Contribution to Blood Pressure and Metabolism in Obesity. *Hypertension*, 49(1), 27-33.
- Sinnreich, R., Kark, J. D., Friedlander, Y., Sapoznikov, D., & Luria, M. H. (1998). Five minute recordings of heart rate variability for population studies: repeatability and age-sex characteristics. *Heart*, *80*, 156-162.
- Suzuki, I., Yamada, H., Sugiura, T., Kawakami, N., & Shimizu, H. (1998). Cardiovascular fitness, physical activity and selected coronary heart disease risk factors in adults. *Journal of Sports Medicine and Physical Fitness*, 38(2), 149-157.
- Szmitko, P. E., Wang, C.-H., Weisel, R. D., de Almeida, J. R., Anderson, T. J.,
 & Verma, S. (2003). New Markers of Inflammation and Endothelial Cell Activation: Part I. *Circulation*, *108*(16), 1917-1923.
- Tanne, D., Medalie, J. H., & Goldbourt, U. (2005). Body Fat Distribution and Long-Term Risk of Stroke Mortality. *Stroke*, *36*(5), 1021-1025.
- Tappia, P., Troughton, K., Langley-Evans, S., & Grimble, R. (1995). Cigarette smoking influences cytokine production and antioxidant defences. *Clinical Science (Lond), 88*(4), 485-489.

- Taylor, A. H., Cable, N. T., Faulkner, G., Hillsdon, M., Narici, M., & Van Der Bij,
 A. K. (2004). Physical activity and older adults: a review of health benefits and the effectiveness of interventions. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, 22(8), 703-725.
- Thomas, A. J., Eberly, L. E., Davey Smith, G., Neaton, J. D., Stamler, J., & for the Multiple Risk Factor Intervention Trial Research Group. (2005). Race/Ethnicity, Income, Major Risk Factors, and Cardiovascular Disease Mortality. *American Journal of Public Health*, 95(8), 1417-1423.
- Tracy, R. P., Psaty, B. M., Macy, E., Bovill, E. G., Cushman, M., Cornell, E. S., et al. (1997). Lifetime Smoking Exposure Affects the Association of C-Reactive Protein with Cardiovascular Disease Risk Factors and Subclinical Disease in Healthy Elderly Subjects. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology, 17*(10), 2167-2176.
- Tsuji, H., Larson, M. G., Venditti, F. J., Manders, E. S., Evans, J. C., Feldman,
 C. L., et al. (1996). Impact of Reduced Heart Rate Variability on Risk for
 Cardiac Events: The Framingham Heart Study. *Circulation, 94*(11), 2850-2855.
- Vaccarino, V., Badimon, L., Corti, R., de Wit, C., Dorobantu, M., Hall, A., et al. (2011). Ischaemic heart disease in women: are there sex differences in pathophysiology and risk factors? *Cardiovascular Research*, *90*(1), 9-17. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvq394.
- Vasan, R. S. (2006). Biomarkers of Cardiovascular Disease: Molecular Basis and Practical Considerations. *Circulation*, 113(19), 2335-2362.
- Venn, A., & Britton, J. (2007). Exposure to Secondhand Smoke and Biomarkers of Cardiovascular Disease Risk in Never-Smoking Adults. *Circulation*, 115(8), 990-995.

- Versari, D., Daghini, E., Virdis, A., Ghiadoni, L., & Taddei, S. (2009). The ageing endothelium, cardiovascular risk and disease in man. *Experimental Physiology*, *94*(3), 317-321.
- Vincent, K. R., Braith, R. W., Feldman, R. A., Kallas, H. E., & Lowenthal, D. T. (2002). Improved Cardiorespiratory Endurance Following 6 Months of Resistance Exercise in Elderly Men and Women. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, *162*(6), 673-678.
- Vollset, S. E., Refsum, H., Tverdal, A., Nygård, O., Nordrehaug, J. E., Tell, G. S., et al. (2001). Plasma total homocysteine and cardiovascular and noncardiovascular mortality: the Hordaland Homocysteine Study. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 74(1), 130-136.
- Volpato, S., Guralnik, J. M., Ferrucci, L., Balfour, J., Chaves, P., Fried, L. P., et al. (2001). Cardiovascular Disease, Interleukin-6, and Risk of Mortality in Older Women: The Women's Health and Aging Study. *Circulation*, 103(7), 947-953.
- Willems, J. M., Trompet, S., Blauw, G. J., Westendorp, R. G. J., & de Craen, A. J. M. (2010). White Blood Cell Count and C-Reactive Protein Are Independent Predictors of Mortality in the Oldest Old. *The Journals of Gerontology Series A: Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, 65A(7), 764-768.
- Williams, M. J., Hunter, G. R., Kekes-Szabo, T., Snyder, S., & Treuth, M. S. (1997). Regional fat distribution in women and risk of cardiovascular disease. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 65(3), 855-860.
- Windler, E., Schöffauer, M., & Zyriax, B.-C. (2007). The significance of low HDL-cholesterol levels in an ageing society at increased risk for cardiovascular disease. *Diabetes and Vascular Disease Research*, 4(2), 136-142.

- Winter, Y., Rohrmann, S., Linseisen, J., Lanczik, O., Ringleb, P. A., Hebebrand, J., et al. (2008). Contribution of Obesity and Abdominal Fat Mass to Risk of Stroke and Transient Ischemic Attacks. *Stroke*, *39*(12), 3145-3151.
- Wolf-Maier, K., Cooper, R. S., Banegas, J. R., Giampaoli, S., Hense, H.-W., Joffres, M., et al. (2003). Hypertension Prevalence and Blood Pressure Levels in 6 European Countries, Canada, and the United States. *JAMA: The Journal of the American Medical Association, 289*(18), 2363-2369.
- World Health Organization (WHO) (Ed.). (2010). *World Health Statistics 2010*. França: Tony Waddell.
- World Health Organization (WHO) (Ed.). (2011). World Health Organization (WHO) Global InfoBase Online Retrieved 16 de fevereiro de 2011:
- Yusuf, S., Hawken, S., Ounpuu, S., Dans, T., Avezum, A., Lanas, F., et al. (2004). Effect of potentially modifiable risk factors associated with myocardial infarction in 52 countries (the INTERHEART study): casecontrol study. *Lancet*, 364(9438), 937-952.

CHAPTER II

METHODOLOGY

2. METHODOLOGY

2.1. Study Design and Participants

2.1.1. Study Design

This thesis encompasses five studies with three different designs (see Figure 1): Study I was a pilot study with a pre-experimental design in which a unique group of older women was followed for eight months, maintaining their normal nutritional and physical activity habits for the first four months, and engaging in a walking program of moderate intensity for the final four months. Outcomes were assessed in three distinct moments: at baseline, after the four months of normal habits, and after the four-month walking program. This first study was conducted in order to ensure that practical problems in the study design and protocols were identified and solved before the initiating following studies (Peat, 2002).

Studies II and III were descriptive, correlational studies in which older adults' outcomes were evaluated and relationships between these outcomes were explored. Correlations were used to describe whether and to what degree variations in one variable were associated with variations in another variable (Haag, 2004). Although this type of study cannot prove a causal relationship between variables, in detecting the presence or absence of relationships, it may suggest a possible positive outcome of experimental study.

Once causal relationships could be proven in randomized controlled trials (RCT) (Haag, 2004), Studies IV and V were designed to test the effects of the interventions on outcomes. In these studies, older adults that met the inclusion criteria were given informed consent and had outcomes assessed as a baseline and then were entered in randomized groups for aerobic training (AT), resistance training (RT), and a waiting list (WL). After eight months of their respective interventions, the subjects' outcomes were assessed again.



Figure 1. Thesis design.

2.1.2. Participant Selection Criteria

A total of 139 physically independent community-dwelling subjects were recruited in the Porto area (Portugal) through newspaper advertisements. At first, 31 women volunteered to participate in the pilot study; later, 108 men and women volunteered for the descriptive and RCT studies. In order to identify the subjects attending inclusion criteria, at the screening, the health history of the

subjects was obtained via individual interviews. Data on the use of medication and the presence of the following chronic conditions were obtained: heart disease, hypertension, stroke, diabetes, dyslipidemia, osteoarthritis, osteoporosis, severe pulmonary disease, liver disease, thyroid disease, and depression. This questionnaire also included information on smoking status and on demographics (education, income, and civil status).

The inclusion criteria of the sample required that the subjects: (i) be older than 60 years, (ii) complete the baseline testing, and (iii) be physically independent. The exclusion criteria were the following: (i) registered blindness, (ii) severe hearing impairment, (iii) uncontrolled hypertension or diabetes, (iv) symptomatic cardiorespiratory disease, (v) severe renal or hepatic disease, (vi) uncontrolled epilepsy, (vii) progressive neurological disease, (viii) chronic disabling arthritis, (ix) present acute or terminal illness, (x) use of walking aids, and (xi) any neurological, skeletal-muscle or joint disturbance that precluded participation in testing. Lastly, (xi) subjects involved in any regular supervised exercise training (performing moderate to vigorous exercise for 20 minutes or more at least twice a week) in the previous six months were excluded from the RCT studies.

In order to increase the statistical power and considering that anthropometrics, body composition, resting BP, resting HR, and 6MWT were assessed in all studies accordingly to the same protocols and by the same investigators, in Study II, the sample from the pilot study was added. The number of individuals recruited and the number of participants included in statistical analysis for each study are presented in Table 1.

The nature, benefits, and risks of the studies were explained to the volunteers, and their written informed consent was obtained before the study, consistent with the Helsinki Declaration. Finally, all methods and procedures were approved by the Institutional Scientific Board.

2.2. Intervention

The aerobic and resistance exercise programs used in this thesis are consistent with the recommendations established by the American College of Sports Medicine and the American Heart Association (ACSM/AHA, 2007; Chodzko-Zajko, et al., 2009).

	Recruited	Baseline Assessment	Included in Analysis
Study I	31	22 women	19 women
Study II	139 (31 from pilot study and 108 from the original study)	105 (78 women and 27 men)	105 (78 women and 27 men)
Study III	108	85 (64 women and 21 men)	85 (64 women and 21 men)
Study IV	108	85 (64 women and 21 men)	50 (39 women, 11 men)
Study V	108	85 (64 women and 21 men)	50 (39 women, 11 men)

Table 1. Sample size of each study

2.2.1. Walking Program (Pilot Study)

The length of the walking program was four months, with exercise sessions three times per week, each lasting approximately 50 minutes. Training workouts consisted of a 10-minute warm-up, thirty minutes of walking at a moderate intensity corresponding to 50-70% HR_{Reserve}, and ended with a 10-minute cooldown. Once the walking program was not effective at improving body composition or subjects' resting HR, for the subsequent RCT studies, the intensity of the aerobic training was slightly increased, as was the duration of

the program. In addition, a different type of exercise (RT) was included in the study.

2.2.2. Aerobic Training, Resistance Training, and Waiting List (RCT)

In the RCT studies, both AT and RT groups trained three times per week (non-consecutive days) for eight months – each exercise session lasted approximately 50 minutes. Taking into account that previous researchers have suggested a possible dose-response relation between the intensity of training and improvements in functional performance and health (Seynnes, et al., 2004), it was decided for the RCT studies, for both exercise types, to implement an intensity classified as moderate to high (70-80% of HR_{reserve} for AT and 80% of 1RM for RT).

Aerobic training. AT consisted of a 10-minute warm-up, that included walking or cycling, calisthenics and stretching, 30 minutes of aerobic exercises – mainly walking – at an intensity corresponding to 70%-80% HR_{Reserve} or a rating of perceived effort (RPE) of 7 to 8 on a 10-point scale, and ending with a 10-minute cool-down. In order to ensure that the subjects were exercising at the targeted intensity, Polar Heart Rate Monitors (Polar Team System, Finland) were used during exercise sessions and RPEs were registered.

Resistance training. RT consisted of a 10-minute warm-up that included walking or cycling; calisthenics and stretching; nine exercises (leg press, chest press, leg extension, seated row, seated leg curl, abdominal flexion, biceps curl, low-back extension, and triceps extension) for different muscular groups; and finished with a 10-minute cool-down. The load for each exercise was based on the one repetition maximum (1RM) test. Subjects performed two sets of 12-15 repetitions (reps.) at 50-60% of the 1RM, or RPE 4-6, during the first month. After this month, the 1RM was measured again and the load was increased to 80% of the 1RM, or RPE 7-8. At this intensity, subjects performed two sets of 8-12 reps. Every two months, the 1RM was measured in order to keep the training stimulus consistently at 80% of the 1RM, or RPE 7-8.

Waiting list. During the study period, individuals randomized to the WL group were contacted by phone every four months to certify that they were still interested in participating in the study. At these intervals, they were also asked not to change their lifestyle. After the eight-month observation period, they were invited to participate in specific exercise programs designed for seniors by the Faculty of Sport.

2.3. Measurements

2.3.1. Anthropometrics

Body weight was measured to the nearest 0.1kg with an electronic scale (*SECA 708*). Height was measured to the nearest 1 mm with a standard stadiometer. BMI was determined as weight divided by height squared (kg/m²). Percent of total body fat (%BF), trunk fat (kg), and lean mass (kg) were determined by whole body scan using a dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA – Hologic QDR-4500, software for Windows XP, version 12.4) with subjects in the supine position. All scans were analyzed by the same investigator.

2.3.2. Biochemical Analysis

Biochemical analysis of the traditional CVD risk factors of plasma glucose, cholesterol (total, LDL-C, and HDL-C), and TG, were measured using standard enzymatic methods. hs-CRP levels were determined by means of particle-enhanced immunonephelometry using a BN[™] II nephelometer (Dade Bhering).

2.3.3. Cytokine Measurements

Taking into account that the individuals included in this thesis had no diagnosed CVDs and, therefore, it is less probable that they have advanced atherosclerotic plaques (unstable plaque or plaque rupture), we opted to investigate cytokines that are thought to mark earlier phases of atherosclerosis such as, IL-6, IL-10, IFN- γ , and TNF- α (Vasan, 2006).

In order to assess these cytokines, a human multiplex immunoassay kit from Millipore was used according to the manufacturer's protocol. Briefly, 10 μ l of plasma was diluted and assayed for IL-6, IL-10, IFN-7, and TNF- α using specific antibodies (Abs) conjugated into beads and read on a Luminex 100 instrument

(Luminex). The concentration of each cytokine was determined by preparing a standard curve using standard cytokine concentrations. Results are expressed in picograms per milliliter. The detection levels of these Abs were between 1 and 5 pg/ml with little or no cross-reactivity among the Abs.

2.3.4. Resting Blood Pressure and Heart Rate

Resting BP and heart rate (HR) were measured using an automated blood pressure monitor (Colin, DP 8800). After 15 minutes at rest in a quiet, temperature-controlled room, BP measurements were taken with the subjects seated in an upright position with an arm comfortably placed at heart level. The average of three measures for SBP, DBP, and HR were entered as data. The analyses were conducted between 8:00 am and 11:00 am, by the same investigator.

2.3.5. Autonomic Function

Autonomic function was evaluated using HRV analysis. After a 15-minute supine rest, the R-R intervals were recorded over a short period of five minutes with a Polar recorder (Polar NV vantage, Finland). The HF and LF components of FD were chosen to evaluate vagal and vagal/sympathetic activity. Since the standard deviation of normal RR intervals (SDRR), a component of TD, is also recommended in investigative recordings of short duration, it was used to assess the total HRV (Malik, et al., 1996). Data were saved and filtered using an automatic procedure for further analysis of HRV with Polar Precision Performance software version 2.0 (Polar Electro Oy, Kempele, Finland). Data with more than a 5% error were not considered in statistical analyses.

2.3.6. Physical and Functional Fitness Assessment

The Senior Fitness Test (SFT) (Rikli & Jones, 1999) was used to assess physical fitness in the pilot study. This battery consists of six assessment items designed to assess the physiological parameters that support physical functionality and mobility in older adults. The test items include lower body muscular endurance (30-second chair stand), upper body muscular endurance (30-second arm curl), aerobic endurance (6MWT), lower body flexibility (chair sit-and-reach), upper body flexibility (back to stretch), and dynamic balance and agility (the 8-foot up and go [8FUG]).

Of those above mentioned tests, only the 6MWT and the 8FUG were maintained in the RCT studies for assessment of functional fitness. The 30second arm curl test was replaced by the hand-grip strength test because it has been widely used as a surrogate measure of total body strength (Herman, et al., 2005), and thus permitting comparisons of results across a greater number of studies. Moreover, among older adults, hand-grip strength has been shown to correlate with a decline in the activities of daily living and cognition (Taekema, Gussekloo, Maier, Westendorp, & de Craen, 2010), markers of frailty (Syddall, Cooper, Martin, Briggs, & Aihie Sayer, 2003), and disability (Al Snih, Markides, Ottenbacher, & Raji, 2004). Since lower-limb power and strength seem to be important contributing factors to perform daily living activities rather than muscular endurance (Bean, et al., 2002), the 30-second chair stand, a test more close related with muscular endurance was replaced by the sit-to-stand five times and the stair ascent tests which have been demonstrated to be more related with lower-limb muscular strength and power (Bean, et al., 2002; Tiedemann, Sherrington, & Lord, 2007; VanSwearingen & Brach, 2001). Finally, taking into account that flexibility was not the priority in the designed exercise training programs, we decided to not assess this fitness component. The descriptions of the tests used to evaluate fitness in the descriptive correlational and RCT studies are described in the specific methods section of each study

2.3.7. Health-related Quality of Life

The HRQoL of older adults was subjectively assessed using the Medical Outcomes Study 36-Item Short-Form Health Study questionnaire (SF-36) adapted and validated for the Portuguese population (Ferreira, 1998), which was applied through personal interview. The SF-36 comprises eight health concepts: physical functioning (PF), role limitations due to physical problems (RP), bodily pain (BP), general health (GH), vitality (VT), social functioning (SF),

role limitations due to emotional problems (RE), and mental health (MH). These eight concepts can be aggregated into two components, the SF-36 Physical Component Summary (PCS) and Mental Component Summary (MCS). There is also a single separate item that is used to assess any change in health from the previous year.

In Study V, norm-based scores for the SF-36 were calculated using the methods set out by Ware et al. (1993) and Ware and Kosinski (2001). In the norm-based scales and components, a score of 50 represents the mean. Therefore, all scores above or below 50 can be interpreted as above or below normal for the general population (United States population).

2.3.8. Daily Physical Activity

In the pilot study, daily PA levels were assessed using the Baecke (Baecke, Burema, & Frijters, 1982) modified physical activity questionnaire (Voorrips, Ravelli, Dongelmans, Deurenberg, & Van Staveren, 1991). This questionnaire evaluates and generates scores in household activities, sporting activities and other physically active leisure-time activities, which together result in a PA score. Although the Baecke questionnaire has been shown to generate valid and reliable classification scores for activity in older subjects when completed during a personal interview, in the pilot study some older women had difficulty quantifying the time spent on PA. Therefore, we opted to use an objective measure to assess the PA levels of the participants in Studies III, IV and V.

In these studies, daily PA levels were assessed using accelerometers (Actigraph GT1M, Actigraph LLC, Pensacola, FL). The Actigraph accelerometer is a uniaxial monitor that measures the intensity of movement averaged over 1-min sampling intervals called 'epochs.' Data from each monitor was downloaded by the investigator and compared with data from a diary before the average counts/min were calculated. This unit measurement (counts/min) was generated based on the magnitude and frequency of movement (Mark & Janssen, 2008).

2.3.9. Energy Intake

The lack of control of energy intake in the pilot study might have induced misinterpretation of the body composition results, thus, this potential confounder was assessed in the other studies using a four-day dietary record (three weekdays and one weekend day) at two points (before and after the intervention). Dietary records were analyzed using an adapted Portuguese version of the software Food Processor Plus® (ESHA Research Inc, Salem, Oregon, USA), a nutritional analysis program that converts food intake into total energy and nutrients based on food composition tables available from the United States Department of Agriculture and national data on typical Portuguese foods.

2.4. Data Analysis

Means and standard deviations (M±SD) were computed for the variables with normal distribution and median with percentiles 25 and 75 (Md, 25th percentile – 75th percentile) computed when normal distribution was not verified. To better describe the subjects, the frequencies and percentages of the main characteristics were also calculated. The normality of distribution was determined by a Kolmogorov-Smirnov or Shapiro-Wilk test.

To assess the relationship between variables, Pearson (*r*) or Spearman's *rho* correlation coefficients were used. To examine the predictive value of the 6MWT, whenever risk factors and resting cardiovascular parameters related with performance on the 6MWT, linear regression analyses were employed. Logistic regression models were used to estimate the odds ratio (OR) of scoring in the highest quartile of each HRQoL domain per quartile increase in each of the PA and physical fitness index scores.

The Mann–Whitney *U* test was used for gender comparisons. Between-group differences in baseline values were determined using one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA). When a significant main effect was detected at a significance level of P<0.05, the Bonferonni correction was used for post-hoc comparison. In order to detect changes within groups across time, the paired *t*-

test or the one-way ANOVA for repeated measures was employed. In this case, when a significant main effect was detected at a significance level of P<0.05, the Tukey test was used for post-hoc comparisons.

The pre-to-post changes (Δ) for each subject were related to the individual baseline level to define the relative change (% Δ = [(post-test score – pretest score)/ pre-test score] x 100) in all selected variables. General Linear Models were used with relative change as the dependent variable and group as the fixed factor. Afterwards, covariates were inserted into the models. Finally, the Mann-Whitney *U* test was used to observe, in each group, differences between dropouts and compliant subjects.

Analyses were performed using the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS, version 16.0 or 17.0 for Windows, Chicago, IL) accepting the 0.05 level of probability as statistically significant. Post-hoc power analyses were performed to verify the effect size f on dependent outcomes included in this study, using G Power 3 for Windows (Faul, Erdfelder, Lang, & Buchner, 2007). A summary of the statistical tests used in each study is shown in Table 2.

	Pearson (r)	Spearman (rho)	Linear Regression	Logistic Regression	Paired <i>t</i> - test	Mann- Witney <i>U</i> test	One-way Anova (repeated measures)	One-way Anova	General Linear Models
Study I							х		
Study II	Х		х			Х			
Study III		х		х		Х			
Study IV					Х	Х		Х	Х
Study V	Х				х	х		х	Х

Table 2. Statistical tests used in each study.

REFERENCES

- Al Snih, S., Markides, K., Ottenbacher, K., & Raji, M. (2004). Hand grip strength and incident ADL disability in elderly Mexican Americans over a sevenyear period. *Aging Clinical and Experimental Research, 16*(6), 481-486.
- American College of Sports Medicine & the American Heart Association (ACSM/AHA). (2007). Physical Activity and Public Health in Older Adults: Recommendation From the American College of Sports Medicine and the American Heart Association (ACSM/AHA). *Circulation, 116*(9), 1094-1105.
- Baecke, J. A., Burema, J., & Frijters, J. E. (1982). A short questionnaire for the measurement of habitual physical activity in epidemiological studies. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 36(5), 936-942.
- Bean, J. F., Kiely, D. K., Herman, S., Leveille, S. G., Mizer, K., Frontera, W. R., et al. (2002). The relationship between leg power and physical performance in mobility-limited older people. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society, 50*(3), 461-467.
- Chodzko-Zajko, W., Proctor, D., Fiatarone Singh, M., Minson, C., Nigg, C., Salem, G., et al. (2009). American College of Sports Medicine position stand. Exercise and physical activity for older adults. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, *41*(7), 1510-1530.
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Lang, A.G., & Buchner, A. (2007). G*power 3: A flexible statistical power analysis program for the social, behavioral, and biomedical sciences. *Behavior Research Methods*, 39(2), 175-191.
- Ferreira, P. L. (1998). A Medição do Estado de Saúde: criação da versão portuguesa do MOS SF-36. Coimbra: Universidade de Coimbra, Centro de Estudos e Investigação em Saúde, Faculdade de Economia.

- Haag, H. (2004). Research Methodology for Sport and Exercise Science: a comprehensive introduction for study and research. Schorndorf: Verlag Karl Hofmann.
- Herman, S., Kiely, D. K., Leveille, S., O'Neill, E., Cyberey, S., & Bean, J. F. (2005). Upper and Lower Limb Muscle Power Relationships in Mobility-Limited Older Adults. *Journals of Gerontology Series A: Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences, 60*(4), 476-480.
- Malik, M., Bigger, J. T., Camm, A. J., Kleiger, R. E., Malliani, A., Moss, A. J., et al. (1996). Heart rate variability: Standards of measurement, physiological interpretation, and clinical use *European Heart Journal*, *17*, 354-381.
- Mark, A., & Janssen, I. (2008). Dose-response relation between physical activity and blood pressure in youth. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise, 40*(6), 1007-1012.
- Peat, J. (2002). *Health Science Research: a handbook of quantitative methods*. London: SAGE.
- Rikli, R. E., & Jones, C. J. (1999). Development and Validation of a Functional Fitness Test for Community-Residing Older Adults. *Journal of Aging and Physical Activity*, 7, 129-161.
- Seynnes, O., Fiatarone Singh, M. A., Hue, O., Pras, P., Legros, P., & Bernard,
 P. L. (2004). Physiological and Functional Responses to Low-Moderate
 Versus High-Intensity Progressive Resistance Training in Frail Elders.
 The Journals of Gerontology, Series A: Medical Sciences and Biological
 Sciences, 59(5), M503-509.

- Syddall, H., Cooper, C., Martin, F., Briggs, R., & Aihie Sayer, A. (2003). Is grip strength a useful single marker of frailty? *Age and Ageing*, *32*(6), 650-656.
- Taekema, D. G., Gussekloo, J., Maier, A. B., Westendorp, R. G. J., & de Craen,
 A. J. M. (2010). Handgrip strength as a predictor of functional, psychological and social health. A prospective population-based study among the oldest old. *Age and Ageing*, *39*(3), 331-337.
- Tiedemann, A. C., Sherrington, C., & Lord, S. R. (2007). Physical and Psychological Factors Associated With Stair Negotiation Performance in Older People. *Journals of Gerontology Series A: Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, 62(11), 1259-1265.
- VanSwearingen, J. M., & Brach, J. S. (2001). Making Geriatric Assessment Work: Selecting Useful Measures. *Physical Therapy*, *81*(6), 1233-1252.
- Vasan, R. S. (2006). Biomarkers of Cardiovascular Disease: Molecular Basis and Practical Considerations. *Circulation, 113*(19), 2335-2362.
- Voorrips, L. E., Ravelli, A. C., Dongelmans, P. C., Deurenberg, P., & Van Staveren, W. A. (1991). A physical activity questionnaire for the elderly. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, 23(8), 974-979.
- Ware, J. E., Jr., & Kosinski, M. (2001). SF-36 Physical & Mental Health Summary Scales: A Manual for Users of Version 1 (Second Edition ed.). Lincoln, RI.
- Ware, J. E., Snow, K. K., Kosinski, M., & Gandek, B. (1993). SF-36 Health Survey: Manual and Interpretation Guide. Boston Mass: Health Institute, New England Medical Centre.

STUDY I

Effects of a Moderate-intensity Walking Program on Blood Pressure, Body Composition and Functional Fitness in Older Women: results of a pilot study

Flávia Accioly Canuto Wanderley¹, José Oliveira¹, Jorge Mota¹ and Joana Carvalho¹

Research Centre in Physical Activity, Health and Leisure, Faculty of Sport Sciences, University of Porto, Portugal.

Arch Exerc Health Dis, 2010,1(2): 50-57



Effects of a Moderate-intensity Walking Program on Blood Pressure, Body Composition and Functional Fitness in Older Women: results of a pilot study

F. A. C. Wanderley¹, J. Oliveira¹, J. Mota¹ and J. Carvalho¹

¹Research Centre in Physical Activity, Health and Leisure, Faculty of Sport Sciences, University of Porto, Portugal

Objective: The positive impact of regular physical activity among older adults is well recognized. However, few studies have assessed the effectiveness of walking exercise programs in older women with regard to their impact on physical fitness, body composition and resting blood pressure. Therefore, the aim of this pilot study was to evaluate the effects of a moderateintensity walking program on the physical fitness body composition and resting blood pressure of older women. *Design:* Twenty-two older women (71.4 \pm 5.9 years; BMI= 27.7 \pm 2.6) not in the habit of regularly exercising volunteered to participate in this study. Subjects were evaluated at three distinct points in time: at baseline, after four months with no exercise, and after participating in a four month walking program. Habitual physical activity, blood pressure, heart rate, body composition (DXA) and physical fitness (Senior Fitness Test) were assessed each time. Training consisted of a 10 minute warm up, 30 minutes of walking at an intensity corresponding to 50-70% HR_{Reserve} and ending with a 10 minute cool-down. Results: After walking, data demonstrated: i) a mean reduction of 12 mmHg (p = 0.001) in the women's systolic blood pressure; ii) improvements of 5 repetitions (p < 0.001) on the muscular endurance of the lower limbs; iii) however, there were no significant alterations after the walking program on body composition variables. Conclusions: These findings suggest that a four month's walking program with progressive duration and moderate intensity is able to improve the blood pressure of older women and the muscular endurance of the lower limbs. Arch Exerc Health Dis 1 (2):50-57

Key Words: older adults, risk factors, functional fitness, aerobic training

INTRODUCTION

The likelihood of having a cardiovascular disease (CVD) is substantially higher in older individuals compared to younger ones, reflecting the effect of age as a cardiovascular risk factor and the increased prevalence of other antecedents of CVD in this age group (25). Despite the fact that cardio-respiratory fitness is not considered as an independent risk factor for CVD, it has been consistently reported that the risk for CVD is greater for the least fit individuals (6, 11, 15, 26, 30). Moreover, impairments to fitness are responsible for the inability to carry out activities of daily living which can lead to a loss of independence, reinforcing sedentary behaviours (14). Therefore, sustaining older adults' ability to live independently as well as reducing blood pressure (BP) and body weight via healthy lifestyle interventions are very important goals of public health, geriatrics, and gerontology.

To promote general health, guidelines and recommendations (3, 13, 40) for physical activity

encourage adults to meet or exceed thirty minutes of moderate-intensity physical activity "most" days of the week. Unfortunately, the majority of older adults do not meet this recommendation. In Women's Health and Aging Studies I and II, just 12.7% of the women, aged 70-79 years, met the recommended guidelines for activity (21). Alarmingly, the Centre for Disease Control and Prevention (12) reported that 39.2% of women aged 70 and older have no leisure time physical activity.

Walking is an accessible form of physical activity and is a means of transportation for the vast majority of people regardless of age, gender and social status (36, 46). Furthermore, habitual walking (20, 31), brisk walking and walking programs (16, 42) seem to be effective in improving overall functional fitness and the profile for cardiovascular risk factors (CRF). However, the duration and intensity of walking needed to achieve optimal health-related benefits has not always been well controlled in the studies using interventional programs aiming to modify health-related outcomes, including cardiovascular risk factors and/or functional fitness

Corresponding author: Flávia A. C. Wanderley: Faculty of Sport, University of Porto, Portugal • Rua Dr. Plácido Costa, 91, 4200-450 Porto, Portugal • Tel: 00351225074785 • Fax: 00351225500689 • Email: flaviacanuto@gmail.com

http://ciafel.fade.up.pt/ojs/index.php/AEHD/index

associated with daily-living activities. In some of these studies, the interventional programs were home-based and lacking close control of walking intensity or duration (31). On the other hand, walking programs conducted in laboratory environment (18-19, 33) may not correspond to a natural walking pattern that could be incorporated in lifestyles of older women.

In this way, while the positive impact of regular physical activity among older adults is well recognized, the effects of supervised exercise programs, based mainly on walking with a progressive duration at a moderate intensity are less well known. Considering all the arguments mentioned above, the aim of this pilot study was to evaluate the effects of a moderate-intensity walking program on older women's physical fitness, body composition and resting BP. We hypothesized that a supervised walking-based exercise program with a progressive duration and moderate-intensity would be effective in improving physical fitness, body composition and resting BP of older women.

DESIGN AND METHODS

Participants and Study Design

The study design is presented in figure 1. Community-dwelling and independent older women were recruited in the Porto area through advertisements in newspapers. At the screening, participants completed a health history questionnaire to record past and present conditions and medications.

The selection criteria of the sample were the following: (i) older than 64 years; (ii) not have participated in regular exercise training in the previous six months, which means not having been involved in supervised exercise of moderate to vigorous intensity for 20 minutes or more at least twice a week; (iii) no present acute or terminal illness; (iv) no severe or uncontrolled hypertension or any cardiovascular and/or respiratory disorder; (v) no neurological, skeletal-muscular or joint disorder or disturbance that precludes participation in exercise; (vi) not be under pharmacological therapies that could compromise safety during exercise or influence the responses of cardiovascular function.

Thirty-one women volunteered to participate in the study. From these, nine subjects were excluded because they didn't fully meet the selection criteria. Thus, only twenty-two women (aged 71.4 ± 5.9 years, BMI= 27.7 ± 2.6) initiated the study protocols. Those included in this longitudinal study acted as their own control by taking part in a four month control period followed by the four month walking program, comprising 48 sessions. An attendance rate

of at least 80% of the previewed walking sessions had to be accomplished by the subjects in order to consider the training program complete. Additionally, older women who were absent for eight or more consecutive sessions were also excluded.

Data were collected for all variables at baseline (M1), after the four month control period (M2), and finally, at the end of the four month walking program (M3).

In order to characterise participants' habitual physical activity and to identify possible changes in this potential confounder during the study period, a questionnaire based on the Baecke questionnaire (4) and validated for older populations (45) was applied to all the subjects at three points in time. Participants were instructed not to change their daily physical activity routines or dietary patterns during the course of the study.

According to the Helsinki Declaration, the nature, benefits, and risks of the study were explained to the volunteers, and their written informed consent was obtained. All methods and procedures were approved by the Institutional Review Board.

Training Protocol

The length of the walking program was three times/week for four months, with each exercise session lasting approximately fifty min. Training workouts consisted of a ten minute warm-up, thirty minutes of walking at an intensity corresponding to 50-70% HRreserve, and ending with a ten minute cooldown.

In order to raise the subject's functional fitness so that they were able to sustain thirty minutes of continuous walking at the targeted intensity, the training load was gradually increased during the first four weeks. The walking duration in the first session was fifteen minutes at 50-70% HRreserve, and it was increased by five minutes each week until subjects were able to walk continuously for thirty minutes (week 4). In order to be sure that the subjects were exercising at the targeted intensity, Polar Heart Rate Monitors (Polar Team System, Finland) were used.

Measurements

During assessment, the test administrator and the time of day used for collection remained constant.

Anthropometrics and Body Composition

Body weight was measured to the nearest 0.1kg with an electronic weight scale (SECA 708). Subjects were weighed barefoot wearing light clothing. Height was measured to the nearest 1mm with a standard stadiometer.

Arch Exerc Health Dis 1 (2):50-57



Figure 1. Study Design.

Body Mass Index (BMI) was determined as weight divided by height squared (kg/m2).

Whole body lean mass (LM), percentage of total body fat (%BF) and trunk fat were determined by whole body scan using a Dual-energy X-ray Absorptiometry (DXA – Hologic QDR-4500, software for Windows XP, version 12.4) with subjects in the supine position. All scans were analyzed by the same investigator. The rationale of body composition analysis with DXA is described elsewhere (22).

Blood Pressure and Heart Rate

Resting BP and heart rate (HR) were measured in the right arm with an automated blood pressure monitor (Colin, DP 8800). After being at rest for fifteen minutes in an upright seated position in a quiet, temperature-controlled room, BP measurements were taken with the subjects seated in an upright position with the arm comfortably placed at heart level. The average of three measurements for SBP, DBP, and HR were entered as data. The measurements were performed between 8:00 am and 11:00 am, by the same investigator.

Questionnaire (Habitual Physical Activity)

Daily Physical activity (PA) levels were assessed using the Baecke modified physical activity questionnaire (45), which has been shown to generate valid and reliable classification scores for activity in older subjects. The questionnaire evaluates and generates scores of household activities, sporting activities and other physically active leisure time activities, altogether resulting in a physical activity score. The questionnaires were completed by the same researcher during a personal interview.

Physical Fitness Assessment

The Senior Fitness Test (SFT) (the eight foot up and go to) was used to assess physical fitness (39). This battery consists of 6 assessment items, designed and validated $(0.77 \leq r \leq 0.83)$ to assess the physiological parameters that support physical functionality and mobility in older adults (39). The test items include lower body muscular endurance (thirty second chair stand), upper body muscular endurance (thirty second arm curl), aerobic endurance (six minute walk test), lower body flexibility (chair sit-and-reach), and dynamic balance and agility (the eight foot up-and-go to assess) (14). In our laboratory, the test-retest reliability for SFT was established in 15 subjects $(68.6 \pm 5.8 \text{ years}; BMI=27.6 \pm 3.0 \text{ Kg/m2})$ tested in two sessions separated by 12 days; all tests showed good reliability ($0.92 \le ICC \le 0.96$).

All test stations were organized in a circuit, and the same conditions were maintained for each test at all testing periods. On the testing days, subjects first completed an eight to ten minute warm-up led by a

Outcomes	M1	M2	M3	Overall F values	Overall <i>p</i> values
Weight (kg)	66.1 ± 7.4	64.3 ± 6.1	63.4±6.6	0.111	0.895
% B F	38.9 ± 4.1	40.2 ± 3.9	39.5 ± 4.2	0.077	0.926
Trunk Fat (kg)	11.63 + 3.02	13.01 + 3.30	13.06 + 3.23	0.860	0.431
LM (kg)	39.96 ± 3.70	38.86 ± 3.55	39.64 ± 3.78	0.354	0.704
SBP (mmIIg)	142.8 ± 11.1	136.1 ± 14.0	$124.1 \pm 12.4^{\dagger \ddagger}$	7.964	0.001
DBP (mmHg)	75.1 ± 4.8	70.5 ± 3.9*	$65.3\pm4.8^{\dagger\ddagger}$	8.418	0.001
HR (bpm)	66 ±10	68 ±12	68 ± 9	0.250	0.780

Table 1. Weight, Percent Body Fat (%BF), Trunk Fat, Lean Mass (LM), Systolic Blood Pressure (SBP), Diastolic Blood Pressure (DBP), and Heart Rate (HR): Mean ± SD on different moments (M1, M2, and M3).

* Significant difference from M1 to M2 (p<0.05); \dagger Significant difference from M1 to M3 (p<0.05); \ddagger Significant difference from M2 to M3 (p<0.05)

physical education instructor and then completed all the test items.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS, version 16) for Windows. The Shapiro-Wilk test was used to ascertain the normality of data distributions on all variables. One-Way ANOVA for repeated measures was used to compare means across time. The Tukey test was used for Post-hoc comparisons. The 0.05 level of probability was accepted as significant. Post hoc power analyses were performed to verify the effect size f on dependent outcomes included in this study, using G Power 3 for Windows (17).

RESULTS

Of the 22 participants who underwent the initial assessment, two subjects were excluded from the study because they exceeded a 20% rate of absence and one subject failed the post-training assessment. Therefore, compliance was 86.4%, meaning that 19 individuals with a mean age of 71.4 ± 5.9 years completed the program.

Of the 19 women, three have diagnosed osteoporosis, six are hypertensive (controlled by angiotensin-1 converting enzyme inhibitor -n=3, and diuretics -n=3), three have controlled dislipidaemia (under statins), and one is diabetic (controlled). Two are taking medication for depression, and one is undertaking hormone replacement therapy.

At baseline, the women presented $142.8 \pm 11.1/75.1$ ± 4.8mmHg for SBP and DBP, respectively (table1). Considering their mean baseline BMI (27.7 \pm 2.9 Kg/cm2) values they are classified as overweight. At the fitness assessment, they had performed at or above normative values (38) in the greater part of the tests (table 2). No significant changes were observed in body weight, %BF, trunk fat, LM or HR across the eight months, but significant decreases in SBP and DBP were detected (table 1). The mean SBP at the end of the program (M3) was significantly lower than the SBP at M1 and M2. A different pattern was observed for the mean DBP, which lowered across the three time points (table 1). Physical fitness performance was maintained or significantly decreased (upper body muscular endurance) between M1 and M2 (table 2). On the contrary, between M2 and M3, significant improvements were found on lower body muscular endurance

Physical activity patterns did not change between M1 (2.77 \pm 1.59) and M2 (3.23 \pm 2.56). As was expected, between M2 and M3 (5.61 \pm 1.64) a significant increase (2.38; p<0.001) in the total amount of older women's physical activity was observed. However, when we subtracted the walking program score of each participant's total score, the physical activity score differences disappeared, which means that the observed increase in total physical activity corresponds to the addition of the walking program to the women's routine.

Post hoc power analysis for a sample size of 19 subjects, setting α as 0.05, with a power of 1.0 obtained an effect size f of 1.45; 1.52; 0.41; 0.65; 0.95; 0.85; 1.14; 2.20; 1.31, for SBP, DBP, weight,

				Overall F	Overall p
Physical Fitness Components	M1	M2	M3	values	values
Lower body muscular endurance (reps)	13.6 ± 2.2	13.9 ± 2.7	$18.3 \pm 2.3^{\ddagger;\ddagger}$	16.465	<0.001
Upper body muscular endurance (reps)	21.1 ± 3.8	16.7 ± 1.4*	18.3 ± 2.3	5.929	0.006
Lower body flexibility (cm)	-9.5 ± 9.1	-4.8 ± 11.1	-0.88 ±4.7	2.414	0.103
Upper body flexibility (cm)	-6.32 ± 12.1	-6.4±12.4	-5.4 ± 8.6	0.036	0.964
Dynamic balance and agility (sec.)	5.76 ±1.0	6.62 ± 1.1	6.3 ± 0.9	0.515	0.602
Aerobic endurance (m)	471.9 ± 51.2	493.2 ± 56.8	485.7 ± 58.1	0.072	0.931

Table 2. Physical Fitness: Mean + SD on different moments (M1, M2, and M3).

* Significant difference from M1 to M2 (p<0.05); \dagger Significant difference from M1 to M3 (p<0.05); \ddagger Significant difference from M2 to M3 (p<0.05)

%BF, trunk fat, lean mass, lower-body flexibility, lower-body strength, and upper-body strength, respectively. Adopting α =0.05 with a power of 0.99 agility/balance demonstrated an effect size f of 0.557. Adopting α =0.05 with a power of 0.191, upper-body flexibility demonstrated an effect size f of 0.20. Finally, adopting α =0.05 with a power of 0.54 aerobic fitness obtained an effect size f of 0.24. These results from the post hoc power analysis demonstrate that this sample size of 19 subjects (adopting α =0.05) was large enough to detect medium to large effects in almost all outcomes (with the exception of Upper-body flexibility and Aerobic fitness).

DISCUSSION

The main findings of this pilot study are that a simple and feasible moderate-intensity walking program has beneficial and significant effects on older women's lower body muscular endurance and blood pressure (SBP and DBP). Walking is a popular form of moderate-intensity physical activity that has been linked with many health benefits (34). Despite the epidemiologically strong evidence, only a few experimental studies have observed the effects of moderate-intensity walking on older women's functional fitness, body composition and resting blood pressure.

Similar to other investigations (42), the present study demonstrated that thirty minutes of moderateintensity walking, three times/week was able to improve important components of physical fitness, namely, muscular endurance in the lower limbs. This is of importance since greater age-related declines in muscle strength of the lower extremities compared to the upper extremities have been described in previous studies (9, 27). Moreover, deficits in lower limb strength, muscular endurance and power are closely related to functional limitations (10), such as impairments to the ability to walk (5), getting in and out of a chair, the speed of climbing steps, and the number of falls in older adults (10). Besides this important fitness improvement, no statistically significant differences were found in the other physical fitness components evaluated.

Many studies have demonstrated that endurance training is effective in improving fitness (19, 34, 37, 47). However, these studies differ from the present one in many aspects such as the subjects' age (34, 47) and gender (41), volume and/or intensity of training (19, 34, 37) and the type of exercise (47). In this way, the lack of significant improvements in those functional fitness components after walking training could be due to different reasons: (i) lack of specificity of the stimulus for these components and (ii) the relatively high conditioning of the sample before the start of the training period. Moreover, concerning aerobic fitness, Kervio et al. (23) observed a learning effect (increase of ~21m) between the first and second six minute walk test trials. These authors highlighted the necessity of a familiarization to the six minute walk test, intending to limit the skill effect in healthy elderly subjects. The American Thoracic Society also suggested in its Institutional Guidelines for the six minute walk test an extra trial to minimize intraday variability (2). The authors strongly believe that this was the main reason besides the improvement (non significant) in the six minute walk test between M1 and M2 and the lack of significant improvement between M2 and M3. Unfortunately, extra trials were not performed in this pilot study. But, authors strongly recommend that next researchers adopt at least an extra trial before the real six minute walk test has
been conducted.

Results show a gradual decrease in SBP and DBP across the eight months. The not expected (and non significant) differences observed in blood pressure between M1 and M2 could be attributed to the "White coat effect". This term refers to an alert reaction which increases basal blood pressure in some individuals (43). The white coat hypertension is a common finding in the population at large (35) but the difference between clinic and ambulatory blood pressure seems to be more pronounced in older patients (1). Generally, the white coat effect occurs in clinical settings but it also happens in response to the environment of the measurement (35). Once, since the subjects did not know the place and the evaluators at baseline, it is not uncommon to observe some kind of nervous and anxiety. Finally, we want to reinforce that the difference in SBP between M2 and M3 was about -12mmHg, almost twice the difference observed between M1 and M2 (7mmHg). The authors do not believe that such a decrease in blood pressure (12mmHg) would happen if no interventions (i.e., exercise, diet or medication change) were implemented. Subjects did not refer any change in medication during the eight months and they attested that they did not alter their nutritional habits. Thus, their changes in exercising habits seem to be the plausible mechanism to lower blood pressure levels between M2 and M3. In agreement with this idea, previous studies (21, 42) described a decrease in SBP and DBP after training. Increased SBP and decreased DBP are characteristic of an aging population (8). On the other hand, as observed in our study, exercise seems to counter-act these age-related alterations, especially on SBP (32-33). Although the mechanisms underlying the lowering effect of exercise on SBP are not fully understood, neuro-hormonal (7, 36), structural (vascular remodelling and angiogenesis) and functional vascular adaptations were recently proposed as possible mechanisms (36). As functional adaptations, it was suggested that aerobic training may possibly: (i) reduce sympathetic nervous activity and the subsequent release of norepinephrine (7), (ii) lower endothelin-1 levels (28), and (iii) increase nitric oxide production (38, 40), together, therefore, reducing vasoconstriction and peripheral vascular resistance (7, 29).

However, despite the fact that the depressor effect of exercise on BP has been attributed to factors such as body composition, many studies (32-33), such as the present study, suggest that, independent of body weight and/or adiposity changes, exercise is effective in lowering BP. Nevertheless, some studies have found significant weight or body fat reductions (19, 41); the majority of them found, as in the present study, minimal (18, 37) or no changes at all

(24, 33). These studies, which reported significant changes in body composition, had a greater training volume (≥3 hours/week) and duration (28-52weeks) than ours. Furthermore, although subjects were instructed to maintain their normal dietary routines throughout the protocol period, this was not strictly controlled. So, it is possible that the participants in our study increased their energy intake in response to the energy demands of exercise training. Although the walking program could not improve body composition, upper body muscular endurance, aerobic endurance, upper and lower body flexibility, dynamic balance and agility in a statistical way, the fact that it could potentially attenuate the decrease in fitness and the increase in body fat mass observed in normal aging merits attention.

The major limitations of this pilot study are: (i) the lack of extra trials before the "true" six minute walk test; (ii) the lack of concurrent measures of dietary habits and food consumption; (iii) self-reported physical activity is a subjective measure that may have been influenced by cognitive status and perceived mastery (44); (iv) our study population was small and limited to healthy old women and thus cannot be considered representative of a normal aging population; and finally (v) there was no separate or randomized control group. Hence the change in the outcomes cannot be fully attributed to the walking intervention.

Considering the above-mentioned limitations, the findings of this pilot study lead us to conclude that a moderate-intensity walking program can improve lower limb muscular endurance and can lower blood pressure. However, for future research, we recommend a larger sample, the use of different intensities and duration protocols, and an investigation of other outcomes related to CVD risk factors in order to make a stronger relationship and between exercise more favourable cardiovascular health in community-dwelling older women possible.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The author would like to thank to the volunteers in this study. Without their selfless contribution this study would not have been possible. Grants from the Portuguese Foundation for Science and Technology (FCOMP-01-0124-FEDER-009606 - PTDC/DES/108780/2008 and SFRH/BD/33124/2007) supported this research.

REFRENCES

- 1. Amado P, Vasconcelos N, Santos I, Almeida L, Nazare J, Amado P, Vasconcetos N, Santos I, Aimeida L, Nazare J, and Carmona J. Arterial hypertension difficult to control in the elderly patient. The significance of the "white coat effect". Rev Port Cardiol 1999; 18: 897-906. ATS. ATS Statement: Guidelines for the Six-Minute Walk
- Test. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2002; 166: 111-117.
- Mancia G, De Backer G, Dominiczak A, Cifkova R, Fagard R, Germano G, Grassi G, Heagerty AM, Kjeldsen SE, Laurent S, Narkiewicz K, Ruilope L, Rynkiewicz A, Schmieder RE, Struijker Boudier HA, Zanchetti A, Vahanian A, Camm J, De Caterina R, Dean V, Dickstein K, SD, McGregor K, Sechten U, Silber S, Tendera M, Widimsky P, Zamorano JL, Kjeldsen SE, Erdine S, Widimsky P, Zamorano JL, Kjeldsen SE, Erdine S, Narkiewicz K, Kiowski W, Agabiti-Rosei E, Ambrosioni E, Cifkova R, Dominiczak A, Fagard R, Heagerty AM, Laurent S, Lindholm LH, Mancia G, Manolis A, Nilsson PM, Redon J, Schmieder RE, Struijker-Boudier HA, Viigimaa M, Filippatos G, Adamopoulos S, Agabiti-Rosei E, Ambrosioni E, Bertomeu V, Clement D, Erdine S, Farsang C, Gaita D, Kiowski W, Lip G, Mallion JM, Manolis AJ, Nilsson PM, O'Brien E, Ponikowski P, Redon J, Ruschitzka F, Tamargo J, van Zwieten P, Viigimaa M, Waeber B, Williams B, Zamorano JL, The task force for the management of arterial hypertension of the Furorean management of arterial hypertension of the European Society of Hypertension, The task force for the management of arterial hypertension of the European Society of Cardiology. 2007 Guidelines for the management of arterial hypertension: The Task Force for the Management of Arterial Hypertension of the European Society of Hypertension (ESH) and of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC). Eur Heart J 2007; 28: 1462-1536.
- Baecke JAH, Burema J, and Frijters JER. A short questionnaire for the measurement of habitual physical
- activity in epidemiological studies. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition 1982, 36. 936-942. Bassey E, Fiatarone M, O'Neill E, Kelly M, Evans W, and Lipsitz L. Leg extensor power and functional performance in very old men and women. Clin Sci (Lond) 1992; 82: 321-
- Baumans I, Lambert M, and Mets T. The six-minute walk test in community dwelling elderly: influence of health status. BMC Geriatr 2004; 4: 6. 6.
- status. BMC Genatr 2004; 4: 6. Ben-Sira D, and Oliveira JMF. Hypertension in aging: physical activity as primary prevention. Eur Rev Aging Phys Act 2007; 4: 85-89. Blacher J, and Safar M. Specific aspects of high blood pressure in the elderly. Journal of Renin-Angiotensin-Aldosterone System 2002; 3: S10-S15. 8
- Bohannon R. Reference values for extremity muscle strength obtained by hand-held dynamometry from adults aged 20 to 79 years. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 1997; 78: 26-32. 9
- Brandon LJ, Gaasch DA, Boyette LW, and Lloyd AM. Effects of Long-Term Resistive Training on Mobility and Strength in Older Adults With Diabetes. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2003; 58: M740 M745.
- 11. Carnethon MR, Gulati M, and Greenland P. Prevalence and Cardiovascular Disease Correlates of Low Cardiorespiratory Fitness in Adolescents and Adults. JAMA 2005; 294: 2981-2988
- CDC. Prevalence of No Leisure-Time Physical Activity-35 States and the District of Columbia, 1988-2002. JAMA 2004; 291: 1693-1694.
- De Backer G, Ambrosioni E, Borch-Johnsen K, Brotons C, Cifkova R, Dallongeville J, Ebrahim S, Faergeman O, Graham I, Mancia G, Manger Cats V, Orth-Gomér K, Perk J, Pyörälä K, Rodicio JL, Sans S, Sansoy V, Sechtem U, Silber S, Thomsen T, Wood D; Third Joint Task Force of European and Other Societies on Cardiovascular Disease Provention in Clinical Practicas European guidelings on Prevention in Clinical Practice. European guidelines on cardiovascular disease prevention in clinical practice: Third Joint Task Force of European and other Societies on Cardiovascular Disease Prevention in Clinical Practice. Eur Heart J 2003; 24: 1601-1610.
- 14. Dobek JC, White KN, and Gunter KB. The effect of a novel ADL-based training program on performance of activities of daily living and physical fitness. J Aging Phys Act 2007; 15-13-25
- Dvorak RV, Tchernof A, Starling RD, Ades PA, DiPietro L, and Pochlman ET. Respiratory Fitness, Free Living Physical

Activity, and Cardiovascular Disease Risk in Older Individuals: A Doubly Labeled Water Study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2000; 85: 957-963.
16. Fatouros I, Taxildaris K, Tokmakidis S, Kalapotharakos V,

- Aggelousis N, Athanasopoulos S, Zeeris I, and Katrabasas I. The effects of strength training, cardiovascular training and their combination on flexibility of inactive older adults. Int J Sports Med 2002; 23: 112-119.
- Faul F, Erdfelder E, Lang A-G, and Buchner A. G*power 3: A flexible statistical power analysis program for the social, behavioral, and biomedical sciences. Behavior Research
- Methods 2007; 39: 175-191.
 18. Ferrara CM, Goldberg AP, Ortmeyer HK, and Ryan AS. Effects of Aerobic and Resistive Exercise Training on Glucose Disposal and Skeletal Muscle Metabolism in Older Men. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2006; 61: 480-487.
- Goulet E, Melancon M, Dionne I, Aubertin-Leheudre M, and Aubertin Leheudre M. No sustained effect of aerobic or
- Aubertin Leheudre M. No sustained effect of aerobic or resistance training on insulin sensitivity in nonobese, healthy older women. J Aging Phys Act 2005; 13: 314-326.
 20 Gregg EW, Cauley JA, Stone K, Thompson TJ, Bauer DC, Cummings SR, and Ensrud KE. Relationship of Changes in Physical Activity and Mortality Among Older Women. JAMA 2003; 289: 2379-2386.
 21. Jerome GJ, Glass TA, Mielke M, Xue Q-L, Andersen RE, and Fried LP. Physical Activity Participation by Presence and Type of Functional Deficits in Older Women: The Women's Health and Aging Studies. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2006; 61: 1171-1176.
 22. Kelly TL, Berger N and Richardson TL, DXA body.
- Kelly TL, Berger N, and Richardson TL. DXA body composition: theory and practice. Appl Radiat Isot 1998; 49: 511-513.
- Kervio G, Carre F, and Ville NS. Reliability and intensity of the six-minute walk test in healthy elderly subjects. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2003; 35: 169-174.
- Kohrt WM, Obert KA, and Holloszy JO. Exercise Training Improves Fat Distribution Patterns in 60-to 70-year-old Men and Women. J Gerontol 1992, 47. M99-M105.
- 25. Lakatta EG, and Levy D. Arterial and Cardiac Aging: Major Shareholders in Cardiovascular Disease Enterprises: Part I: Aging Arteries: A "Set Up" for Vascular Disease. Circulation 2003; 107: 139-146.
- JT. The predictive value of cardiorespiratory fitness for cardiovascular events in men with various risk profiles: a 26 prospective population-based cohort study. Eur Heart J 2004; 25: 1428-1437.
- Lynch NA, Metter EJ, Lindle RS, Fozard JL, Tobin JD, Roy TA, Fleg JL, and Hurley BF. Muscle quality. I Age-associated differences between arm and leg muscle groups.
- associated differences between arm and leg muscle groups. J Appl Physiol 1999; 86: 188-194.
 28. Maeda S, Tanabe T, Miyauchi T, Otsuki T, Sugawara J, Iemitsu M, Kuno S, Ajisaka R, Yamaguchi I, and Matsuda M. Aerobic exercise training reduces plasma endothelin-1 land the second burger J. Acad. Durich 2002; 06: concentration in older women. J Appl Physiol 2003; 95: 336-341
- 29. Maeda S, Tanabe T, Otsuki T, Sugawara J, Iemitsu M, Miyauchi T, Kuno S, Ajisaka R, and Matsuda M. Moderate regular exercise increases basal production of nitric oxide in elderly women. Hypertens Res 2004; 27: 947-953. 30. McMurray RG, Ainsworth BE, Harrell JS, Griggs TR, and
- Williams OD. Is physical activity or aerobic power more influential on reducing cardiovascular disease risk factors? Med Sci Sports Exerc 1998; 30: 1521-1529.
- Melzer I, Benjuya N, and Kaplanski J. Effects of regular walking on postural stability in the elderly. Gerontology 2003; 49: 240-245.
- 2003; 49: 240-245.
 Moreau K, Degarmo R, Langley J, McMahon C, Howley E, Bassett D, and Thompson D. Increasing daily walking lowers blood pressure in postmenopausal women. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2001; 33: 1825-1831.
 Motoyama M, Sunami Y, Kinoshita F, Kiyonaga A, Tanaka H, Shindo M, Irie T, Urata H, Sasaki J, and Arakawa K. Dhode userum effort of them interformer annihol.
- Blood pressure lowering effect of low intensity aerobic training in elderly hypertensive patients. Med Sci Sports Exerc 1998; 30: 818-823.
 34. Murphy MH, and Hardman AE. Training effects of short and
- long bouts of brisk walking in sedentary women. Med Sci Sports Exerc 1998; 30: 152-157. Owens P, Atkins N, and O'Brien E. Diagnosis of White Coat
- Hypertension by Ambulatory Blood Pressure Monitoring. Hypertension 1999; 34: 267-272.

Arch Exerc Health Dis 1 (2):50-57

- Pescatello LS, Franklin BA, Fagard R, Farquhar WB, Kelley GA, and Ray CA. American College of Sports Medicine position stand. Exercise and hypertension. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2004; 36: 533-553.
 Ready AE, Naimark B, Ducas J, Sawatzky JV, Boreskie SL,
- Drinkwater DT, and Oosterveen S. Influence of walking volume on health benefits in women post-menopause. Med Sci Sports Exerc 1996; 28: 1097-1105. 38. Rikli RE, and Jessie JC. Functional Fitness Normative Scores
- for Community-Residing Older Adults, Ages 60-94. Journal
- Rikli RE, and Jones CJ. Development and Validation of a Functional Fitness Test for Community-Residing Older Adults. Journal of Aging and Physical Activity 1999; 7: 1200 161 129-161
- Rosamond W, Flegal K, Friday G, Furie K, Go A, Greenlund K, Haase N, Ho M, Howard V, Kissela B, Kittner S, Lloyd-Jones D, McDermott M, Meigs J, Moy C, Nichol G, O'Donnell CJ, Roger V, Rumsfeld J, Sorlie P, Steinberger J, Thom T, Wasserthiel-Smoller S, Hong Y, for the American Heart Association Statistics C, and Stroke Statistics S. Heart Disease and Stroke Statistics--2007 Update: A Report From the American Heart Association Statistics Committee and Stroke Statistics Subcommittee. Circulation 2007; 115: e69e171

- 41. Sidney K, Shephard R, and Harrison J. Endurance training and body composition of the elderly. Am J Clin Nutr 1977; 30: 326-333.
- 42. Simons R, and Andel R. The Effects of Resistance Training and Walking on Functional Fitness in Advanced Old Age. J Aging Health 2006; 18: 91-105.
- 43. Strandberg TE, and Salomaa V. White coat effect, blood pressure and mortality in men: prospective cohort study. European Heart Journal 2000; 21: 1714-1718.
- European Heart Journal 2000; 21: 1714-1718.
 Visser M, Goodpaster BH, Kritchevsky SB, Newman AB, Nevitt M, Rubin SM, Simonsick EM, Harris TB, and for the Health ABCS. Muscle Mass, Muscle Strength, and Muscle Fat Infiltration as Predictors of Incident Mobility Limitations in Well-Functioning Older Persons. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2005; 60: 324-333.
 Voorrips LE, Ravelli AC, Dongelmans PC, Deurenberg P, end Vine Startsen WA. A charged activity curcinomating for
- voonps Le, Ravein AC, Dongennans PC, Deutenberg P, and Van Staveren WA. A physical activity questionnaire for the elderly. Med Sci Sports Exerc 1991; 23: 974-979.
 WHO (2002). Physical activity through transport as part of daily activities: including special focus on children and older people. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europa Europe.
- Europe. 47. Wilmore JH, Stanforth PR, Gagnon J, Rice T, Mandel S, Leon AS, Rao DC, Skinner JS, and Bouchard C. Heart rate and blood pressure changes with endurance training: the HERITAGE Family Study. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2001; 33: 107-116

CHAPTER IV

STUDY II

Six-minute walk distance (6MWD) is associated with body fat, systolic blood pressure, and rate-pressure product in community-dwelling elderly subjects

Flávia Accioly Canuto Wanderley¹, José Oliveira¹, Jorge Mota¹, Maria Joana Carvalho¹

¹ Research Center in Physical Activity, Health and Leisure, Faculty of Sport Sciences, University of Porto, Portugal

Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics 52 (2011) 206-210



Six-minute walk distance (6MWD) is associated with body fat, systolic blood pressure, and rate-pressure product in community dwelling elderly subjects

Flávia Accioly Canuto Wanderley*, José Oliveira, Jorge Mota, Maria Joana Carvalho

Research Center in Physical Activity, Health and Leisure, Faculty of Sport Sciences, University of Porto, Rua Dr. Plácido Costa, 91, 4200-450 Porto, Portugal

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 24 November 2009 Received in revised form 22 March 2010 Accepted 24 March 2010 Available online 20 April 2010

Keywords: Six-minute walk distance (6MWD) Risk factors in old age Cardiovascular fitness Field test

ABSTRACT

This study aimed to determine if aerobic fitness assessed by 6MWD is able to predict resting cardiovascular function and cardiovascular disease risk factors (CVDRF). One hundred and five old individuals were analyzed: aerobic fitness (6MWD), body composition (DXA), blood pressure (BP), resting heart rate (HR_{rest}) and rate-pressure product (RPP_{rest}) were evaluated. Pearson correlation analysis was used to assess the relationship between 6MWD, resting cardiovascular function and CVDRF. To examine the shared variance between 6MWD, cardiac function, and CVDRF, linear regression analyses were employed. Inverse associations were observed between 6MWD and age (r = -0.405; p < 0.001), percent body fat (%BF) (r = -0.472; p < 0.001), trunk fat (r = -0.234; p = 0.020), systolic blood pressure (SBP) (r = -0.307; p = 0.002), HR_{rest} (r = -0.248; p = 0.013), and RPP_{rest} (r = -0.400; p < 0.001). In simple linear regressions, except the diastolic blood pressure (DBP), the 6MWD correlated (0.001 $\ge p \le 0.020$) with all investigated parameters. When models were adjusted (for age and sex), the 6MWD remained associated with %BF (p < 0.001), SBP ($0.002 \ge p \le 0.009$) and RPP_{rest} ($0.001 \ge p \le 0.002$). Our study reinforces the idea that a worse cardiovascular profile is related with lower fitness. Furthermore, it supports the potential of 6MWD to identify adverse outcomes such as %BF, increased SBP and higher RPP_{rest} in older adults.

© 2010 Elsevier Ireland Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

Cardiovascular disease (CVD) and its related comorbidities remain a significant and growing public health problem, especially in older individuals (Pilote et al., 2007). Recent emphasis has been placed on the understanding of risk factors role for CVD progression and in predicting CVD morbidity and mortality (Christou et al., 2005). Several prospective studies have found an interaction of many factors associated with aging that may contribute to the high prevalence of CVD observed in older adults. These factors include increased general and central adiposity, decreased physical activity, and progressive arterial stiffening (Going et al., 1994; Guo et al., 1999; Luuk and Pihl, 2003; Pescatello et al., 2004). Since an increased number of older adults are becoming inactive and unfit, this knowledge is paramount for the implementation of effective public health policy, prevention strategies, and patient management.

Aging and/or inactivity leads to increased arterial stiffness that could explain increase in blood pressure (BP) levels and high prevalence of hypertension in old individuals. Hypertension is associated with an increased incidence of all-cause and CVD mortality and morbidity such as, stroke, coronary heart disease, and renal failure (Rosamond et al., 2007). In addition, it is well established that fatness is closely related to other metabolic risk factors and contribute largely to CVD prevalence in elderly subjects (Going et al., 1994; Williams et al., 1997; Sardinha et al., 2000).

Although many studies have examined the association between aerobic fitness with blood pressure, and adiposity, only few have specifically targeted older subjects (Reaven et al., 1991; Dvorak et al., 2000; Krause et al., 2007). Therefore, a clear need exists to determine whether aerobic fitness contributes to CVDRF in older adults.

Age-related increases on SBP and heart rate at rest (HR_{rest}) are expected to impair cardiovascular function. This impairment could be observed as an increase on resting myocardial oxygen demand (Czernin et al., 1993). It has been observed that rate-pressure product at rest (RPP_{rest}), considered as the best indirect method to measure myocardial oxygen consumption (May and Nagle, 1984), increases with age. However, this increase in RPP_{rest} was suggested to be ascribed to a more sedentary lifestyle observed in the older population (Czernin et al., 1995) and it is not a merely result of aging per se. Therefore, it is possible that fitter older individuals have a decreased myocardial oxygen demand at rest when compared with their less fit peers.

The available data reporting the importance of aerobic fitness in elderly subjects to specific CVDRF and resting cardiovascular

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +351 22 507 47 85; fax: +351 22 550 06 89. E-mail address: flaviacanuto@gmail.com (F.A.C. Wanderley).

^{0167-4943/\$ -} see front matter © 2010 Elsevier Ireland Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.archger.2010.03.020

function are equivocal (Christou et al., 2005). Among others, these conflicting results are likely to be attributable to the different methodologies used to evaluate older population. In fact, the great majority of epidemiological studies had used less accurate anthropometric estimates such as, skin folds, body mass index (BMI) and bioimpedance, to assess fatness, underestimating, therefore, body fat content (Bemben et al., 1998) and confounding the true relationship between fatness and aerobic fitness. Furthermore, although VO_{2max} protocols are widely used to access aerobic fitness as an important predictor for CVD-mortality (Laukkanen et al., 2004), it was observed that one in five older adults is unable to perform the classical laboratory tests (Bautmans et al., 2004). On the other hand, the 6MWD-test is a simple, safe, low-cost valid and reliable (ICC = 0.93, test-retest reliability = -0.71 < r > 0.82) alternative tool (Rikli and Jones, 1998; Kervio et al., 2003; Bautmans et al., 2004) to evaluate fitness at levels corresponding to the efforts commonly performed in daily-life activities by elderly (Bautmans et al., 2004). Accordingly, the purpose of the present study was to verify if aerobic fitness assessed by this simple functional test is able to predict cardiovascular function at rest and CVD risk factors.

2. Subjects and methods

2.1. Subjects

One hundred and five independent community-dwelling subjects in the age range of 61–85 years were recruited in the Porto area through advertisements in newspapers. At the screening, participants completed a health history questionnaire to record past and present conditions. The exclusion criteria were the following: registered blindness, severe hearing impairment, uncontrolled hypertension or diabetes, symptomatic cardiorespiratory disease, severe renal or hepatic disease, uncontrolled epilepsy, progressive neurological disease, chronic disabling arthritis. The nature, benefits, and risks of the study were explained to the volunteers, and their written informed consent was obtained before the study, consistent with the Helsinki Declaration and all methods and procedures were approved by the Institutional Scientific Board.

2.2. Weight, height, and body composition

Body weight was measured to the nearest 0.1 kg with an electronic weight scale (SECA 708). Subjects were weighed barefoot wearing light clothing. Height was measured to the nearest 1 mm with a standard stadiometer. Body composition was determined using a Dual-energy X-ray Absorptiometry (DXA, Hologic QDR-4500, software for windows XP, version 12.4) with subjects in the supine position. All total body scans were analyzed by the same investigator and provided measures of %BF and trunk fat (kg). The principles behind body composition analyses with DXA are explained elsewhere (Kelly et al., 1998).

2.3. Resting BP and heart rate (HR_{rest})

Resting BP and HR were measured by an automated blood pressure monitor (Colin, DP 8800). After being 15 min at supine rest in a quiet, temperature-controlled room, BP measurements were taken with the subjects seated in an upright position with the arm comfortably placed at heart level. Average of three measures for SBP, DBP, and HR entered as data. The analyses were conducted between 8:00 and 11:00 am, by the same investigator. Rate-pressure product (RPP = HR × SBP, arbitrary units), a good predictor of myocardial oxygen demand (Overend et al., 2000) was also calculated.

2.4. Assessment of aerobic fitness

Aerobic fitness was assessed using the 6MWD-test which is a commonly used physical performance measure in research (Lord and Menz, 2002) specially to obtain valid measures of submaximal (80% VO_{2max}) physical endurance in older adults (Rikli and Jones, 1998; Kervio et al., 2003). This test measures the distance covered when subjects are instructed to walk as quickly as they can for 6 min. Walks were conducted in a flat 50-m rectangular course, marked off in 5-m segments. If necessary, subjects were allowed to stop and rest.

2.5. Statistical analysis

Descriptive statistics (mean \pm S.D.) were computed for the following variables: age, weight, height, %BF, trunk fat, HR_{rest}, RPP_{rest}. SBP, DBP, and cardiovascular fitness. The Kolmogorov–Smirnov test of normality was used to determine that the distribution of the sample data was parametric. For gender comparisons the Mann–Whitney *U*-test was used. To assess the relationship between performance in 6MWD-test and CVD risk factors (measures of body composition, SBP, DBP) and resting cardiovascular function (HR, RPP) the Pearson correlation coefficients were used. To examine the predictive value of the 6MWD, wherever risk factors and resting cardiovascular parameters related with performance on the 6MWD-test, simple linear regression analyses, and multiple regression analyses adjusting for age, gender, and age plus gender were employed. In these analyses, the performance in the 6MWD-test, measures of %BF, trunk fat, SBP, DBP, HR_{rest}, and RPP_{rest} were entered as continuous data.

All analyses were performed using the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS, version 17) for Windows. The p < 0.05level of probability was accepted as statistical significant for all analyses.

3. Results

A total of 105 Caucasian old-aged subjects, 78 women (68.9 ± 5.5 years) and 27 men (69.1 ± 5.1 years), volunteered to participate in this study. On this sample, both men (27.9 ± 5.1%) and women (38.7 ± 3.6%) had high body fat content, their mean blood pressure was 137.6 ± 15.7 mmHg for SBP and 74.0 ± 8.1 mmHg for DBP, classified as borderline hypertensive subjects. As expected, men were taller (p < 0.001), heavier (p < 0.001) and fitter (p = 0.001) than women, and on the other hand, women were fatter (p < 0.001) than men. No gender differences were observed on BP neither on HR_{rest}. Characteristics of study sample and gender-specific mean ± S.D. for age, weight, height, body composition variables, blood pressure, HR_{rest}, RPP_{rest}, and cardiovascular fitness are summarized in Table 1.

Older individuals showed poor performance in the 6MWD-test since aerobic fitness was significantly and inversely associated

Table 1				
Descriptive characteristics	of	study	sample,	$mean \pm S.D.$

Parameters	Older adults	Female	Male
Number	105	78	27
Age (years)	68.9 ± 5.4	68.9 ± 5.6	69.1 ± 5.1
Weight (kg)	69.6 ± 13.1	$66.2 \pm 9.5^{*}$	$79.6 \pm 16.7^{*}$
Height (m)	1.57 ± 0.8	$1.53 \pm 0.06^{*}$	$1.68 \pm 0.05^{*}$
%BF	$\textbf{35.9} \pm \textbf{6.9}$	$38.7 \pm 3.6^{*}$	$27.9 \pm 5.1^{*}$
Trunk fat (kg)	11.71 ± 3.7	$12.1 \pm 3.6^{*}$	$10.3 \pm 3.9^{*}$
Resting SBP (mmHg)	137.6 ± 15.7	138.7 ± 16.4	134.5 ± 13.1
Resting DBP (mmHg)	74.0 ± 8.1	73.8 ± 8.9	74.8 ± 5.8
HR _{rest} (bpm)	66.7 ± 9.8	67.5 ± 9.5	64.6 ± 10.4
RPP _{rest} (arbitrary units)	91713 ± 1612.7	9341.5 ± 1613.7	8685.8 ± 1536.5
6MWD (m)	$\textbf{537.8} \pm \textbf{78.9}$	$521.7 \pm 71.5^{*}$	$584.2 \pm 82.6^{*}$

Significant differences between genders (p < 0.05)

Variables dependent	Model A independent	Model B independent	Model C independent	Model D independent
%BF	6MWD [*] : 21.4 [*]	6MWD [*] : 31.0 [*] Age [*]	6MWD [*] : 51.4 [*] Sex [*]	6MWD*: 53.5* Age* Sex*
Trunk fat (kg)	6MWD [*] : 4.5 [*]	6MWD [*] : 10.0 [*] Age [*]	6MWD: 5.3 [*] Sex	6MWD*: 9.2* Age* Sex
SBP (mmHg)	6MWD [*] : 8.5 [*]	6MWD [*] : 7.6 [*] Age	6MWD [*] : 7.6 [*] Sex	6MWD [*] : 6.6 [*] Age Sex
DBP (mmHg)	6MWD: 4.0	6MWD: 8.6 [°] Age	6MWD: 9.0 Sex	6MWD [*] : 9.9 [*] Age [*] Sex
HR _{rest} (bpm)	6MWD: 5.2 [*]	6MWD: 5.9 Age	6MWD: 4.5 [°] Sex	6MWD: 4.0 Age Sex
RPP _{rest}	6MWD [*] : 15.1 [*]	6MWD [*] : 14.2 [*] Age	6MWD [*] : 14.5 [*] Sex	6MWD [*] : 14.0 [*] Age Sex

Table 2 Percentual amount of variance (R,%) in risk factors explained by the models: unadjusted and adjusted for age and sex.

^{*} Significant differences at p < 0.05.

with age (r = -0.405; p < 0.001). Inverse associations were also observed between 6MWD and %BF (r = -0.472; p < 0.001), trunk fat (r = -0.234; p = 0.020), SBP (r = -0.307; p = 0.002), HR_{rest} (r = -0.248; p = 0.013), and RPP_{rest} (r = -0.400; p < 0.001), meaning that fitter individuals have lower CVD risk profile as well as lower resting cardiovascular function. No association was found between 6MWD and weight (r = -0.071; p = 0.481) neither between 6MWD and DBP (r = -0.062; p = 0.541). Data from simple linear regression showed that 6MWD was significantly $(0.001 \ge p \le 0.020)$ associated with cardiovascular function at rest and all cardiovascular risk factors included in this study, with the exception of the DBP (p = 0.541). Additionally, multiple linear regression models showed that even when adjusted for age, sex, as well as age and sex together, the 6MWD remained significantly associated with %BF (p < 0.001), SBP ($0.002 \ge r \le 0.009$), RPP_{rest} $(0.001 \ge r \le 0.002)$. The 6MWD alone explained 21.4% (p < 0.001), 4.5% (p = 0.02), 8.5% (p = 0.002), 5.2% (p = 0.013) and 15.1% (p < 0.001) of %BF, trunk fat, SBP, HR_{rest} and RPP_{rest} variance, respectively. Inserting age and sex in models increased to 53.5% (p < 0.001) the %BF variance explained by the model and to 9.2% (p = 0.007) the trunk fat variance. On the other hand, their inclusion diminished the total SBP (6.6%; p = 0.023) and RPP_{rest} (14.0%; p = 0.001) variance explained by the models. The total amount of variance explained by the models is shown in Table 2.

4. Discussion

In this study, it was demonstrated that in community-dwelling older adults, (1) 6MWD is associated with age, %BF, trunk fat, SBP, HR_{rest}, and RPP_{rest}; (2) 6MWD is able to identify individuals with high %BF, SBP, and RPP_{rest}, even after adjusting for age and sex.

Our results confirm the hypothesis that aerobic fitness is associated with several important cardiovascular risk factors and function. This kind of associations is generally investigated in middle-aged adults (Tulppo et al., 2003; Christou et al., 2005; Rankinen et al., 2007). For example, on HYPGENE cohort (Rankinen et al., 2007), aerobic fitness showed the strongest association with hypertension risk, each increment in fitness level was associated with 19% reductions on SBP. In another study (Carnethon et al., 2005), SBP was higher in subjects in the lowest fitness category, additionally it was also demonstrated consistent inverse associations between fitness. BMI and waist circumference. In middle age group associations between predicted VO_{2max} and %BF (-0.390 $\leq r \geq -0.590$), SBP (-0.360 $\leq r \geq -0.640$), HR (-0.380 $\leq r \geq -0.600$), and RPP (-0.320 $\leq r \geq -0.640$) were observed (Suzuki et al., 1998). Despite differences in age groups, the magnitude of these associations is very close to ours.

In agreement with our results, it was previously demonstrated that changes in aerobic fitness are positively associated with changes in cardiovascular function (Stewart et al., 2006). One possible explanation for this relationship is that an imbalance in the autonomic nervous system in favor of the sympathetic system, increases myocardial contractility, leading to a higher HR (Sajadieh et al., 2004), BP(Cook et al., 2006) and to an increased cardiac work load. Conversely, aerobic exercise training seems to increase parasympathetic tone and the withdrawal of sympathetic activity (Czernin et al., 1995), which is translated by a decrease in resting HR and BP (Iwasaki et al., 2003) and RPP_{rest} (May and Nagle, 1984). Recently (Kokkinos et al., 2007), it was observed that even moderate improvements in aerobic fitness achieved by moderate intensity physical activity can improve hemodynamic and cardiac performance and reduce the work of the left ventricle. To the best of our knowledge, only one study (Dvorak et al., 2000) targeting the associations between cardiovascular fitness and risk factors on older adults, demonstrated that older individuals with higher aerobic fitness were younger (p < 0.001), had lower %BF (p < 0.001), and trunk fat mass (p < 0.001) which is in agreement with our findings (Dvorak et al., 2000). Considering that aging is accompanied by increases in body fat content and taking into account the close relationship between body fat, in special, central fatness, with other metabolic CVD risk factors (Williams et al., 1997; Krause et al., 2007), this study support evidence on the importance of develop aerobic fitness in old populations.

Many studies have also attributed predictive value to aerobic fitness for CVD risk factors. For example, it was demonstrated (Laukkanen et al., 2004) that a given 1 MET increment in the VO_{2peak} reduces the risk of non-fatal coronary events and coronary deaths. It was also observed (McMurray et al., 1998) that individuals with low VO_{2max} increased their relative risk ratios (RR = 0.078; confidence interval = CI = 0.057–0.106) to be obses and hypertensive (RR = 0.119; CI = 0.065–0.220) when compared with fit individuals. However, besides middle-age sampling, the assessment of aerobic fitness in these cases used VO_{2max} as outcome, during maximal exercise testing. This procedure is

expensive and time consuming, and, in many times, not feasible to apply in older adults (Bautmans et al., 2004). On the other hand, the 6MWD-test has been suggested as an alternative to cardiopulmonary exercise testing (Rostagno et al., 2003).

The 6MWD-test was firstly used in clinical settings to evaluate cardiopulmonary capacity and function in chronic diseases such as heart failure (Rostagno et al., 2003), chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) (Pinto-Plata et al., 2004), and pulmonary hypertension (Miyamoto et al., 2000). Previous studies (Miyamoto et al., 2000; Rostagno et al., 2003; Pinto-Plata et al., 2004) consistently demonstrated that 6MWD is a useful prognostic marker of mortality in CVD and COPD patients. Gradually, due to be considered a simple, safe, inexpensive (Rostagno et al., 2003) and valid test, it became popular in other settings. Nowadys, it is widely used to assess functionality in older "healthy" adults. Despite its value in predicting risk factors on older community-dwelling adults.

Our study reinforces the idea that a worse cardiovascular profile, namely a higher %BF, trunk fat, SBP, is related with lower aerobic fitness in older adults. Moreover, it suggests that in older adults, elevated aerobic fitness levels are also correlated with a favorable cardiovascular function at rest. Therefore, supporting current guidelines, our results underline the need for the maintenance or improvement of aerobic fitness as a critical element for the overall strategy for reducing CVD risk. Thus, sedentary older individuals should be encouraged to enlarge their physical activity and improve their aerobic fitness, regardless of their age and sex.

Furthermore, our findings support the potential of 6MWD to identity adverse outcomes such as %BF, increased SBP and higher RPP_{rest} in community-dwelling older adults.

4.1. Study limitations

Some caution is warranted when interpreting the results of this study. First, the sample was comprised by volunteers and thus could not represent a randomized sample. In addition, considering that this is a cross-sectional study, it is not possible to provide evidences for causality from our results. Despite being an independent predictor for %BF, SBP and RPP_{rest}, the total variance explained for the 6MWD was modest. Finally, it is possible that 6MWD could better explain variability of other cardiovascular risk factors, not under investigation in the present study. So, although the key results provide some clue into the useful of 6MWD as CVD risk factor predictor in community-dwelling older subjects, additional evidence is needed tovalidate and build upon, along with other quantitative measures to address other outcomes related to CVD risk factors.

4.2. Strengths of the study

In spite of these criticisms, this study has several strengths including the investigation of a population ingreat risk for CVD, the valid and objective %BF assessment, and the use of an instrument which is, at the same time, practical and able to evaluate fitness at levels corresponding to efforts commonly performed by older individuals

Conflict of interest statement

None.

Acknowledgements

We thank M.S. Anelise Gaya, M.S. Gustavo Silva and M.S. Laetitia Teixeira for their statistical support, at the same time we extend our gratitude to all volunteers. This study was supported by the Foundation for Science and Technology (PTDC/DES/108780/2008; SFRH/BD/33124/2007).

References

- Bautmans, I., Lambert, M., Mets, T., 2004. The six-minute walk test in community dwelling elderly: influence of health status. BMC Geriatr. 4, 6.
- Bemben, M.G., Massey, E.H., Bemben, D.A., Boileau, R.A., Misner, J.E., 1998. Agerelated variability in body composition methods for assessment of percent fat and fat-free mass in men aged 20–74 years. Age Ageing 27, 147–153. Cernethon, M.R., Gulati, M., Greenland, P., 2005. Prevalence and cardiovascular
- Carnethon, M.K., Guati, M., Greenland, P., 2005. Prevalence and cardiovascular disease correlates of low cardiorespiratory fitness in adolescents and adults. J. Am. Med. Assoc. 294, 2981–2988.
- Christou, D.D., Gentile, C.L., DeSouza, C.A., Seals, D.R., Gates, P.E., 2005. Fatness is a better predictor of cardiovascular disease risk factor profile than aerobic fitness in healthy men. Circulation 111, 1904–1914.
- Cook, S., Togni, M., Schaub, M.C., Wenaweser, P., Hess, O.M., 2006. High heart rate: a cardiovascular risk factor? Eur. Heart J. 27, 2387–2393. Czernin, I., Muller, P., Chan, S., Brunken, R.C., Porenta, G., Krivokapich, I., Chen, K.,
- Carrini, J., Muller, F., Chan, S., Brunner, R.C., Porena, G., Mivokapich, J., Chen, A., Chan, A., Phelps, M.E., Schelbert, H.R., 1993. Influence of age and hemodynamics on myocardial blood flow and flow reserve. Circulation 88, 62–69.
- Czernin, J., Barnard, R.J., Sun, K.T., Krivokapich, J., Nitzsche, E., Dorsey, D., Phelps, M.E., Schelbert, H.R., 1995. Effect of short-term cardiovascular conditioning and low-fat diet on myocardial blood flow and flow reserve. Circulation 92, 197– 204.
- Dvorak, R.V., Tchernof, A., Starling, R.D., Ades, P.A., DiPietro, L., Poehlman, E.T., 2000. Respiratory fitness, free living physical activity, and cardiovascular disease risk in older individuals: adoubly labeled water study. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 85, 957–963.
- Going, S.B., Williams, D.P., Lohman, T.G., Hewitt, M.J., 1994. Aging, body composition, and physical activity: a review. J. Aging Phys. Act. 2, 38–66.
- Guo, S.S., Zeller, C., Chumlea, W.C., Siervogel, R.M., 1999. Aging, body composition, and lifestyle: the Fels Longitudinal Study. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 70, 405–411.
- Iwasaki, K., Zhang, R., Zuckerman, J.H., Levine, B.D., 2003. Dose-response relationship of the cardiovascular adaptation to endurance training in healthy adults: how much training for what benefit? J. Appl. Physiol. 95, 1575–1583. Kelly, T.L., Berger, N., Richardson, T.L., 1998. DXA body composition: theory and
- Kelly, T.L., Berger, N., Richardson, T.L., 1998. DXA body composition: theory and practice. Appl. Radiat. Isot. 49, 511–513.
- Kervio, G., Carre, F., Ville, N.S., 2003. Reliability and intensity of the six-minute walk test in healthy elderly subjects. Med. Sci. Sports Exerc. 35, 169–174.
- Kokkinos, P., Pittaras, A., Narayan, P., Faselis, C., Singh, S., Manolis, A., 2007. Exercise capacity and blood pressure associations with left ventricular mass in prehypertensive individuals. Hypertension 49, 55–61.
- Krause, M.P., Hallage, T., Gama, M.P., Goss, F.L., Robertson, R., Da Silva, S.G., 2007. Association of adiposity, cardiorespiratory fitness and exercise practice with the prevalence of type 2 diabetes in Brazilian elderly women. Int. J. Med. Sci. 4, 288– 292.
- Laukkanen, J.A., Kurl, S., Salonen, R., Rauramaa, R., Aalonen, J.T., 2004. The predictive value of cardiorespiratory fitness for cardiovascular events in men with various risk profiles: a prospective population-based cohort study. Eur. Heart J. 25, 1428–1437.
- Lord, S.R., Menz, H.B., 2002. Physiologic, psychologic, and health predictors of 6minute walk performance in older people. Arch. Phys. Med. Rehabil. 83, 907– 911.
- Luuk, M.-L., Pihl, E., 2003. Longitudinal changes in anthropometric and blood pressure variables in relation to physical activity in men: a 9-year follow-up. Anthropology 12, 145–153.
- May, G.A., Nagle, F.J., 1984. Changes in rate-pressure product with physical training of individuals with coronary artery disease. Phys. Ther. 64, 1361–1366.McMurray, R.G., Ainsworth, B.E., Harrell, J.S., Griggs, T.R., Williams, O.D., 1998. Is
- McMurray, R.G., Ainsworth, B.E., Harrell, J.S., Grggs, T.K., Williams, O.D., 1998. Is physical activity or aerobic power more influential on reducing cardiovascular disease risk factors? Med. Sci. Sports Exerc. 30, 1521–1529.Miyamoto, S., Nagaya, N., Satoh, T., Kyotani, S., Sakamaki, F., Fujita, M., Nakanishi, N.,
- Miyamoto, S., Nagaya, N., Satoh, T., Kyotani, S., Sakamaki, F., Fujita, M., Nakanishi, N., Miyatake, K., 2000. Clinical correlates and prognostic significance of six-minute walk test in patients with primary pulmonary hypertension. Comparison with cardiopulmonary exercise testing. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 161, 487–492.
- Overend, T.J., Versteegh, T.H., Thompson, E., Birmingham, T.B., Vandervoort, A.A., 2000. Cardiovascular stress associated with concentric and eccentric isokinetic exercise in young and older adults. J. Gerontol. A: Biol. Sci. Med. Sci. 55, B177– B182.
- Pescatello, L.S., Franklin, B.A., Fagard, R., Farquhar, W.B., Kelley, G.A., Ray, C.A., American College of Sports Medicine, 2004. American College of Sports Medicine position stand. Exercise and hypertension. Med. Sci. Sports Exerc. 36, 533– 553.
- Pilote, L., Dasgupta, K., Guru, V., Humphries, K.H., McGrath, J., Norris, C., Rabi, D., Tremblay, J., Alamian, A., Bamett, T., Cox, J., Ghali, W.A., Grace, S., Hamet, P., Ho, T., Kirkland, S., Lambert, M., Libersan, D., O'Loughlin, J., Paradis, G., Petrovich, M., Tagalakis, V., 2007. A comprehensive view of sex-specific issues related to cardiovascular disease. Can. Med. Assoc. J. 176, S1–S44.
- Pinto-Plata, V.M., Cote, C., Cabral, H., Taylor, J., Celli, B.R., 2004. The 6-min walk distance: change over time and value as a predictor of survival in severe COPD. Eur. Respir. J. 23, 28–33.
- Rankinen, T., Church, T.S., Rice, T., Bouchard, C., Blair, S.N., 2007. Cardiorespiratory fitness, BMI, and risk of hypertension: the HYPGENE study. Med. Sci. Sports Exerc. 39, 1687–1692.

STUDY III

Associations between Objectively Assessed Physical Activity Levels and Fitness and Self-reported Health-related Quality of Life in Communitydwelling Older Adults

Flávia A. C. Wanderley¹, Gustavo Silva¹, Elisa Marques¹, José Oliveira¹, Jorge Mota¹, Joana Carvalho¹

Research Centre in Physical Activity, Health and Leisure, Faculty of Sport Sciences, University of Porto, Portugal

Associations between objectively assessed physical activity levels and fitness and self-reported health-related quality of life in community-dwelling older adults

Flávia A. C. Wanderley · Gustavo Silva · Elisa Marques · José Oliveira · Jorge Mota · Joana Carvalho

Accepted: 14 February 2011 © Springer Science+Business Media B.V. 2011

Abstract

Background Previous studies investigated the associations between health-related quality of life (HRQoL) and self-reported physical activity (PA) and/or self-reported physical fitness which are not the most reliable methods to assess PA and fitness. Therefore, this study aimed to examine the associations between HRQoL and each of objectively assessed habitual PA and physical fitness.

Methods Eighty-five community-dwelling older adults (60–83 years) completed assessments for PA (counts/min and steps/day using accelerometers), physical fitness (six-minute walk test [6MWT] and hand grip strength), and self-reported HRQoL (using the eight subscales of the SF-36). In adjusted logistic regression models, the upper quartile was compared against the lower three quartiles of scores on each HRQoL subscale. Results report the odds ratios that were significant in the adjusted models at P < 0.05.

Results Individuals with higher PA levels assessed by counts/min were more likely to score higher on physical functioning (PF) subscale (OR = 1.90). Individuals with superior 6MWT performance were more likely to score higher on PF (OR = 1.87), role limitations due to physical problems (RP) (OR = 1.95), and vitality (VT) (OR = 1.79). Individuals with superior hand-grip strength were more likely to score higher on RP (OR = 2.37) and VT (OR = 1.83). Conclusions Objectively associated with physical health

F. A. C. Wanderley $(\boxtimes) \cdot G$. Silva $\cdot E$. Marques $\cdot J$. Oliveira $\cdot J$. Mota $\cdot J$. Carvalho Research Centre in Physical Activity, Health and Leisure,

Faculty of Sport, University of Porto, Rua Dr. Plácido Costa, 91, 4200-450 Porto, Portugal c-mail: flaviacanuto@gmail.com HRQoL subscales as reported by community-dwelling older adults.

Keywords Older adults · Physical fitness · Perceived health · Quality of life

Abbreviations

BMI	Body mass index
BP	Bodily pain
GH	General health
HRQoL	Health-related quality of life
Μ	Mean
MH	Mental health
OR	Odds ratio
PA	Physical activity
PF	Physical functioning
QoL	Quality of life
RE	Role limitations due to emotional problems
RP	Role limitations due to physical problems
SD	Standard deviation
SF	Social functioning
SF-36	Medical outcomes study 36-item short-form
	health study
VO _{2max}	Maximum oxygen consumption
VT	Vitality
6MWT	Six-minute walk test

Introduction

Patterns of health and disease have changed dramatically in Western countries. With the benefits of modern technology and therapeutics, the importance of communicable diseases has declined and longevity has increased, accompanied by

Springer

an increase in the prevalence of so-called diseases of civilization and disability [1, 2].

Therefore, improving health and quality of life (QoL) and reducing disability are identified as major priorities for geriatric medical services. One of the barriers to advancing knowledge in the field of QoL is the lack of precision in the definition of this construct. In this study, we opted to use the term health-related quality of life (HRQoL), which includes several aspects of life that affect perceived physical and mental health [3]. Measures of HRQoL have been increasing in popularity because they have been shown to be positively associated with objective health outcomes (e.g., body mass index [BMI] and number of chronic conditions) and mortality [2, 4, 5]. For example, it was observed that men who reported poor health had an eightfold increase in total mortality as compared with those reporting excellent health [5].

Nowadays, researchers intend to better understand which factors are determinant in the subjective perception of HRQoL. Identifying these factors seems to be paramount to developing effective interventions in improving the HRQoL of individuals. Personal habits, such as smoking and sedentarism, seem to play a major role in the etiology of the diseases of civilization. On the other hand, it is believed that promotion of physical activity (PA) is a viable pathway of public health intervention, which includes increasing or maintaining HRQoL [6, 7]. In accordance with this idea, Lorraine et al. [8] have suggested that PA is associated with self-rated health, one indicator of HRQoL. Despite a representative sample in this study, data on PA were obtained by self-report, which is not the most reliable method to assess PA in older adults [9]. Objective PA measures have been increasingly used to overcome the limitations of self-reporting measures. Accelerometry, in particular, provides information on the amount, frequency, duration, and intensity of PA [10].

Simple objective measures of physical fitness were demonstrated as highly predictive of subsequent disability among older people [11]. Considering that disability and autonomy have been shown to be important factors when older adults assess their health [7, 12, 13], we sought to investigate whether objective measures of physical fitness are associated with HRQoL in older adults.

Although some previous studies investigated the associations between HRQoL and self-reported PA and physical fitness, to date the present study is unique in that we investigated the associations between IIRQoL and objective measures of PA and physical fitness in the same sample of community-dwelling older adults. Therefore, following the description of previous studies and their limitations, the purpose of this study was to examine the associations between self-reported health-related quality of life (HRQoL) and each of habitual physical activity (PA) and physical fitness in community-dwelling older adults.

Materials and methods

Study design and participants

One hundred and five independent community-dwelling older subjects in the age range from 60 to 83 years were recruited in the Porto area through newspaper advertisements. After the recruitment period, volunteers were invited to a preliminary meeting in which they were informed about the nature, benefits, and risks of the study. Those who agreed to participate in this study provided written informed consent, consistent with the Helsinki Declaration and completed a health history questionnaire.

A second meeting was scheduled to administer the Medical Outcomes Study 36-Item Short-Form Health Study questionnaire (SF-36) and to measure aerobic fitness and hand-grip strength of the participants, in this order. At this meeting, each individual received an accelerometer and was instructed in how to use it. The last meeting was scheduled 8 days after the second. At this time, participants were instructed to bring the accelerometers to the laboratory to be analyzed. All methods and procedures referred to above were approved by the Institutional Scientific Board.

The inclusion criteria of the sample required that the participants: (1) be older than 60 years, (2) complete the baseline testing, and (3) be physically independent. The participants were excluded from the sample if they had: (1) registered blindness, (2) severe hearing impairment, (3) uncontrolled hypertension or diabetes. (4) symptomatic cardiorespiratory disease, (5) severe renal or hepatic disease, (6) uncontrolled epilepsy, (7) progressive neurological disease, (8) chronic disabling arthritis, (9) present acute or terminal illness, (10) use of walking aids, and (11) any neurological, skeletal muscle, or joint disturbance that precluded participation in testing.

Measurements

Habitual physical activity

Habitual PA levels were assessed using accelerometers (Actigraph GT1M, Actigraph LLC, Pensacola, FL) as an objective measure of daily PA. The Actigraph accelerometer is a uniaxial monitor that measures the intensity of movement averaged over 1-min sampling intervals called 'epochs' [14]. Monitors were programmed to start recording at midday of the second meeting and recorded activity for the following 7 days.

Participants were instructed to wear the accelerometer over their right hip [15], for a 7-day period (5 week days and 2 weekend days). Exceptions included time spent sleeping, showering, and participating in water-based activities. Participants were asked to maintain their usual activities and record them in a diary. Data from each monitor were downloaded by the investigators and compared with data from the diary before the average counts per minute were calculated. This unit of measurement (counts/min) is generated based on magnitude and frequency of movement [14].

To the best of our knowledge, there are no appropriate counts/min cut-points that represent meaningful intensity categories (sedentary, moderate, and vigorous) in older adults. Therefore, in the current study, PA levels were expressed as the average counts/min and average number of steps per day (obtained from the Actigraph monitor) over the 7 days.

Fitness assessment

Aerobic fitness and grip strength were used to assess fitness. Aerobic fitness was evaluated using the six-minute walk test (6MWT), which is a physical performance test widely used in research [16], especially to obtain valid measures of submaximal aerobic endurance in older adults [17, 18]. This test measures the distance covered when subjects are instructed to walk as quickly as they can for 6 min. Walks were conducted on a flat 50-m rectangular course, marked off in five-meter segments. If necessary, subjects were allowed to stop and rest. Hand-grip strength was isometrically measured using an electronic hand-grip dynamometer (Takei, TKK 5101 Grip-D) as suggested elsewhere [19]. The subject held the dynamometer in the dominant hand hanging down by his or her side and was asked to squeeze using maximum force. The best score obtained in three trials, with approximately a 2-min rest between trials, was recorded for each subject.

Subjective health-related quality of life

Older adults' perceptions of their HRQoL were assessed using the SF-36 [20], adapted and validated for the Portuguese population [21]. This instrument is a relatively simple and brief questionnaire developed to measure generic health status and HRQoL [22]. It was demonstrated that this questionnaire is suitable for community-dwelling older adults when administered by personal interview [23, 24]. The SF-36 comprises eight health scales: physical functioning (PF; ten items), role limitations due to physical problems (RP; four items), bodily pain (BP; two items), general health (GH; five items), vitality (VT; four items), social functioning (SF; two items), role limitations due to emotional problems (RE; three items), and mental health (MH; five items). There is also a single separate item that is used to assess any change in health from the previous year [22]. The SF-36 was administered by interview, and scores were calculated using the methods set out by Ware et al. [25]. The scores range from 0 to 100, with higher scores indicating better functional health and well-being.

Anthropometrics

Body weight was measured to the nearest 0.1 kg with an electronic weight scale (*SECA 708*). Subjects were weighed barefoot wearing light clothing. Height was measured to the nearest 1 mm with a standard stadiometer. Body mass index (BMI) was determined as weight divided by height squared (kg/m²).

Health history questionnaire

The participant's health history was obtained individually during an interview and data on the use of medication and the presence of the following chronic conditions were obtained: heart disease, hypertension, stroke, diabetes, dyslipidemia, osteoarthritis, osteoporosis, severe pulmonary disease, liver disease, thyroid disease, and depression. This questionnaire also included information on smoking status (never, former, smoker) and on education (years of formal schooling).

Statistical analysis

Means and standard deviations ($M \pm$ SD) were computed for the following variables: age, BMI, PA levels, 6MWT, hand-grip strength, and HRQoL domains. Frequencies and percentages of the number of diagnosed chronic conditions of individuals classified as overweight and obese, of smoking status categories, and number of school years were calculated. Normality of distribution was determined for all continuous variables by a Kolmogorov–Smirnov test. HRQoL domains and hand-grip strength did not have normal distribution; all of them were negatively skewed. Thus, the Mann–Whitney *U* test was used for sex comparisons, and the Spearman's rho coefficient was used to assess the correlation between PA levels, fitness, and HRQoL.

Self-reported HRQoL subscale scores were dichotomized into lower (first, second, and third quartiles) and higher HRQoL (the fourth quartile) score categories. The lower self-reported HRQoL category for each SF-36 domain was set as the reference category. Physical activity (counts/min and steps/day) and physical fitness levels (6MWT and hand-grip strength) were divided into quartiles and inserted in regression models as a continuous variable.

🖉 Springer

Table 1 Summary characteristics of study participants and the differences observed between men and women

	Men $(n = 21)$	Women $(n = 64)$ M \pm SD	Total $(n = 85)$
Age	68.6 ± 5.5	67.8 ± 5.5	68.0 ± 5.5
BMI (kg/m ²)	29.9 ± 5.9	27.7 ± 3.9	28.3 ± 4.5
Physical activity			
Counts/min	355.0 ± 112.7	341.3 ± 127.8	344.8 ± 123.5
N° steps/day	7 493.6 ± 1 704.1	$8 390.1 \pm 2 954.5$	$8\ 166.0\ \pm\ 2\ 713.1$
Fitness			
6-min walk test (m)	600.0 ± 89.5	$532.8 \pm 81.5*$	549.6 ± 87.9
Hand-grip strength (kg)	40.8 ± 7.3	$23.9 \pm 3.9^{*}$	28.2 ± 8.8
HRQoL domains			
PF	82.1 ± 19.5	$74.8 \pm 20.5^{*}$	76.6 ± 20.4
RP	89.7 ± 29.4	80.9 ± 32.6	83.1 ± 31.9
BP	69.1 ± 26.2	65.7 ± 24.7	66.5 ± 24.9
GH	65.4 ± 15.6	$60.4 \pm 16.5^{*}$	61.7 ± 16.3
VT	71.8 ± 16.9	$63.2 \pm 21.1*$	65.4 ± 20.4
SF	90.4 ± 15.0	88.5 ± 16.7	89.0 ± 16.2
RE	80.4 ± 31.3	79.1 ± 32.6	79.4 ± 32.1
MH	78.9 ± 15.2	$65.8 \pm 22.0^{*}$	69.1 ± 21.2
		n (%)	
Smoking status			
Never	9 (42.9)	63 (98.4)	72 (84.7)
Former	11 (52.3)	1 (1.6)	12 (14.1)
Smoker	1 (4.8)	0	1 (1.2)
Education (years)			
Lower (0-4)	8 (38.1)	26 (40.6)	34 (40.0)
Medium (5-12)	11 (52.4)	27 (42.2)	38 (44.7)
Higher (>12)	2 (9.5)	11 (17.2)	13 (15.3)
Number of chronic conditions	8		
0	5 (20.8)	6 (9.8)	11 (12.9)
1	7 (29.2)	18 (29.5)	25 (29.4)
2	8 (33.3)	27 (44.3)	35 (41.2)
3	4 (16.7)	7 (11.5)	11 (12.9)
4	0	3 (4.9)	3 (3.5)

PF physical functioning, *RP* role limitations due to physical problems, *BP* bodily pain, *CH* general health, *VT* vitality, *SF* social functioning, *RE* role limitations due to emotional problems, *MII* mental health * Significant differences between men and women (P < 0.05)

Physical fitness and PA were analyzed in this way because it was previously suggested [26] that small improvements in functional status can be statistically significant but sometimes they are below the threshold which individuals notice differences in themselves relative to others. Redelmeier et al. [26] referred that, in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease patients, the distance in 6MWT needs to differ by 54 m for the average patient change his or her self-report of HRQoL. Therefore, we hypothesize that increases of few meters or few counts/min (if these variables were inserted as continuous variables) would not be as sensitive as an improvement equivalent to pass from a lower to a higher quartile in PA or physical fitness. Moreover, when performance in the 6MWT was divided into quartiles, it was observed that the differences across

Springer

the quartiles were more or less (P 25th = 487,5 m; P 50th = 546.6 m; P 75th = 602.5 m; P 90th = 653.0 m) the 54 m suggested by Redelmeier et al. [26].

For each HRQoL domain, eight logistic regression models were calculated (64 models in total). First, unadjusted logistic regression models were used to estimate the odds ratio (OR) of scoring in the highest quartile of each HRQoL domain per quartile increase in each of the PA and physical fitness index scores (which means the higher quartile compared to the one below it, e.g., 2nd quartile versus 1st quartile; 3rd quartile versus 2nd quartile; 4th quartile versus 3rd quartile). Afterward, the first models were adjusted for BMI, number of diagnosed chronic conditions, and education. BMI and number of diagnosed chronic conditions were inserted as continuous variables. Education was categorized for analysis into lower (0-4 years), medium (5-12), and higher (>12). All analyses were performed using Statistical Package for the Social Sciences for Windows (SPSS, Inc. Chicago, IL, USA), software version 17. The 0.05 level of probability was accepted as statistically significant for all analyses.

Results

Based on the inclusion/exclusion criteria, 20 individuals out of the 105 recruited were not eligible to be in the study. Thus, results presented are from the 21 men and 64 women who met all research inclusion criteria.

Table 1 shows the main characteristics of the study population and the differences observed between men and women. The participants' ages ranged from 60 to 83 years. Overall, the majority of subjects (almost 71%) had one or two diagnosed chronic conditions. Twenty-three participants were classified as obese $(BMI > 30 \text{ kg/m}^2)$ and thirty-seven as overweight $(25 < BMI < 30 \text{ kg/m}^2)$. In this sample, only one individual smoked and more than 50% of older adults did not complete secondary school (which means fewer than 9 years of formal education). Men were fitter ($P \le 0.01$) than women, even though both genders scored above the norm for 6MWT (570 m for men and 521 m for women) [27] and hand-grip strength (30 kg for men and 20 kg for women) [28]. Men had reported better HRQoL than women on four domains: PF (P = 0.02), GH (P = 0.03), VT (P = 0.03), and MH (P < 0.01).

Simple correlation coefficients between each HRQoL domains and each of the PA and physical fitness variables indicated that PA and physical fitness levels were significantly positively correlated with several domains of HRQoL (Table 2). Unadjusted and adjusted ORs obtained for each HRQoL domain with respective 95% confidence intervals (CI) and P values are shown in Table 3. In the unadjusted logistic regression models, subjects with higher levels of PA were significantly more likely to score higher on PF (when PA assessed by counts/min) and RP (when PA assessed by steps/day) when compared with individuals with lower PA levels. Unadjusted analyses also demonstrated that fitter individuals had a greater chance of scoring higher on PF, RP, VT, and MH domains. Individuals were more likely to score higher on RP, VT, and MH with each unit increase in hand-grip strength. Similarly, individuals were more likely to score higher on PF, RP, and VT with each unit increase in 6MWT. However, none of the PA or physical fitness variables showed significant associations with BP, GII, RE, and SF domains.

With the exception of the associations between RP and steps/day and between MH and hand-grip strength, the ORs of the adjusted models (adjustment for BMI, number of

 Table 2
 Spearman's rho correlation coefficients between each self-reported HRQoL domain and each physical activity (PA) or physical fitness variable

	Counts/min	Step/day	6MWT	Hand-grip strength
PF	0.190	0.128	0.359*	0.268*
RP	0.113	0.248*	0.351*	0.284*
BP	0.258*	0.257*	0.205	0.237*
GH	0.040	-0.105	0.050	0.274*
VT	0.105	0.128	0.357*	0.279*
SF	0.116	0.120	0.217	0.115
RE	0.273*	0.245*	0.184	0.077
MH	0.158	0.187	0.156	0.367*

PF physical functioning, *RP* role limitations due to physical problems, *BP* bodily pain, *GH* general health, *VT* vitality, *SF* social functioning, *RE* role limitations due to emotional problems, *MH* mental health * P < 0.05

chronic conditions, and education) were very similar to those obtained in the unadjusted models (Table 3).

Discussion

The main findings of this study show that the way an older physically independent individual reports some aspects of his or her HRQoL is related to both PA levels and physical fitness. In general, the most active and fit older adults have approximately twice as much chance of scoring higher on PF, RP, and VT domains than their less fit and less active peers. Moreover, the observed positive associations between aerobic fitness and PF, RP and VT seem to be independent of BMI, the number of chronic conditions, and education. Similarly, the odds of scoring higher on PF per quartile increase in PA, evaluated by counts/min, and the odds of scoring higher on RP and VT per quartile increase in hand-grip strength, were not affected by adjustment for BMI, the number of chronic conditions, or education.

In support of these results, it was previously demonstrated [7] a positive association between PA and selfreported HRQoL among older adults. Over a 5-year period, Leinonen, Heikkinen, and Jylhä [7] observed that decreases in PA levels were related with decline in self-assessment of health. Rejeski and Mihalko [6], in a review of PA and QoL in older adults, concluded that PA could lead to improved perception of PF and MH in older adults. According to these authors, PA may provide a global indicator of health and functioning through which deterioration in health and functional performance can be perceived and reflected in everyday life.

While some studies have shown associations between PA and perceived HRQoL, associations between fitness

🖉 Springer

Dependent variable	Independent variable	Unadjusted model OR (95% CI)	Р	Adjusted model ^a OR (95% CI)	Р
PF	Aerobic fitness	2.03 (1.16-3.57)	0.01	1.87 (1.03-3.38)	0.04
	Hand grip	1.48 (0.91-2.40)	0.12	1.37 (0.82-2.29)	0.22
	Counts/min	1.88 (1.07-3.31)	0.03	1.90 (1.05-3.44)	0.04
	Steps/day	1.30 (0.78-2.17)	0.32	1.32 (0.75-2.33)	0.34
RP	Aerobic fitness	2.12 (2.25-3.59)	0.01	1.95 (1.12-3.39)	0.02
	Variable Dradjušted model OR (95% CI) P Adjušted model OR (95% CI) Aerobic fitness 2.03 (1.16-3.57) 0.01 1.87 (1.03-3.38) Hand grip 1.48 (0.91-2.40) 0.12 1.37 (0.82-2.29) Counts/min 1.88 (1.07-3.31) 0.03 1.90 (1.05-3.44) Steps/day 1.30 (0.78-2.17) 0.32 1.32 (0.75-2.33) Aerobic fitness 2.12 (2.25-3.59) 0.01 1.95 (1.12-3.39) Hand grip 1.89 (1.17-3.05) 0.01 2.37 (1.33-4.24) Counts/min 1.43 (0.88-2.32) 0.15 1.53 (0.81-2.27) Steps/day 1.73 (1.04-2.87) 0.03 1.53 (0.89-2.63) Aerobic fitness 1.53 (0.92-2.54) 0.10 1.41 (0.82-2.41) Hand grip 1.42 (0.90-2.22) 0.13 1.34 (0.82-2.19) Counts/min 1.63 (0.96-2.77) 0.07 1.61 (0.92-2.82) Steps/day 1.33 (0.80-2.20) 0.28 1.18 (0.69-2.01) Aerobic fitness 1.10 (0.66-1.84) 0.72 0.96 (0.53-1.72) Hand grip 1.53 (0.92-2.55) 0.11	< 0.01			
		0.25			
	Steps/day	1.73 (1.04-2.87)	0.03	1.53 (0.89-2.63)	0.13
BP	Aerobic fitness	1.53 (0.92-2.54)	0.10	1.41 (0.82-2.41)	0.22
	Hand grip	1.42 (0.90-2.22)	0.13	1.34 (0.82-2.19)	0.25
	Counts/min	1.63 (0.96-2.77)	0.07	1.61 (0.92-2.82)	0.10
	Steps/day	1.33 (0.80-2.20)	0.28	1.18 (0.69-2.01)	0.54
GH	Aerobic fitness	1.10 (0.66-1.84)	0.72	0.96 (0.53-1.72)	0.89
	Hand grip	1.53 (0.92-2.55)	0.11	1.41 (0.83-2.41)	0.21
	Counts/min	1.24 (0.72-2.11)	0.44	1.26 (0.70-2.26)	0.45
	Steps/day	1.33 (0.78-2.30)	0.30	1.66 (0.85-3.26)	0.14
VT	Aerobic fitness	1.81 (1.12-2.92)	0.02	1.79 (1.08-2.97)	0.03
	Hand grip	1.71 (1.10-2.67)	0.02	1.83 (1.13-2.98)	0.01
	Counts/min	1.33 (0.84-2.11)	0.22	1.45 (0.89-2.38)	0.14
	Steps/day	1.41 (0.88-2.24)	0.15	1.49 (0.89-2.50)	0.13
SF	Aerobic fitness	1.47 (0.95-2.27)	0.08	1.37 (0.86-2.19)	0.18
	Hand grip	1.28 (0.85-1.92)	0.24	1.15 (0.74-1.78)	0.55
	Counts/min	1.20 (0.78-1.85)	0.42	1.18 (0.75-1.87)	0.84
	Steps/day	1.20 (0.78-1.85)	0.42	1.28 (0.80-2.06)	0.31
RE	Aerobic fitness	1.35 (0.87-2.11)	0.18	1.22 (0.76-1.97)	0.41
	Hand grip	1.06 (0.71-1.60)	0.77	1.01 (0.64-1.59)	0.97
	Counts/min	1.58 (0.99-2.51)	0.06	1.62 (0.98-2.67)	0.06
	Steps/day	1.41 (0.90-2.23)	0.14	1.50 (0.91-2.49)	0.11
MH	Aerobic fitness	0.96 (0.59-1.57)	0.88	0.92 (0.53-1.57)	0.75
	Hand grip	1.62 (1.00-2.61)	0.05	1.30 (0.78-2.17)	0.32
	Counts/min	1.47 (0.86-2.52)	0.16	1.72 (0.95-3.11)	0.07
	Steps/day	1.27 (0.75-2.14)	0.38	1.67 (0.88-3.19)	0.12

Table 3 Odds ratios (ORs) and 95% confidence intervals (CI) for scoring in highest quartile on each self-reported HRQoL domain per quartile increase in each physical activity and physical fitness variables

PF physical functioning, RP role limitations due to physical problems, BP bodily pain, GH general health, VT vitality, SF social functioning, RE role limitations due to emotional problems, MH mental health

^a Adjusted for BMI, chronic conditions, and education

and perceived HRQoL have been less well studied. In agreement with the present findings, one of the few studies in this field [29] observed a positive association between hand-grip strength and HRQoL (GH and PF domains) in community-dwelling men and women (59–73 years old).

More recently, it was demonstrated that high BMI [8], low education [8], and an increased number of comorbidities are associated with poor HRQoL. Thus, these covariates were inserted in the logistic regression models to explore the independent associations of each of the PA and physical fitness variables with each of the perceived HRQoL domains. Although some studies have also referred to smoking [7], race, and gender [30] as possible confounders when assessing HRQoL, these covariates were not taken into account in the regression models of this study. Given the sample was comprised only of Caucasian older adults, mainly women, and that only one of the men was actually a smoker, it did not seem that these parameters would affect the observed associations. Results from this study indicated that adjustment for BMI, the number of

Qual Life Res

diagnosed chronic conditions, and education explained only the associations between RP and steps/day and between MH and hand-grip strength. However, in this sample of apparently healthy and autonomous older adults, levels of PA and fitness were associated with self-reported PF, RP, and VT, regardless of BMI, number of chronic conditions, and education.

No significant associations were observed between BP, GH, SF, and RE domains and either PA or physical fitness. In fact, it was previously suggested [6] that the associations of PA on HRQoL are less dramatic in areas where an older individual is functioning at or above the norm. In this sense, with the exception of RE and MH, the mean values of HRQoL domains obtained by the participants of this study are quite similar to the normative values presented by Bowling, Bond et al. [9] when compared to similar mean age groups. These normative values were obtained from a national random sample from the British survey, in which almost 500 older adults were interviewed face-to-face in their own homes.

Moreover, the relationship between PA and health is complex, and there is no single study or instrument able to simultaneously elucidate the mechanisms for all the core dimensions that have been identified as being associated with health and functioning (e.g., living arrangements, financial situation, family life, life styles) [6]. Thus, it is possible that other unmeasured variables can explain the association between PA and HRQoL.

The major limitations of this study are as follows: (1) the cross-sectional design; (2) the small non-populationbased sample (leading to selection bias); (3) the lack of control of potential confounders of HRQoL that was not measured, (4) given the sample encompasses only Caucasian older adults and that only one subject was identified as smoker, the findings might not apply identically to non-Caucasians or smokers, and finally, (5) it is important to take into account that in general, study participants performed the selected fitness tests above the norms and they did not have severe diseases, which means that results cannot be generalized to unfit or frail populations.

In spite of these limitations, this study has several strengths, including the use of accelerometers to objectively assess PA and the use of performance-based tests to objectively evaluate fitness.

Considering the possible limitations and the strengths mentioned above, this research demonstrated through objective measurements of PA and fitness that among relatively healthy community-dwelling older individuals, higher PA levels and better physical fitness were associated with higher self-reports of several domains of HRQoL as measured by the SF-36. Indeed, it seems reasonable to propose that implementation and promotion of PA programs for community-dwelling older adults, aimed at improving and maintaining physical fitness, could also positively affect the HRQoL of this population.

Acknowledgments The authors would like to thank to the volunteers of this study. Without their selfless contribution, this study would not have been possible. Grants from the Portuguese Foundation for Science and Technology (PTDC/DES/108780/2008 and SFRH/ BD/33124/2007) supported this research.

References

- Hunt, S., & McEwen, J. (1980). The development of a subjective health indicator. Sociology of Health & Illness, 2(3), 231–246.
- Mossey, J. M., & Shapiro, E. (1982). Self-rated health: A predictor of mortality among the elderly. *American Journal of Public Health*, 72(8), 800–808.
- Brown, D., et al. (2004). Associations between physical activity dose and health-related quality of life. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 36(5), 890–896.
- Kroenke, C. H., et al. (2008). Prospective change in healthrelated quality of life and subsequent mortality among middleaged and older women. *American Journal of Public Health*, 98(11), 2085–2091.
- Wannamethee, G., & Shaper, A. G. (1991). Self-assessment of health status and mortality in middle-aged british men. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 20(1), 239–245.
- Rejeski, W. J., & Mihalko, S. L. (2001). Physical activity and quality of life in older adults. *Journals of Gerontology. Series A*, *Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, 56(90002), 23–35.
- Leinonen, R., Heikkinen, E., & Jylha, M. (2001). Predictors of decline in self-assessments of health among older people—A 5-year longitudinal study. *Social Science and Medicine*, 52(9), 1329–1341.
- Lorraine, P., Hammock, R., & Blanton, J. (2005). Predictors of self-rated health status among Texas residents. *Preventing Chronic Disease*, 2(4), 12.
- Bowling, A., et al. (1999). Short Form 36 (SF-36) health survey questionnaire: Which normative data should be used? Comparisons between the norms provided by the omnibus survey in Britain, the health survey for England and the Oxford healthy life survey. J Public Health, 21(3), 255–270.
- Murphy, S. (2009). Review of physical activity measurement using accelerometers in older adults: Considerations for research design and conduct. *Preventive Medicine*, 48(2), 108–114.
- Cochrane, T., et al. (1998). Exercise, physical function and health perceptions of older people. *Physiotherapy*, 84(12), 598–602.
- King, A. C., et al. (2000). Comparative effects of two physical activity programs on measured and perceived physical functioning and other health-related quality of life outcomes in older adults. *Journals of Gerontology. Series A, Biological Sciences* and Medical Sciences, 55(2), M74–M83.
- Spirduso, W., & Cronin, D. (2001). Exercise dose-response effects on quality of life and independent living in older adults. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 33(6 Suppl), S598– S608. discussion S609–S610.
- Mark, A., & Janssen, I. (2008). Dose-response relation between physical activity and blood pressure in youth. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 40(6), 1007–1012.
- Freedson, P., Melanson, E., & Sirard, J. (1998). Calibration of the computer science and applications, Inc. accelerometer. *Medicine* and Science in Sports and Exercise, 30(5), 777–781.
- Lord, S. R., & Menz, H. B. (2002). Physiologic, psychologic, and health predictors of 6-minute walk performance in older people.

Springer

Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, 83(7), 907–911.

- Rikli, R. E., & Jones, C. J. (1998). The reliability and validity of a 6-minute walk test as a measure of physical endurance in older adults. *Journal of Aging and Physical Activity*, 6(4), 363–375.
- Kervio, G., Carre, F., & Ville, N. S. (2003). Reliability and intensity of the six-minute walk test in healthy elderly subjects. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 35(1), 169–174.
- Van Heuvelen, M. J., et al. (1998). Physical fitness related to age and physical activity in older persons. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 30(3), 434–441.
- Ware, J., & Sherbourne, C. (1992). The MOS 36-item short-form health survey (SF-36). I. Conceptual framework and item selection. *Medical Care*, 30(6), 473–483.
- Ferreira, P. L. (1998). A medição do estado de saúde: criação da versão portuguesa do MOS SF-36, in Centro de Estudos e Investigação em Saúde, Faculdade de Economia. Coimbra: Universidade de Coimbra.
- Anderson, C., Laubscher, S., & Burns, R. (1996). Validation of the short form 36 (SF-36) Health Survey Questionnaire among stroke patients. *Stroke*, 27(10), 1812–1816.
- Lyons, R. A., Perry, I. M., & Littlepage, B. N. C. (1994). Evidence for the validity of the short-form 36 questionnaire (SF-36) in an elderly population. *Age and Ageing*, 23(3), 182–184.

- Parker, S. G., et al. (1998). Measuring health status in older patients. The SF-36 in practice. Age and Ageing, 27(1), 13–18.
- Ware, J. E., et al. (1993). SF-36 health survey: Manual and interpretation guide. Lincoln, RI: QualityMetric Inc.
- Redelmeier, D., Bayoumi, A., et al. (1997). Interpreting small differences in functional status: The Six Minute Walk test in chronic lung disease patients. *American Journal of Respiratory* and Critical Care Medicine, 155(4), 1278–1282.
- Rikli, R. E., & Jones, C. J. (1999). Functional fitness normative scores for community-residing older adults, ages 60–94. *Journal* of Aging and Physical Activity, 7(2), 162–181.
- Cruz-Jentoft, A. J., et al. (2010). Sarcopenia: European consensus on definition and diagnosis: Report of the European working group on sarcopenia in older people. *Age and Ageing*, 39(4), 412–423.
- Sayer, A. A., et al. (2006). Is grip strength associated with healthrelated quality of life? Findings from the Hertfordshire cohort study. Age and Ageing, 35, 409–415.
- Daltroy, L., et al. (1999). Discrepancies between self-reported and observed physical function in the elderly: The influence of response shift and other factors. *Social Science and Medicine*, 48(11), 1549-1561.

Springer

CHAPTER VI STUDY IV

Effects of training on fatness, inflammation and autonomic function in older adults

Flávia A C Wanderley¹, André Moreira², Oksana Sokhatska³, Carmo Palmares⁴, Pedro Moreira⁵, José Oliveira⁶, Joana Carvalho⁷.

^{1, 6, 7} Research Centre in Physical Activity, Health and Leisure, Faculty of Sport, University of Porto, Portugal

^{2, 3, 4} Department of Immunology, Faculty of Medicine, University of Porto, Portugal

⁵ Faculty of Nutrition and Food Sciences, University of Porto, Portugal

Submitted to European Journal of Cardiovascular Prevention and Rehabilitation, on 3rd of March, 2011

Title page

Effects of training on fatness, inflammation and autonomic function in older adults

Flávia A C Wanderley¹, André Moreira², Oksana Sokhatska³, Carmo Palmares⁴, Pedro Moreira⁵, José Oliveira⁶, Joana Carvalho⁷.

^{1, 6, 7}Research Centre in Physical Activity, Health and Leisure, Faculty of Sport, University of Porto, Portugal
^{2, 3, 4} Department of Immunology, Faculty of Medicine, University of Porto, Portugal
⁵Faculty of Nutrition and Food Sciences, University of Porto, Portugal

Corresponding Author: Flávia A C Wanderley, Faculty of Sport, University of Porto, Rua Dr. Plácido Costa, 91, 4200-450 Porto, Portugal; Email: flaviacanuto@gmail.com

This work was supported by the Portuguese Foundation for Science and Technology (grant numbers PTDC/ DES/ 108780/ 2008 and SFRH/ BD/ 33124/ 2007).

Word-count: 7 324

Abstract

Background: Older adults normally present increased body fat, autonomic dysfunction and low-grade chronic inflammation, increasing susceptibility to develop chronic conditions. Therefore, this study aimed to assess the effectiveness of different training protocols on reducing body fat, improving autonomic function and decreasing low-grade systemic inflammation in community-dwelling older adults.

Design: randomized controlled study.

Methods: Fifty participants (68±5.5 years) were randomly allocated into resistance training (RT), aerobic training (AT) or waiting list (WL) groups. Their body composition (assessed by DXA), inflammatory biomarkers (high-sensitivity C-reactive protein, tumor necrosis-alpha, interferon-gamma, interleukins -6 and -10), lipoproteic profile, fasting glycemia, blood pressure, heart rate variability (HRV; frequency and time domains) and aerobic fitness (assessed by six-minute walk distance) were evaluated at baseline and after the 8-month intervention period. A paired t-test was used to detect changes ($\%\Delta$) within groups, while between groups differences were analyzed using the one-way ANOVA or General linear models.

Results: It was observed a significant change both in total (-5.4 \pm 6.3% and -3.3 \pm 2.9%) and central body fat (8.9 \pm 11.3% and -4.8 \pm 4.5%) in RT and AT groups, respectively; overall HRV (29.7 \pm 40.0%) changed significantly in response to RT; resting systolic and diastolic blood pressure (-9.2 \pm 9.8% and -8.5 \pm 9.6%), heart rate (-4.6 \pm 6.5%), vagal activity (364.0 \pm 739.0%), high sensitive C-reactive protein (-18.6 \pm 60.6%), and six-minute walk distance (9.5 \pm 6.9%) changed in response to AT.

Conclusions: Present study supports recommendations that both aerobic and resistance training are effective interventions for health promotion and disease prevention in community-dwelling older adults.

Keywords

Inflammatory biomarkers, heart-rate variability, exercise, elderly **Abstract word-count:** 246

Introduction

Increased body fat, autonomic dysfunction and low-grade chronic inflammation have been shown to be interrelated¹⁻² and implicated in the aetiology of several chronic diseases such as diabetes³, hypertension⁴, atherosclerosis and other cardiovascular diseases (CVD) ⁵. Taking into account that older adults normally present diminished heart-rate variability (HRV), a non-invasive indicator of the autonomic nervous system function, and higher circulating levels of inflammatory biomarkers it is not surprising that a higher CVD morbidity and mortality is normally observed in this population⁶⁻⁷. Indeed, it was demonstrated that high circulating levels of inflammatory biomarkers are associated with poorer physical function in older adults⁷, and consequently with a reduced quality of life.

Recent findings¹⁻² suggest that the parasympathetic nervous system, by discharging acetylcholine (ACh), suppresses the synthesis and release of proinflammatory cytokines from activated immune cells and thus inhibits inflammation. These observations may have important implications for developing novel therapeutic strategies against subclinical chronic inflammation and its related morbidity. Examples of such interventions are direct vagal nerve electrical stimulation, acupuncture techniques, relaxation therapy, and the administration of nicotinic ACh receptor agonists^{1, 8}. Previous investigations suggest that regular exercise training might also induce positive adaptations in the HRV⁹, in body composition¹⁰, and fitness⁹, as well as in low grade chronic inflammation¹¹, collectively decreasing the CVD risk for mortality and morbidity¹². Therefore, it could be hypothesized that regular exercise training is a complementary or alternative strategy to the above-mentioned interventions.

Exercise training is actually recommended for health promotion and disease prevention in older adults⁶. However, there is conflicting evidence regarding the extent to which training could counteract the increased visceral fat depot, reduced HRV and low-grade chronic inflammation. Explanations for the discrepancy between studies may be related to the use of outcomes

measurements derived from less-accurate methods, i.e. use of anthropometrics instead of dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA) to measure body composition; or by cross-sectional studies including heterogeneous populations of younger or older-diseased populations. Other limitations that could be pointed out in several previous studies are: (i) only a few experimental studies have used alternative types of exercise training instead of aerobic training to diminish inflammatory biomarkers and increase HRV, (ii) the lack of control for habitual daily physical activity and dietary intake, and finally, (iii) most studies use just one or two biomarkers to assess low-grade chronic inflammation.

Thus, the purpose of this study was to examine the effectiveness of two different training programs on reducing body fat, improving autonomic dysfunction and decreasing low-grade inflammation in community-dwelling older adults with no serious medical conditions.

Methods

Participants and Study Design

In this randomized, controlled study, one hundred and eight communitydwelling and independent older adults were recruited in the Porto area (Portugal) throughout advertisement in newspapers. The study design is presented in Figure 1.

Subjects were asked to come to the Faculty of Sport (University of Porto) on four different days. On the first day, one hundred and five volunteers (78 women and 27 men) completed a health history questionnaire to record past and present conditions and medications. According to the Helsinki Declaration, the nature, benefits, and risks of the study were explained to the volunteers, and their written informed consent was obtained. All subjects that were able to participate in the study were included if they were older than 60 years and were not involved in supervised regular exercise training (performing moderate to vigorous exercise for 20 minutes or more at least twice a week) in the previous six months. Subjects who suffered from acute or terminal illness, severe or uncontrolled hypertension or any cardiovascular and/or respiratory disorder, any neurological, skeletal-muscle or joint disorders or disturbances that precluded participation in exercise, or who were undergoing pharmacological therapies that could reduce safety during exercise or influence the responses of cardiovascular function were excluded.



Figure 1. Flowchart depicting the study design

On the second day, subjects underwent several evaluations in the following order: HRV at rest, resting blood pressure and heart rate and 6-minute walk distance (6MWD). On the third day, subjects underwent anthropometrics and body composition measurements. At this time they were also instructed in using accelerometers and in recording the 4-day food diary for assessment of habitual physical activity and dietary intake, respectively. Finally, on the fourth day (at least seven days after the third visit) subjects were asked to return the completed 4-day food diary and the accelerometer recordings, and blood was collected for further biochemical determination of lipid profile, glycemia and circulating levels of inflammatory biomarkers.

After screening and baseline assessments, the eighty-five older adults who achieve inclusion and exclusion criteria were randomly allocated, according to computer generated block randomization, into aerobic training (AT), resistance training (RT) or waiting list (WL) for eight months. Completion of the training program was defined by an attendance rate of at least 80% of the scheduled sessions. Additionally, older adults who were absent from more than seven consecutive sessions were also excluded from the analysis. Participants were instructed not to change the physical activity already included in their daily living routines or dietary patterns during the course of the study. The Institutional Review Board approved all methods and procedures.

Intervention

For both training protocols, older adults trained three times per week (nonconsecutive days) for eight months and each exercise session lasted approximately 50 minutes.

Aerobic training (AT) consisted of a 10-minute warm-up and 30 minutes of aerobic exercise, mainly walking at an intensity corresponding to 50%-80% HR_{Reserve} and ending with a 10-minute cool-down. In order to raise the subject's functional fitness so that they were able to sustain 30 minutes of continuous walking at the targeted intensity, the training load was gradually increased during the first four weeks. The walking duration in the first session was 15

minutes at 50 to 60% of the $HR_{Reserve}$ or Rating of Perceived Exertion (RPE) 4-6, and it was increased by five minutes each week until subjects were able to walk continuously for 30 minutes (week 4). Afterwards, intensity was gradually increased to 70-80% of the $HR_{Reserve}$ or RPE 7-8. In order to ensure that the subjects were exercising at the targeted intensity, Polar Heart Rate Monitors (Polar Team System, Finland) were used and RPE were registered.

Resistance training (RT) consisted of a ten-minute warm-up that included stretching; eight exercises (leg press, chest press, leg extension, seated row, seated leg curl, abdominal flexion, biceps curl, low-back extension, and triceps extension) for different muscular groups; and a ten-minute cool-down. During the first week of RT, the subjects were familiarized with the devices by performing one set of 12-15 repetitions (reps) without load. Subjects were taught proper lifting techniques and safety precautions. To minimize excessive BP responses, individuals were told to avoid extended breath-holding (Valsalva manoeuvre), during their reps¹³. Then, a baseline one repetition maximum (1RM) for each exercise was undertaken. Afterwards, older adults performed two sets of 12-15 reps at 50-60% of the 1RM or RPE 4-6, for one month. After this month, the 1RM was measured again and the load was increased to 80% of the 1RM or RPE 7-8. At this intensity, older adults performed two sets of 8-12 reps. Every two months the 1RM was measured in order to keep the training stimulus consistently at 80% of the 1RM or RPE 7-8. Concentric and eccentric movements were performed at a rate of three seconds¹⁰. A 2-minute rest between each set of reps was provided. All sessions were performed under the supervision of a physical education teacher.

During the study period, individuals randomized to the *Waiting List (WL)* group were contacted by phone every four months to certify that they were still interested in participating in the program. At these moments, they were also asked not to change their lifestyle. After the 8-month observation period, they were invited to participate in specific exercise programs designed for seniors at the Faculty of Sport.

Assessments

The test administrator and the time of day used for collection remained constant.

Anthropometrics and Body Composition: Body weight was measured to the nearest 0.1kg with an electronic weight scale (*SECA 708*). Subjects were weighed barefoot wearing light clothing. Height was measured to the nearest 1mm with a standard stadiometer. Body mass index (BMI) was determined as weight divided by height squared (kg/m²). Percent of total body fat (%BF), trunk fat (kg) and lean mass (kg) were determined using DXA (Hologic QDR-4500, software for windows XP, version 12.4) with subjects in the supine position.

Biochemical analysis of plasma glucose, cholesterol (total cholesterol, HDL, LDL) and triglycerides were measured using standard enzymatic methods. High sensitivity C-reactive protein (hs-CRP) levels were determined by means of particle-enhanced immunonephelometry using a BN[™] II nephelometer (Dade Bhering).

Cytokine measurements were performed using a human multiplex immunoassay kit from Millipore according to the manufacturer's protocol. Briefly, 10 µl of plasma was diluted and assayed for interleukins -6 and -10 (IL-6, IL-10), interferon-gamma (IFN- η), and tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- α) using specific antibodies conjugated to beads and read on a Luminex 100 instrument (Luminex). The concentration of each cytokine was determined by preparation of a standard curve using standard cytokine concentrations. Results are expressed in picograms per milliliter. The detection levels of these Abs were between 1 and 5 pg/ml with little or no cross-reactivity among the Abs.

Resting Blood Pressure and Heart rate were measured by an automated blood pressure monitor (Colin, DP 8800). After 15 minutes at rest in a quiet, temperature-controlled room, measurements were taken with the subjects seated in an upright position, with the arm comfortably placed at heart level.

The average of the three measurements for systolic blood pressure (SBP), diastolic blood pressure (DBP), and heart rate (HR) were entered as data.

Autonomic function was evaluated by HRV analysis. Before HRV recordings, subjects were instructed to 1) not consume coffee, cola beverages, tea, or chocolate for 12h; 3) not drink alcoholic beverages for 24h; and 4) avoid exercise and strenuous physical loads for 24h before the measure. After a 15minute supine rest, the R-R intervals were recorded over a period of five minutes with a Polar recorder (Polar NV vantage, Finland). Data were saved and filtered using an automatic procedure for further analysis of HRV with Polar Precision Performance software version 2.0 (Polar Electro Oy, Kempele, Finland)⁹. Data with more than 5% error were not considered in statistical analyses. The standard deviation of normal RR intervals (SDRR) was used as time-domain (TD) measure of overall HRV. The low frequency power (LF, power in the 0.03 – 0.15 Hz band) and high frequency power (HF, power in the 0.15 – 0.40 Hz band) were calculated to reflect frequency domain (FD). While the efferent vagal activity is considered a major contributor to the HF component, the interpretation of the LF component is more controversial¹⁴. But in the present study, it is used as a parameter that includes both sympathetic and vagal influences. The TD and FD indexes are expressed as absolute values (ms/Hz and ms²/Hz, respectively). The breathing frequency was not controlled.

Aerobic Fitness was assessed using the 6MWD, a physical performance measure commonly used in research specifically to obtain valid measures of submaximal aerobic endurance in older adults¹⁵. This test measures the distance covered when subjects are instructed to walk as quickly as they can for six minutes. Walks are conducted on a flat, indoor 50-meter rectangular course, marked off in 5-meter segments. If necessary, subjects are allowed to stop and rest.

Physical Activity levels were assessed using accelerometers (Actigraph GT1M, Actigraph LLC, Pensacola, FL) as an objective measure of daily physical

activity. The Actigraph accelerometer is a uniaxial monitor that measures the intensity of movement averaged over 1-minute sampling intervals called 'epochs'¹⁶. Monitors were programmed to start recording at midday of the second meeting and recorded activity for the following seven days. Participants were instructed to wear the accelerometer around their waist over their right leg, for a 7-day period (five weekdays and two weekend days). Exceptions included time spent sleeping, showering and during water-based activities. Participants were asked to maintain their usual activities and record them in a diary. Data from each monitor were downloaded by the investigators and compared with data from a diary before the average counts/min had been calculated. This unit measurement (counts/min) is generated based on magnitude and frequency of movement¹⁶. To the best of our knowledge, there are no appropriate counts/min cut-points that represent meaningful intensity categories (sedentary, moderate and vigorous) in older adults. Therefore, in the current study, physical activity levels were expressed as the average counts per minute (obtained from the Actigraph monitor) over the seven days.

Dietary intake was assessed by a 4-day dietary record (three weekdays and one weekend day) at two points (before and after the intervention). Participants were invited to record and weigh all foods and drinks consumed on each recording day, trying to not change their eating habits while keeping the record, and then to bring the completed records to the research team. Trained researchers reviewed these forms, and when necessary, the subjects were asked to add extra information for the following visit. To ensure standardization in the recording, a nutritionist individually instructed the subjects how to fill out the dietary records correctly. Trained nutritionists in the research centre supervised the coding of records and data in accordance with uniform procedures. Dietary records were analyzed using an adapted Portuguese version of the software Food Processor Plus® (ESHA Research Inc, Salem, Oregon, USA), a nutritional analysis software that converts food intake into total energy and nutrients, based on food composition tables available from the USDA (United States Department of Agriculture) and national data from typical Portuguese foods.

Statistical Analysis

Measures of IFN-7, hs-CRP, IL-6, IL-10, r-MSSD, TP, LF, and HF, were log normal transformed before analysis to better approximate normal distributions. Between-group differences in baseline values were determined with one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA). When a significant main effect was detected at a significance level of P<0.05, the Bonferonni's correction was used for post-hoc multiple comparison. In order to detect changes within groups (before vs. after) the paired t-test was employed. The pre-to-post changes (Δ) for each subject were related to the individual baseline level to define the relative change ($\%\Delta$ = [(post-test score – pretest score)/ pre-test score] x 100) in all selected variables. General Linear Models (univariate) with relative change as the dependent variable and group as the fixed factor were used. Whenever baseline differences between groups were identified, the baseline value was inserted as a covariate. Afterwards, gender, %BF and medication were inserted as covariates to verify if they were able to interfere in results. When a significant main effect was detected at a significance level of P<0.05, the Bonferonni's correction was used for post-hoc multiple comparison. To attest that missing data did not occur in a non-random pattern, the baseline differences in outcome values in the groups with and without missing data were tested using the Mann-Whitney U test. Results are shown as mean with standard deviations (M ± SD) or as median with percentiles 25 and 75 (Md, 25th percentile – 75th percentile). All analyses were performed using the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS, version 17.0 for Windows, Chicago, IL).

Results

After randomization, 11 individuals (8 RT, 3 AT) out of the 85 left the study due to incompatibility with the training timetable. Therefore, only 74 older adults began the protocol. During the eight months, another 24 (32.4%) subjects dropped out of the study (8 RT, 4 AT, 12 WL) for different reasons: low back pain and arthrosis (3 RT); knee surgery (1 RT, 1 WL); cerebral stroke (1 AT, 1 WL); medical advice (2 RT, 1 AT); loss of motivation and moved out of the city

(2RT, 1 AT) and 11 (1 AT, 10 WL) were lost because they did not complete the final assessment. The flow of subjects during the study is presented in Figure 2.

Therefore, the final sample was comprised of 50 community-dwelling older adults (68.0 \pm 5.5 years), mainly women (n = 39, 78%). Fifty-six percent were controlled hypertensive, 42% had dislipidemia, and 18% had controlled diabetes. According to BMI, 21% were classified as overweight (25 < BMI < 30) and 28% as obese (BMI > 30). None of the participants were currently smokers. Finally, four (10.3%) out of 39 women were on hormone replacement therapy (HRT).

At baseline, no differences between groups were observed for age, body composition parameters, BP, HRV, biomarkers of inflammation, glycemia, lipoproteic profile, or habitual physical activity. However, WL demonstrated a higher HR than RT (P = 0.02), and RT showed better performance on the 6MWD than WL (P < 0.01). Finally, WL had a higher energy intake than AT (P = 0.01). Table 1 presents the main characteristics of the participants for each group at baseline.

After training, a significant decrease in both total (RT, P = 0.02; AT, P < 0.01) and central body fat (RT, P = 0.04; AT, P < 0.01) was observed in RT and AT groups. In contrast, after the eight months, WL had a higher %BF (P = 0.02) and trunk fat (P < 0.01). Lean mass remained constant in the three groups across the eight months.



Figure 2. Flowchart describing retention of participants.

Excepting a decrease in HDL cholesterol for AT (P < 0.01) and WL (P < 0.01), no differences were observed in either the lipoproteic profile or glycemia of the older adults. Nevertheless, AT demonstrated lower levels of hs-CRP (P = 0.02) after training and WL increased TNF- α levels (P = 0.02) after the observation period. At baseline, 36% and 35% of the subjects in RT and AT, respectively, were in the high-risk category for hs-CRP levels (above 3.0mg/dL). Following training, there was a 50% and 85.7% reduction in the number of subjects in the high-risk category for RT and AT respectively. A sub-analysis of the individuals classified in the high-risk category for hs-CRP at baseline demonstrated that when compared with those individuals in the lower-risk category, the high-risk individuals also had higher levels of IL-6 (P < 0.01). Interestingly, the high-risk individuals in AT, beyond the reduction in hs-CRP,

also significantly decreased IL-6 levels (-43.5 \pm 32.0%; *P* = 0.04) after training (see Table 2).

	Resistance Training	Aerobic Training	Waiting List
	n=11	n=20	n=19
Gender	4 men, 7 women	3 men, 17 women	4 men, 15 women
Age (years)	67.3±4.9	69.9±5.7	67.8±5.5
BMI (kg/m²)	29.5 ± 5.0	28.1 ± 4.1	27.2 ± 3.5
Controlled hypertension, n (%)	6 (54%)	9 (45%)	13 (68%)
Controlled dislipidemia, n (%)	4 (36%)	10 (50%)	7 (37%)
Controlled diabetes, n (%)	1 (9%)	2 (10%)	6 (32%)
Individuals with hs-CRP>3.0	4 (36%)	7 (35%)	8 (42%)
mg/L, n (%)	4 (0070)	7 (0070)	0 (4270)
Smoking status			
Never, n (%)	9 (82%)	18 (90%)	17 (89%)
Former, n (%)	2 (18%)	2 (10%)	2 (11%)
Smoker, n (%)	0	0	0
HRT, n (%)	1 (9%)	3 (15%)	0

 Table 1. Baseline characteristics of the participants

BMI, body mass index; hs-CRP, high sensitive C-reactive protein; HRT, hormone replacement therapy.

The greatest improvements in resting BP were observed in the AT group, which, after intervention, demonstrated significant decreases in SBP (P < 0.01) and DBP (P < 0.01). Additionally, decreases in HR_{rest} were verified in this group (P < 0.01), and interestingly in WL as well (P < 0.05). Despite the fact that no significant differences were found in RT, it is important to refer to the reduction in about eight and four mmHg in the SBP and DBP means of this group, respectively, which was almost two-fold the reduction observed in WL.

Table 2. Changes in body composition, lipoproteic profile, fasting glycemia, and inflammatory biomarkers before and after training. Values normally distributed are represented by means with standard deviations and values not normally distributed are represented by medians with percentiles between 25 and 75 ($25^{th} - 75^{th}$ percentiles).

Outcomes	Resistano	o Training		Aerobic Training Waiting Lst		ng List			
	Before	After	Δ%	Before	After	Δ%	Before	After	Δ%
Body composition									
BMI(kg/m ²)	29.5 ± 5.0	28.1 ± 4.0	-2.4 ± 44	28.1 ± 4.1	27.9 ± 3.8	-0.6 ± 1.5	27.2 ± 3.5	27.6 ± 3.0	2.0 ± 4.6
%BF	34.5 ± 7.1	32.9 ± 8.3*	-5.4 ± 6.3	38.4 ± 5.3	37.2 ± 5.6*	-3.3 ± 2.9	34.5 ± 5.9	35.2 ± 6.0*	2.1 ± 3.5
Trunk fat (kg)	11.6±4.5	10.6 ± 4.4*	-8.9 ± 11.3	12.4 ± 3.5	11.9 ±3.4*	-4.8±4.5	11.0 ± 3.0	11.6 ± 3.2*	4.9 ± 7.2
Lean mass (kg)	43.7 ± 9.8	43.8 ± 9.8	0.4 ± 4.8	37.2 ± 5.5	37.0 ± 4.5	0,1 ± 5,5	42.9 ± 10.2	42.5 ± 9.7	-0.6 ± 2.5
Biochemical Analysis									
Choiesterol total (mg/dL)	223.2 ± 29.3	221.7 ± 27.3	0.1 ± 12.3	211.2 ± 33.3	200.8 ± 31.6	-3.4 ± 18.0	235,2 ± 33,7	230.3 ± 33.3	-3.1 ± 8.7
LDL (mg/dL)	163,9+37,4	162,5 + 29,2	1.0 + 13.3	156.2 + 37.6	149.2 + 30.0	02+327	176.6 + 39.6	172.6+43.6	-2.0 + 12.2
HDL (mg/dL)	59.2 ± 17.6	59.1 ± 20.1	-0.9 ± 11.7	54,7 ± 13,8	51.4 ± 11.7*	-5.4 ± 8.5	61,4 ± 17,8	57.3 ± 17.0*	-6,5 ± 8,8
Triglycerides (mg/dL)	76,4 ± 32,3	77.4 ± 28.8	5.0 ± 26.3	111.1 ± 62.3	108.5 ± 53.0	1.4 ± 25.5	103.2 ± 707	156,9 ± 229,3	19.0 ± 53.2
Glycemia (mg/dL)	87.9 ±13.4	88.8 ± 21.6	0.3 ± 11.9	94.6 ± 18.5	93.4 ± 18.8	-1.1 ±7.3	103,3 ± 30,9	108.0 ± 31.4	5.9 ± 16.1
hs-CRP (mg/dL)	0.2	0,1	93,8 ± 266,3	0.2	0.1*	-18,6±60,6	0,2	0.2	212,2 ± 889,7
TNF-a (pg/mL)	0.1 - 0.5 8.0 ± 5.6	0.1 - 0.3 9.8 ± 6.6	22.5 ± 42.5	0.1 – 0.4 11.2 ± 4.1	0.1 – 0.2 12.4 ± 5.3	11.1 ± 26.4	0.1 - 0.6 10.2 ± 4.8	0.1-0.5 12.3±4.6*	23.8 ± 39.8
IL-6 (pg/mL)	7.0	6.4	49.8 ± 259.4	10.8	5.2	-4.4 ± 65.4	6.2	7.8	21.0 ± 92.4
	4.0 - 15.6	3.3 - 10.6		3.6 - 17.1	3.3 - 8.4		2.8 - 27.2	4.5 - 16.6	
IL-10 (pg/mL)	10,1	6.7	-29.8 ± 40.3	7.9	5.5	-10.2 ± 41.3	16,4	8.2	-18.0 ± 39.1
IFN-9 (pg/mL)	5,58 - 47,7 2.0	3.34 - 25.25 0.6	29.5 ± 231.3	5.50 – 15.56 0.7	3,52 - 19,5 0.6	-7.6 ± 100.2	7.4 - 21.1 0.6	6.2 – 18,2 0.6	-4.8 ± 20.2
	0.6-7.5	0.6 - 4.4		0.6-2.9	0.6-0.6		0.6 - 0.9	0.6-0.6	

BMI, body mass index; %BF, percentage of body fat; LDL, low density lipoprotein; HDL, high density lipoprotein; hs-CRP, high sensitive C-reactive protein; TNF-α, tumor necrosis factor-alpha; IL-6, interleukin-6; IL-10, Interleukin-10; IFN- , interferon-gamma.

*Differences within groups, p<0.05.

HRV indexes were also enhanced after training. Regardless of the fact that both RT and AT showed improved HRV, the improvement was observed in
different parameters for each group. The RT presented a higher total variability, translating into a greater SDRR (P = 0.04), and AT presented a higher vagal tonus represented by an increased HF (P = 0.03). As expected, AT demonstrated better performance in 6MWD (P < 0.01) after training. No differences were observed in the habitual daily living physical activity levels or energy intake of older adults across the interventions/observation (see Table 3).

General linear models (see table 4) demonstrated significant differences in relative changes between groups for BMI, %BF, trunk fat, and 6MWD. Post-hoc multiple comparisons demonstrated that relative changes in BMI were more pronounced in RT than in WL (P = 0.03). Greater differences were also identified in RT and AT than in WL for %BF (P < 0.01) and trunk fat ($P \le 0.01$). Finally, older adults in AT demonstrated greater improvements in 6MWD (P < 0.01) than those in WL. Further adjustments for %BF, energy intake, gender and medication use did not significantly change the overall results (not presented).

When individuals who completed all tests were compared with individuals who had missing data and who belonged to the same group, minimal differences were observed. In RT, the dropout group had lower 6MWD than the group that had completed the intervention and tests (P = 0.04). The opposite was observed in the AT: the remaining individuals had a worse performance at baseline on 6MWD than the individuals who dropped out (P = 0.03) as well a greater lean mass (P = 0.03) and higher serum level of IL-6 (P = 0.04). Volunteers who attended all tests in WL had higher serum levels of IL-10 than volunteers who gave up along the study period (P < 0.01). These analyses demonstrated that despite the high withdrawal rate, individuals who gave up presented, for the majority of outcomes, similar characteristics to those of remaining participants. Thus, it seems that the elevated dropout rate did not bias the final results.

Table 3. Changes in blood pressure, heart rate variability and aerobic fitness before and after training. Values are represented by means with standard deviations.

Outcomes	Resistance Training			Aerobic	Training	Waitin				
	Before	After	.Δ%	Before	After	Δ%	Before	After	Δ%	
Resting Blood Pressure and				•			•	•		
Heart-rate										
SBP (mmHg)	131.0 ± 11.6	123.3 ± 14.2	-5.4 ± 12.6	137.5 ± 21.8	124,0 ± 19,3*	-9.2 ± 9.8	141.3 ± 16.6	136.2 ± 18.7	-3,1 ± 9,4	
DBP (mmHg)	71, 3 ± 7,0	67.4 ± 8.2	-5.0 ± 12.7	72.8 ± 9.3	66.5 ± 9.4*	-8,5 ± 9,6	75.9 ± 11.7	73.8 ± 10.0	-2.0 ± 9.6	
HR (bpm) †	62.2 ± 10.3	60.3 ± 8.4	-2.5 ± 7.1	67.5 ± 7.8	64.1±6.5*	-4.6 ± 6.5	68.4 ± 8.0	65.5 ± 8.0*	-4.0 ± 18.7	
Resting Heart-rate Variability										
SDRR (ms)	34.5 ± 13.6	44.4 ± 16.8*	29.7 ± 40.9	32.0 ± 13.1	34.7 ± 13.5	15.9 ± 42.4	38.7 ± 20.3	32.1 ± 14.3	-5.3 ± 42.2	
ma h	9 574.2	13 875.1	33.0 + 71.2	8 511.9	8 421.6	40.8 ± 102.2	8 833,3	12 166.5	41.4 ± 164.0	
TP (ms)	4 079.8 - 14 297.9	4 377,5 - 24 123,7	33.9±11.2	3 482,4 - 15 370,9	5 481,9 - 13 044,1	49.8 ± 102.2	5 794,5 - 13 337,8	6752,9 - 15 151,0	41.4 ± 104.0	
IF ()	145.2	399.6	02.2 + 124.6	222.9	280.2	68.0 + 160.0	150.6	167.6	0.4 - 86 0	
LP (ms-)	111.1 - 446.5	127.8 - 883.2	63,3 ± 134,3	93.5 - 361.0	153,4 - 445,5	06,0 ± 109,0	102,8-332,4	103.1 - 296.9	-9.4 ± 80.0	
UF (m ²)	274,0	544.8	110 5 + 133 8	1 10.0	174.0*	363.0 ± 703.0	82,7	145.8	22.0 . 111.0	
ru (ms.)	110.0 - 480.3	173.5-1 026.6	110,5 ± 150,6	41.9 - 269.0	89.2 - 361.0	303,9 £ 193,0	32.3 - 220.7	46.4 - 280.9	23.9 ± 111.9	
Aerobic fitness										
6MWD (m) †	630.5 ± 57.0	659.1 ±73.5	4.6 ±7.4	541.8 ± 70.4	592.4 ± 76.9*	9.5±6.9	524.5 ± 97.0	533.2 ± 82.7	-0, 4 ± 9,7	
Physical Activity levels (Count/min)	368.9 ± 106.8	438.9 ± 185.1	17.1 ± 26.3	318.4 ± 82.3	334.8 ± 74.3	9.1 ± 25.7	354.9 ± 156.0	361.0 ± 139.3	8.9 ± 40.0	
Energy Intake (kcal/day) †	1 554.8 ± 376.8	1 678.8 ± 647.4	9.9 ± 44.3	1 445.2 ± 268.5	1 421.2 ± 308.4	-0.1 ± 24.8	1 845.9 ± 453.7	1 798.7 ± 260.9	0.5 ± 27.3	

SBP, systolic blood pressure; DBP, diastolic blood pressure; HR, heart rate; SDRR, standard deviation of normal RR intervals; TP, total power; LF, low frequency; HF, high frequency; 6MWD, six-minute walk distance.

*Differences within groups, pc0.05. † Variables show differences between groups at baseline, pc0.05.

Outcomes	F	Р	Partial Eta
			Squared
			(%)
Body composition			
BMI	4.00	0.03	14.5
%BF	17.70	<0.01	42.9
Trunk fat	14.47	<0.01	38.1
Lean mass	0.21	0.81	0.9
Biochemical Analysis			
Cholesterol total	0.24	0.79	1.0
LDL	0.07	0.93	0.3
HDL	1.19	0.31	4.9
Triglycerides	1.04	0.36	4.3
Glycemia	1.65	0.20	6.7
hs-CRP	0.76	0.47	3.3
TNF-α	0.67	0.52	2.9
IL-6	0.67	0.52	3.1
IL-10	0.78	0.47	3.8
IFN- 7	0.50	0.61	2.2
Resting Blood Pressure (BP) and Heart-rate (HR)			
SBP	1.60	0.21	6.4
DBP	1.93	0.16	7.6
HR ^a	0.12	0.89	0.5
Resting Heart-rate Variability			
SDRR	1.88	0.17	9.7
TP	0.05	0.95	0.3
LF	1.44	0.25	7.8
HF	1.56	0.22	8.2
Aerobic Fitness			
6MWD ^a	6.86	<0.01	23.8

Table 4. General Linear Models: relative amount of variance explained by models.

BMI, body mass index; %BF, percentage of body fat; LDL, low density lipoprotein; HDL, high density lipoprotein; hs-CRP, high sensitive C-reactive protein; TNF- α , tumor necrosis factor-alpha; IL-6, interleukin-6; IL-10, Interleukin-10; IFN- \uparrow , interferon-gamma; SBP, systolic blood pressure; DBP, diastolic blood pressure; HR, heart rate; SDRR, standard deviation of normal RR intervals; TP, total power; LF, low frequency; HF, high frequency; 6MWD, six-minute walk distance.

^a adjusted for baseline values.

Discussion

The present study showed: (i) that regular training decreases total and central body fat; (ii) RT is able to increase overall HRV; (iii) AT is able to decrease resting blood pressure and resting HR, increase efferent vagal activity, decrease low-grade systemic inflammation, and improve aerobic fitness in community-dwelling older adults; (iv) the magnitudes of changes to all variables investigated were similar for aerobic and strength training. Altogether, these results support current recommendations that both AT and RT are effective interventions for health promotion and disease prevention in community-dwelling old-aged populations with no serious medical conditions.

Studies addressing the impact of training on body composition have provided conflicting results. Reinforcing our observations previous researchers have demonstrated RT¹⁷ and AT¹⁸ as valuable to reduce body fat. Nevertheless, others failed to report any significant change in body composition after interventions^{5, 19-20}. These discrepancies can be partly reconciled by differences in the duration^{5, 19-20} and intensity²⁰ of the training programs, by the different age of subjects⁵ as well as by different methodologies used to assess body composition.

Although some research indicates that AT and RT may induce positive alterations in the lipoprotein profiles of young²¹, middle-aged^{18, 22} and older adults^{7, 23} the present study failed to observe positive effects of training on the lipid-lipoprotein profile. Concerning the specific case of HDL cholesterol, it is possible that our subjects had such high baseline HDL levels that little room was left for improvement.

A significant mean decrease in hs-CRP, the best overall marker of underlying chronic inflammation, was observed in subjects who underwent AT. This finding is of paramount importance because, more than a biomarker of inflammation, high levels of hs-CRP are closer associated with increased risk for coronary heart disease, stroke and myocardial infarction²⁴. In this sense the 85.7% and 50% decrease in the number of subjects classified as having high risk to

develop CVD after AT and RT, respectively, might be considered clinically relevant. Finally, the findings from the subanalysis of the subjects with hs-CRP levels above 3.0mg/dL demonstrated that AT also reduced IL-6 levels in this subgroup. This suggests that those high-risk individuals benefit more from AT than those with lower risk.

It is estimated that adipose tissue contributes up to one-third of circulating IL-6 at rest²⁵. Increased level of IL-6, in its turn, leads to the secretion of acute phase proteins like CRP by the liver²⁴⁻²⁵. In addition, fat free acids released by adipocytes promote the production of TNF- α . Therefore, it is suggested that the exercise-induced loss of body fat may lead to a reduced serum IL-6, TNF- α , and, as consequence, reduced CRP⁴. Interestingly, in our study, both total and central body fat loss induced by AT were followed by decreased hs-CRP levels and IL-6 (only for individuals previously classified as high-risk) while the similar total and central body fat decreases induced by RT were not followed by a similar reduction in any of the biomarkers under investigation. These findings suggest that other training-induced mechanisms beyond body fat decrease are necessary to decrease inflammation. It is possible that changes induced by aerobic training in anti-oxidant status²⁶ or endothelial function²⁷ are related with the benefits observed in the inflammatory status of AT.

It was also surprising that despite the reduction in body fat, no changes in TNF- α were observed after both training protocols. Individuals in WL, on the opposite, demonstrated increased levels of TNF- α after the 8-month observation period. Therefore, it is possible to suggest that if exercise training is not able to decrease TNF- α levels in older adults with no serious medical conditions, it is at least able to avoid its increase.

Despite its important anti-inflammatory role in a number of inflammatory conditions, the effect of training on IL-10 serum levels it is not frequently assessed²⁴. Petersen and Pedersen¹¹ in their review suggested that the process of muscular contraction during exercise could stimulate the transcription of IL-6 mRNA, with consequent activation of the cascade of anti-

inflammtory cytokines such as IL-10. Evidence supporting this hypothesis comes mainly from animal models²⁸, acute effects of exercise²⁹ or diseased populations³⁰⁻³¹. Nunes et al.²⁸ showed that regular physical training improves the anti-inflammatory response by increasing plasmatic levels of IL-10 in a rat model of chronic heart failure. In humans, single bouts of exercise have demonstrated both significant increases in intracellular anti-inflammatory markers such as IL-4, IL-10 and growth hormone²⁹ and that acute moderateintensity exercise has neither an anti- or pro-inflammatory effect over seven days following exercise³². The chronic effect of exercise in IL-10 is limited to patients with chronic conditions like diabetes ³¹ and coronary artery disease³⁰. In these subjects aerobic training induced increase in circulating IL-10, however, it is important to take into account that individuals diagnosed with such diseases generally present high levels of pro-inflammatory and low levels of anti-inflammatory biomarkers, which theoretically permit greater exerciseinduced improvements when compared to apparently healthy individuals. Additional work is clearly needed to better understand the impact of training on IL-10 in older adults free of clinical conditions.

It has been recently suggested that exercise training-related improvements in HRV may also play a role mediating the inhibition of inflammatory response observed in trained individuals³³. The latest findings showed increased vagal activity to be associated with decreased peripheral inflammatory responses, measured by TNF- α , IL-6 and hs-CRP, which may reduce the risk of inflammatory diseases⁵. This immune-modulatory function of the vagus nerve, whereby activation of efferent arm results in regulation of cytokine production, was termed the 'Cholinergic anti-inflammatory pathway'⁸. The improvement in parasympathetic activity followed by reduced hs-CRP levels that were observed after AT seems to reinforce the idea of a cholinergic anti-inflammatory pathway, and at the same time give insight into the role of regular AT in prevention of diseases linked with low-grade inflammation. Although increased vagal activity was not observed following resistance training, this group showed an increase in overall HRV, which is an important finding once decreased HRV has been

shown to be a major predictor for subsequent cardiac events in individuals free of clinical heart disease³⁴.

Concerning BP, although others³⁵⁻³⁶ have reported decreases in BP following RT, in the current study only the AT group demonstrated lower levels of SBP and DBP after intervention. Once hypertension is closely related with autonomic dysfunction⁴, it is possible that the increased parasympathetic activity observed in AT can, at least, partially explain the BP reduction in AT. Likewise, AT was a unique intervention to improve the aerobic fitness of older adults. The aerobic exercise-induced improvements in BP and aerobic fitness have been systematically verified by other investigators^{17-18, 25, 37-38}.

Although the AT group demonstrated a greater number of positive changes to the CVD risk profile than the RT group, the comparison of relative changes between groups suggest that the relative mean changes observed over the eight months were not significantly different between these groups. Therefore, we might assume that both training protocols induce changes of similar magnitude in the variables under investigation.

The current study has some limitations. Breathing frequency was not controlled when analyzing HRV; however, it was demonstrated that measures of HRV using a metronome had a similar consistency with time³⁹ and a similar reproducibility⁴⁰ to free breathing conditions. The high dropout rate observed in the resistance-training group might be considered a limitation. Nevertheless, previous studies²² with long-duration exercise programs like that in the present study have reported a similar withdrawal rate.

In spite of these limitations, this study has important strengths. A key strength is that to our knowledge, this is the first study aimed at assessing training effects on both autonomic function and inflammation in community-dwelling older adults free of clinical heart disease. Additionally, the study is based on well-validated methods for assessing body composition, as well for controlling physical activity and energy intake. Thus it is our belief that the methodology used in the present study may offer more reliable information and provide

insight beyond any possible confounders. Lastly, the assessment of several inflammatory biomarkers led us to a broader and deeper evaluation of the effects of exercise in the studied groups.

In conclusion, the present findings provide further evidence for the benefits, by different mechanisms, of AT and RT on reducing body fat, improving autonomic function and decreasing low-grade inflammation in communitydwelling older adults. Although there are a limited number of investigations aimed at assessing the effects of training beyond AT on inflammation and autonomic function of older adults, our results emphasize the need to promote and prescribe RT as a therapeutic strategy against increased body fat and reduced HRV as well as their related increase in CVD risk.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank to the volunteers of this study. Without their selfless contribution, this study would not have been possible. The authors would also like to thank Dr. José Maia, Dr. José Carlos, M.S. Gustavo Silva and M.S. Alberto Alves for their statistical support.

Funding Acknowledgment

This work was supported by the Portuguese Foundation for Science and Technology (grant numbers, PTDC /DES /108780 /2008 and SFRH /BD /33124 /2007).

Declaration of Conflicting Interests

The authors declare that there is no conflict of interest.

References

1. Marsland AL, Gianaros PJ, Prather AA, Jennings JR, Neumann SA, Manuck SB. Stimulated Production of Proinflammatory Cytokines Covaries Inversely With Heart Rate Variability. *Psychosom Med* 2007;69:709-16.

2. Tracey KJ. Fat meets the cholinergic antiinflammatory pathway. *JEM* 2005;202:1017-21.

3. de Rekeneire N, Peila R, Ding J, et al. Diabetes, Hyperglycemia, and Inflammation in Older Individuals. *Diabetes Care* 2006;29:1902-8.

4. Mathieu P, Poirier P, Pibarot P, Lemieux I, Despres J-P. Visceral Obesity: The Link Among Inflammation, Hypertension, and Cardiovascular Disease. *Hypertension* 2009;53:577-84.

5. Heffernan KS, Jae SY, Vieira VJ, et al. C-reactive protein and cardiac vagal activity following resistance exercise training in young African-American and white men. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* 2009;296:R1098-105.

6. Chodzko-Zajko W, Proctor D, Fiatarone Singh M, et al. American College of Sports Medicine position stand. Exercise and physical activity for older adults. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 2009;41:1510-30.

7. Newman AB, Arnold AM, Naydeck BL, et al. "Successful Aging": Effect of Subclinical Cardiovascular Disease. *Arch Intern Med* 2003;163:2315-22.

8. Johnston GR, Webster NR. Cytokines and the immunomodulatory function of the vagus nerve. *Br J Anaesth* 2009;102:453-62.

9. Tulppo MP, Makikallio TH, Seppanen T, Laukkanen RT, Huikuri HV. Vagal modulation of heart rate during exercise: effects of age and physical fitness. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 1998;274:H424-9.

10. Henwood TR, Riek S, Taaffe DR. Strength Versus Muscle Power-Specific Resistance Training in Community-Dwelling Older Adults. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci* 2008;63:83-91.

11. Petersen AMW, Pedersen BK. The anti-inflammatory effect of exercise. *J Appl Physiol* 2005;98:1154-62.

12. Kokkinos P, Myers J, Faselis C, et al. Exercise Capacity and Mortality in Older Men: A 20-Year Follow-Up Study. *Circulation* 2010;122:790-7.

13. Braith RW, Stewart KJ. Resistance Exercise Training: Its Role in the Prevention of Cardiovascular Disease. *Circulation* 2006;113:2642-50.

14. Malik M, Bigger JT, Camm AJ, et al. Heart rate variability: Standards of measurement, physiological interpretation, and clinical use. *Eur Heart J* 1996; 17:354-81.

15. Kervio G, Carre F, Ville NS. Reliability and intensity of the six-minute walk test in healthy elderly subjects. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 2003;35:169-74.

16. Mark A, Janssen I. Dose-response relation between physical activity and blood pressure in youth. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 2008;40:1007-12.

17. Sillanpaa E, Hakkinen A, Nyman K, et al. Body composition and fitness during strength and/or endurance training in older men. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 2008;40:950-8.

18. Okita K, Nishijima H, Murakami T, et al. Can Exercise Training With Weight Loss Lower Serum C-Reactive Protein Levels? *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 2004;24:1868-73.

19. Timmerman KL, Flynn MG, Coen PM, Markofski MM, Pence BD. Exercise training-induced lowering of inflammatory (CD14+CD16+) monocytes: a role in the anti-inflammatory influence of exercise? *J Leukoc Biol* 2008;84:1271-8.

20. Wanderley FAC, Oliveira J, Mota J, Carvalho J. Effects of a Moderateintensity Walking Program on Blood Pressure, Body Composition and Functional Fitness in Older Women: results of a pilot study. *Arch Exerc Health Dis* 2010;1:50-7.

21. Prabhakaran B, Dowling EA, Branch JD, Swain DP, Leutholtz BC. Effect of 14 weeks of resistance training on lipid profile and body fat percentage in premenopausal women. *Br J Sports Med* 1999;33:190-5.

22. Ring-Dimitriou S, von Duvillard SP, Paulweber B, et al. Nine months aerobic fitness induced changes on blood lipids and lipoproteins in untrained subjects versus controls. *Eur J Appl Physiol* 2007;99:291-9.

23. Fahlman MM, Boardley D, Lambert CP, Flynn MG. Effects of Endurance Training and Resistance Training on Plasma Lipoprotein Profiles in Elderly Women. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci* 2002;57:B54-60.

24. Kritchevsky SB, Cesari M, Pahor M. Inflammatory markers and cardiovascular health in older adults. *Cardiovasc Res* 2005;66:265-75.

25. Thompson D, Markovitch D, Betts JA, Mazzatti D, Turner J, Tyrrell RM. Time course of changes in inflammatory markers during a 6-mo exercise intervention in sedentary middle-aged men: a randomized-controlled trial. *J Appl Physiol* 2010;108:769-79.

26. Ferreira JCB, Bacurau AV, Bueno CR, Junior, et al. Aerobic exercise training improves Ca2+ handling and redox status of skeletal muscle in mice. *Exp Biol Med* 2010;235:497-505.

27. Hambrecht R, Wolf A, Gielen S, et al. Effect of exercise on coronary endothelial function in patients with coronary artery disease. *N Engl J Med* 2000;342:454-60.

28. Nunes RB, Tonetto M, Machado N, et al. Physical exercise improves plasmatic levels of IL-10, left ventricular end-diastolic pressure, and muscle lipid peroxidation in chronic heart failure rats. *J Appl Physiol* 2008;104:1641-7.

29. Zaldivar F, Wang-Rodriguez J, Nemet D, et al. Constitutive pro- and antiinflammatory cytokine and growth factor response to exercise in leukocytes. *J Appl Physiol* 2006;100:1124-33.

30. Goldhammer E, Tanchilevitch A, Maor I, Beniamini Y, Rosenschein U, Sagiv M. Exercise training modulates cytokines activity in coronary heart disease patients. *Int J Cardiol* 2005;100:93-9.

31. Kadoglou N, Iliadis F, Angelopoulou N, et al. The anti-inflammatory effects of exercise training in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Eur J Cardiovasc Prev Rehabil* 2007;14:837-43.

32. Markovitch D, Tyrrell RM, Thompson D. Acute moderate-intensity exercise in middle-aged men has neither an anti- nor proinflammatory effect. *J Appl Physiol* 2008;105:260-5.

33. Hamer M, Steptoe A. Association Between Physical Fitness, Parasympathetic Control, and Proinflammatory Responses to Mental Stress. *Psychosom Med* 2007;69:660-6.

34. Tsuji H, Larson MG, Venditti FJ, et al. Impact of Reduced Heart Rate Variability on Risk for Cardiac Events: The Framingham Heart Study. *Circulation* 1996;94:2850-5.

35. Carter JR, Ray CA, Downs EM, Cooke WH. Strength training reduces arterial blood pressure but not sympathetic neural activity in young normotensive subjects. *J Appl Physiol* 2003;94:2212-6.

36. Melo RC, Quiterio RJ, Takahashi ACM, Silva E, Martins LEB, Catai AM. High eccentric strength training reduces heart rate variability in healthy older men. *Br J Sports Med* 2008;42:59-63.

37. Audette JF, Jin YS, Newcomer R, Stein L, Duncan G, Frontera WR. Tai Chi versus brisk walking in elderly women. *Age Ageing* 2006;35:388-93.

38. Perini R, Fisher N, Veicsteinas A, Pendergast DR. Aerobic training and cardiovascular responses at rest and during exercise in older men and women. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 2002;34:700-8.

39. Sinnreich R, Kark JD, Friedlander Y, Sapoznikov D, Luria MH. Five minute recordings of heart rate variability for population studies: repeatability and age-sex characteristics. *Heart* 1998;80:156-62.

40. Dionne I, White M, Tremblay A. The reproducibility of power spectrum analysis of heart rate variability before and after a standardized meal. *Physiol Behav* 2002;75:267-70.

STUDY V

Health-related Quality of Life (HRQoL), Body Composition and Functional Fitness of Older Adults: Results from Aerobic *vs.* Resistance Training.

Flávia A. C. Wanderley¹, Nórton L. Oliveira¹, Elisa Marques¹, Pedro Moreira², José Oliveira¹, Joana Carvalho¹

Research Centre in Physical Activity, Health and Leisure, Faculty of Sport Sciences, University of Porto, Porto, Portugal

² Faculty of Nutrition and Food Sciences, University of Porto, Porto, Portugal

Submitted to Journal of Aging and Physical Activity on the 04th of January, 2011

Health-related Quality of Life (HRQoL), Body Composition and Functional Fitness of Older Adults: Results from Aerobic *vs.* Resistance Training.

Flávia A. C. Wanderley, Nórton L. Oliveira, Elisa Marques, Pedro Moreira, José

Research Centre in Physical Activity, Health and Leisure, Faculty of Sport Sciences, University of Porto, Porto, Portugal

² Faculty of Nutrition and Food Sciences, University of Porto, Porto, Portugal

Corresponding Author: Flávia A. C. Wanderley

Faculty of Sport Sciences, University of Porto, Portugal

Post address: Rua Dr. Plácido Costa, 91, 4200-450 Porto, Portugal

Tel. 00351225074785; Fax: 00351225500689;

E-mail adress: flaviacanuto@gmail.com

Running head: Training improves HRQoL and fitness in elders

Abstract

This study aimed to investigate the effects of exercise training on body composition, functional fitness, and health-related quality of life (HRQoL) of community-dwelling older adults. Subjects (n=50, 68.0±5.5 years) were randomized into aerobic training (AT), resistance training (RT) or waiting list (WL). Data on body composition, physical function, and HRQoL were assessed. After eight months of training, AT ($p \le 0.01$) and RT (p = 0.02) reduced body fat, increased performance on the sit-to-stand five times ($p \le 0.01$), stair ascent ($p \le 0.01$) and 8-foot up-and-go (RT, p = 0.02; AT, $p \le 0.01$) tests. AT improved 6-minute walk distance ($p \le 0.01$), scored higher on physical functioning, (p = 0.04), general health (GH, $p \le 0.01$) and scored higher on GH (p = 0.04). WL increased body fat (p = 0.02) and scored less on GH (p = 0.04) and MH (p = 0.04). AT and RT were effective interventions for decreasing body fat, and improving physical function and HRQoL in older adults.

Key Words: older people; physical performance; quality of life, exercise training.

Introduction

Advancing age is generally accompanied by several metabolic and physical alterations that increase susceptibility to many chronic conditions, disability, and reduced quality of life (QoL). In the specific case of xxxxx, The National Institute of Statistics (INE) recently observed that 41.4% and 19.5% of individuals over 65 years of age self-reported their health and QoL respectively, as bad or very bad (INE, 2009). In addition, it was also reported that older adults accounted for 46.9% of the national prevalence of disability (INE, 2009). On the basis of this data, it appears important to develop health policy strategies to prevent disability and reduced QoL in old age.

One of the barriers to advancing knowledge in the field of QoL is the lack of precision in its definition. Despite the lack of agreement regarding the definition of QoL, it is widely accepted that it refers to a multidimensional construct (Halvorsrud & Kalfoss, 2007) that includes physical, emotional, and social domains. Each of these domains can also be influenced by several factors. Although each factor impacts individuals differently it is assumed that there are group-specific characteristics in QoL (Netuveli & Blane, 2008). For older adults, family relationships, social contacts and activities, functional ability, health status, and general health seem to be important factors when assessing QoL (Farquhar, 1995).

Health does not uniquely influencing QoL in older adults, but it is generally considered an important aspect. In this regard, health-related quality of life (HRQoL) includes several aspects of life such as illness, chronic conditions, disability, and socioeconomic status (SES) that affect perceived physical and mental health (Brown, 2004; Halvorsrud & Kalfoss, 2007). This construct is widely used in clinical practice and in research. It is positively associated with objective health outcomes (e.g. body mass index [BMI] and the number of chronic conditions) and mortality (Kroenke, Kubzansky, Adler, & Kawachi, 2008; Mossey & Shapiro 1982; Wannamethee & Shaper 1991).

An earlier disability model (Jette, 2006) suggested that diseases and chronic conditions lead to impairment, which leads to functional limitation, and then, finally, to disability. Rikli & Jones (1999) proposed that physical inactivity could be as responsible for the decline in functionality as diseases. Furthermore, the interactions between physical inactivity and disease increase disability, thereby, influencing perceptions of HRQoL of older adults.

Conversely, several studies demonstrated health benefits related to increased habitual physical activity. Among such benefits are reduced risk of developing cardiovascular diseases (Barengo, et al., 2004) and type II Diabetes (Krause, et al., 2007), reduced body fat (Bouchard, Beliaeff, Dionne, & Brochu, 2007), maintenance of autonomy (Balzi, et al., 2010), and reduced risk of falling (Chang, et al., 2004).

Beyond the observed associations between physical activity and fitness with objective measures of health outcomes, cross-sectional studies have also demonstrated a positive relationship between physical activity and measures of subjective HRQoL (Brown, 2004; Kruger, Bowles, Jones, Ainsworth, & Kohl, 2007). Therefore, it is likely that physical activity has an impact on both objective health outcomes and subjective HRQoL (Leinonen, Heikkinen, & Jylha, 2001).

The accumulating evidence regarding the benefits of physical activity has motivated prominent organizations like the American College of Sports Medicine and the American Heart Association to recommend physical activity in order to improve functionality and prevent disability in older adults (ACSM/AHA, 2007). However, it is still a matter of discussion to whether changes in physical function due to exercise training positively influence perceptions of HRQoL in older adults.

Despite the fact that many cross-sectional and epidemiological studies (Brown, et al., 2004; Leinonen, Heikkinen, & Jylha, 2001; Lorraine, Hammock, & Blanton, 2005) have found a positive association between physical activity and HRQoL, the available data from randomized controlled intervention trials in

independent community-dwelling older adults fails to consistently find a strong effect of exercise training on subjective HRQoL (Martins, Assis, Nahas, Gauche, & Moura, 2009). Moreover, the impact of the type of exercise on training-induced improvements in the self-reporting of HRQoL has not been well studied. Therefore, this study aimed (i) to investigate the effects of two types of exercise training based on the recommendations of current guidelines for physical activity in older adults on subjective HRQoL, functional fitness, and body composition and (ii) to determine the relationship between the changes in functionality and body composition and the changes in HRQoL of independent community-dwelling older adults with no serious medical conditions.

Design and Method

Subjects and Study Design

In this randomized, controlled study, one hundred and eight communitydwelling and independent older adults were recruited from the xxxxx area (xxxxx) by means of advertisements placed in newspapers. The study design is presented in Figure 1.

Subjects were asked to come to the Faculty of Sport on four different days. On the first day, 105 volunteers (78 women and 27 men) completed a health history questionnaire to record past and present conditions and medications. The nature, benefits, and risks of the study were explained to the volunteers, and their written informed consent was obtained. Subjects older than 60 years of age who were community-dwelling and physically independent, i.e., those able to perform the basic and instrumental activities of daily living were included. The exclusion criteria included: (i) acute or terminal illness; (ii) severe or uncontrolled hypertension; (iii) severe or uncontrolled diabetes; (iv) cardiovascular and/or respiratory disorders; (v) any neurological, skeletalmuscle or joint disorder or disturbance that precluded the participation in exercise and testing; (vi) being under the influence of pharmacological therapies that could reduce safety during exercise; and (vii) being involved in regular, supervised exercise training (performing moderate to vigorous exercise for 20 minutes or more at least twice a week) in the previous six months.



Figure 1. Flowchart depicting the study design.

A second visit was scheduled with each participant to administer the Medical Outcomes Study 36-Item Short-Form Health Study questionnaire (SF-36), and to measure aerobic fitness, stair ascent, and hand-grip strength. On the third day, subjects underwent anthropometric body composition, dual energy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA), and measurements in the 8-foot up-and-go (8FUG) test and, the sit-to-stand five times test. At this time they were also instructed on how to use accelerometers and how to record the 4-day food diary for assessment of habitual physical activity and dietary intake. Finally, on the fourth visit (at least seven days after the third visit) subjects were asked to return the completed 4-day food diary and the accelerometer recordings.

After screening, three individuals were excluded due to cardiovascular diseases (two had had strokes and one had had a cerebrovascular event) and another 17 subjects had given-up and without completing the baseline assessments. Thus, only 85 older adults were randomly allocated, according to computer generated block randomization, into the AT, RT, or Waiting List (WL) groups for eight months. Completion of the training program was defined by an attendance rate of at least 80% of the scheduled sessions. Additionally, older adults who were absent for more than seven consecutive sessions were excluded from the analysis. All subjects were instructed not to change their usual physical activity routines or dietary patterns during the course of the study. Subjects were also asked to inform researchers whenever it was necessary to change medication (type and/or dosage). All methods and procedures were approved by the Institutional Review Board.

Training Protocol

For both exercise training types (AT and RT), older adults trained three times per week (non-consecutive days) for eight months, and each exercise session lasted approximately 50 minutes. Training sessions were generally conducted in indoor facilities.

Aerobic training. Training workouts consisted of a 10-minute warm-up that included stretching and callisthenics, thirty minutes of aerobic exercise that mainly consisted of walking, and a 10-minute cool-down. In the first month, the intensity of the AT was gradually increased from 50-60% to 70-80% of the HR_{Reserve} (HR_{Reserve} = HR_{max} – HR at rest), where a subject's maximum heart

rate was calculated as suggested by Tanaka, Monahan, & Seals (2001) $(HR_{max}= 208 \times 0.7 \text{ [age]})$ or from a rating of perceived exertion (RPE) of 4-6 to 7-8. In order to make sure that the subjects were exercising at the targeted intensity, Polar Heart Rate Monitors (Polar Team System, Finland) was used as primary criteria. All subjects had their RPE registered, but it was only used as primary criteria for five individuals who were on medication known to interfere with HR control (beta-blockers, calcium channel blockers, and vasodilators).

Resistance training. The RT protocol consisted of a 10-minute warm-up that included stretching and callisthenics, nine exercises (leg press, chest press, leg extension, seated row, seated leg curl, abdominal flexion, biceps curl, low-back extension, and triceps extension) for different muscle groups, and a 10-minute cool-down. During the first week of RT, the subjects were familiarized with the devices by performing one set of 12-15 repetitions (reps) with no load. Subjects were taught proper lifting techniques and safety precautions. To minimize excessive blood pressure responses, individuals were told to avoid extended breath-holding (Valsalva manoeuvre), during their reps. Then, a baseline one repetition maximum (1RM) for each exercise was undertaken. Afterwards, older adults performed two sets of 12-15 reps at 50-60% 1RM, or a RPE 4-6, for the first month. At the end of the first month, the 1RM was measured again and the load was increased to 80% 1RM or RPE 7-8. At this intensity, older adults performed two sets of 8-12 reps. Every two months, the 1RM was measured in order to keep the training stimulus consistently at 80% 1RM, or a RPE of 7-8. When an individual RPE was under the rating of 7 for two consecutive sessions, the subject was instructed to increase the load so that he/she could perform two sets of 8-12 reps at an appropriate RPE. Concentric and eccentric movements were performed at a rate of three seconds. A 2-minute rest between each set was provided.

Waiting list. During the study period, individuals randomized to this group were contacted by phone in 4-month intervals to attest they were still interested in participating in the program. At these moments, they were reminded to try to not change their lifestyle (physical activity, diet, or medication). After the 8-

month observation period, they were invited to participate in specific exercise programs (their choice of resistance or gymnastics) designed for seniors.

Measures

Throughout all the assessments, the test administrator and the time of day used for testing remained constant.

Anthropometrics and body composition. Body weight was measured to the nearest 0.1kg with an electronic weight scale (*SECA 708*). Subjects were weighed barefoot wearing light clothing. Height was measured to the nearest 1mm with a standard stadiometer. Body Mass Index (BMI) was determined. Whole body lean mass (LM) and percent of total body fat (%BF) were determined using a DXA (Hologic QDR-4500, software for windows XP, version 12.4) with subjects in the supine position.

Functional fitness assessment. All tests were chosen because they are valid and reliable instruments that can be used to obtain measurements in a variety of settings, with minimal equipment costs and without special set-up to obtain the measurements (VanSwearingen & Brach, 2001). Test-retest reliability using the intra-class correlation coefficient (ICC) two-way mixed model for the selected physical fitness tests was determined on a randomly selected subset of 15 subjects (which represents approximately 20% of the sample), five subjects from each group. Subjects completed two sessions of tests separated by 12 days. The ICC values for the 6-minute walk test (6MWT), hand-grip, sitto-stand five times, stair ascent and 8FUG tests were 0.91 ($p \le 0.01$), 0.98 ($p \le 0.01$), 0.95 ($p \le 0.01$), and 0.95 ($p \le 0.01$), respectively. In all timed tests, the individual's performance was registered with a standard stopwatch to the nearest tenth of a second.

Aerobic fitness. Aerobic fitness was assessed using the 6MWT, which is a commonly test used to assess physical performance in older people (Lord & Menz, 2002), particularly to obtain valid measures of submaximal aerobic capacity and exercise endurance (American Thoracic Society [ATS] 2002;

Kervio, Carre, & Ville, 2003; Rikli & Jones, 1998). This test measured the distance in meters covered when subjects were instructed to walk as quickly as they could for six minutes. Walks were conducted on a flat fifty meter rectangular course, marked off in five meter segments. If necessary, subjects were allowed to stop and rest.

Hand-grip strength. Hand-grip strength has been widely used as a surrogate measure of total body strength (Herman, et al., 2005). Amongst older adults, it has been shown to correlate with a decline in the activities of daily living and cognition (Taekema, Gussekloo, Maier, Westendorp, & de Craen, 2010), markers of frailty (Syddall, Cooper, Martin, Briggs, & Aihie Sayer, 2003), and disability (Al Snih, Markides, Ottenbacher, & Raji, 2004). Moreover it was demonstrated to be a predictor of all-cause mortality in the older population (Ling, et al., 2010; Syddall, et al., 2003). In the present study, hand-grip strength was isometrically measured using an electronic hand-grip dynamometer (Takei, TKK 5101 Grip-D). The subject held the dynamometer in the dominant hand with his or her arm by his or her side and had to squeeze using maximum force. The best score obtained in three trials, with an approximate two-minute rest between trials, was recorded.

Sit-to-stand five times. One of the most common activities of daily living is rising from a seated to a standing position. The ability to perform this movement is important to maintaining physical independence (McCarthy, Horvat, Holtsberg, & Wisenbaker, 2004). In community-dwelling older adults, the sit-to-stand five times test influenced by multiple sensorimotor, balance, and psychological processes; this test represents a particular transfer skill (Lord, Murray, Chapman, Munro, & Tiedemann, 2002) and is a proxy measure of muscle strength (VanSwearingen & Brach, 2001) and power (Bean, et al., 2002). The tests were conducted as suggested by Whitney et al. (2005) and consisted of timing an individual stood five times from an armless standard chair (45cm high).

Stair ascent. Difficulty in stair negotiation (ascent and descent) has been shown to be an indicator of disability closely related with lower limb strength (Tiedemann, Sherrington, & Lord, 2007). Therefore, the time required to ascend a ten-stair (17cm high, 30cm deep) prop was recorded to evaluate older adults' stair negotiation skills.

8-foot up-and-go (8FUG). The 8FUG is a modified version of the 3m timed up-and-go test. Both tests have been widely used to monitor functional mobility and have been found to be good predictors of recurrent falling (Whitney, Lord, & Close, 2005). The test consisted of timing an individual as he or she stood from a standard chair, walked eight feet (2.44m), turned around a cone, returned to the chair, and sat down.

Health-related quality of life (HRQoL). Older adults' perceptions of their HRQoL were subjectively assessed using the SF-36 (Ware & Sherbourne, 1992), which was adapted and validated for the population under investigation (Ferreira, 1998). The SF-36 is a relatively simple and brief questionnaire that was originally developed to assess generic health status (Ware & Sherbourne, 1992). However, it has become a widely used indirect measurement of HRQoL (Hopman, et al., 2000) since important correlations were reported between its scales and several specific dimensions of HRQoL, including living arrangements, financial situation, disability, and family life (Anderson, Laubscher, & Burns, 1996; Ware, Snow, Kosinski, & Gandek, 1993). Moreover, the SF-36 was validated in a variety of countries (Ferreira, 1998; Hopman et al., 2000) and sub-population groups, including stroke patients (Anderson, Laubscher, & Burns, 1996) and relatively healthy older adults (Lyons, Perry, & Littlepage, 1994; Parker, Peet, Jagger, Farhan, & Castleden, 1998). The SF-36 is comprised of eight health concepts: physical functioning (PF; 10 items), rolephysical (RP; 4 items), bodily pain (BP; 2 items), general health (GH; 5 items), vitality (VT; 4 items), social functioning (SF; 2 items), role-emotional (RE; 3 items), and mental health (MH; 5 items) (Anderson, Laubscher, & Burns, 1996). These eight scales can be aggregated into two components, the SF-36 Physical Component Summary (PCS) and Mental Component Summary (MCS). There is

also a single separate item that is used to assess any change in health from one year before.

The instrument was administered through personal interview, and normbased scores for the SF-36 were calculated using the methods set out by Ware, Snow, Kosinski, & Gandek (1993) and Ware & Kosinski (2001). In the normbased scales and components, a score of 50 represented the mean. Therefore, all scores above or below 50 can be interpreted as above or below the general population (US population) norm.

Habitual physical activity. Physical activity levels were assessed using accelerometers (Actigraph GT1M, Actigraph LLC, Pensacola, FL) as an objective measure of daily physical activity. The Actigraph accelerometer is an uniaxial monitor that measures the intensity of movement averaged over 1minute sampling intervals called 'epochs' (Mark & Janssen, 2008). Monitors were programmed to start recording at midday of the second meeting and recorded activity for the following seven days. Subjects were instructed to wear the accelerometer over their right hip (Freedson, Melanson, & Sirard, 1998) for a seven-day period (five week days and two weekend days). Exceptions included time spent sleeping, showering, and during water-based activities. Subjects were asked to maintain their usual activities and record them in a diary. Data from each monitor were downloaded by the investigators and compared with data from a diary before the average counts/min had been calculated. This unit of measurement (counts/min) was generated based on magnitude and frequency of movement (Mark & Janssen, 2008). To the best of our knowledge, there are no appropriate counts/min cut-points that represent meaningful intensity categories (sedentary, moderate and vigorous) in older adults. Therefore, in the current study, physical activity levels were expressed as the average counts per minute (obtained from the Actigraph monitor) over the 7 days.

Dietary intake. Dietary intake was measured by a four-day dietary record (DR) (three weekdays and one weekend day), before and after the intervention.

Subjects were asked to record all food and drink consumed on each recording day, trying to not change their eating habits. To ensure standardization in the recording, a nutritionist individually instructed the subjects on how to fill out the DR correctly. After receiving the completed DRs, nutritionists checked them for missing information, and when necessary, the subjects were asked to add extra information (generally quantities and food preparation issues) for the following visit. Dietary records were analyzed using an adapted national version of the software Food Processor Plus® (ESHA Research Inc, Salem, Oregon, USA), a nutritional analysis software that converts food intake into total energy and nutrients, based on food composition tables available from the USDA (United States Department of Agriculture) and national data from typical national foods.

Statistical Analysis

The characteristics of the subjects were initially described using tabulations of frequency and percentage distributions. The results were shown as means and standard deviations (M±SD). A one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to identify between group differences in baseline values. When a significant main effect was detected at a significance level of p<0.05, a Bonferonni correction was used for post-hoc comparison. To detect changes within groups (pre-test vs. post-test), a paired t-test was employed. The pre-topost changes (Δ) for each subject were related to the individual baseline level to define the relative change ($\%\Delta$). In order to identify differences in pre-to-post changes between groups, General Linear Models were used, with the relative change as the dependent variable and the group as the fixed factor. Afterwards, baseline values, age, gender, %BF and medication were inserted into the models as covariates. Pearson (r) correlation coefficients were used to investigate correlations between relative changes in body composition variables, physical function tests and HRQoL domains. A Mann-Whitney U test was used to identify, in each group, differences between dropouts and compliant subjects. Statistical significance was set at a p value equal to or less than 0.05, and all analyses were performed with SPSS (version 17.0).

Results

Drop-out and Characteristics of the Subjects

After randomization, 11 individuals (8 RT, 3 AT) out of the 85 left the study due to incompatibility with the training timetable. Therefore, only 74 older adults began the protocol. During the eight months, another 24 (32.4%) subjects dropped out of the study (8 RT, 4 AT, 12 WL) for different reasons: low back pain and arthrosis (3 RT); knee surgery (1 RT, 1 WL); cerebral stroke (1 AT, 1 WL); medical advice (2 RT, 1 AT); loss of motivation and moved out of the city (2RT, 1 AT) and 11 (1 AT, 10 WL) were lost because they did not complete the final assessment.

Thus, the total dropout rate was 41.2%, and the final sample was comprised of fifty community-dwelling older adults (68.0 ± 5.5 years), mainly women (n=39, 78.0%); 56.0% had controlled hypertension, 42.0% suffered from dislipidemia, and 18.0% had controlled diabetes. According to BMI criteria, 21.0% were classified as overweight (25-29) and 28.0% as obese (>30). None of the subjects were currently smokers. Finally, four (10.3%) out of thirty-nine women were on hormone replacement therapy (HRT). Table 1 presents the main characteristics of the subjects for each group at baseline and the flow of subjects during the study is presented in Figure 2.

Differences Between Groups at Baseline

Before the protocol, the RT group had better performance than the WL group in the 6MWT ($p \le 0.01$), 8FUG (p = 0.01), and sit-to-stand five times ($p \le 0.01$). On the contrary, the WL group had better GH perceptions than the RT group ($p \le 0.01$). When compared with the WL group, the AT group had higher perceptions of their RP ($Pp \le 0.01$). The AT group also demonstrated better performance in the sit-to-stand five times than the WL group (p = 0.01). The WL group had a higher dietary intake when compared with the AT group (p = 0.01). No significant differences were observed at baseline in either body composition outcomes or in physical activity levels.

	Resistance	Aerobic n=20	Waiting List
Gender	4 men, 7 women	3 men, 17 women	4 men, 15 women
Age (years)	67.3±4.9	69.9±5.7	67.8±5.5
BMI (kg/m²)	29.5 ± 5.0	28.1 ± 4.1	27.2 ± 3.5
Controlled hypertension, n (%)	6 (54.5%)	9 (45.0%)	13 (68.4%)
Controlled dislipidemia, n (%)	4 (36.4%)	10 (50.0%)	7 (36.8%)
Controlled diabetes, n (%)	1 (9.1%)	2 (10.0%)	6 (31.6%)
Smoking status			
Never, n (%)	9 (81.8%)	18 (90.0%)	17 (89.5%)
Former, n (%)	2 (18.2%)	2 (10.0%)	2 (10.5%)
Smoker, n (%)	0	0	0
HRT, n (%)	1 (9.1%)	3 (15.0%)	0

BMI – body mass index; HRT – hormone replacement therapy.



Figure 2. Flowchart describing retention of participants.

Differences Within Groups after the Protocol

After the protocol, the RT and AT groups demonstrated a lower %BF (RT, p=0.02; AT, $p\leq0.01$), while the WL group had greater %BF (p=0.02). No changes were observed in older adults' BMI or lean mass across the eight months. As expected, the RT and AT groups also increased their fitness through the training. The AT group had a better performance in the 6MWT $(p \le 0.01)$, and the RT group had higher hand-grip strength $(p \le 0.01)$. Additionally, both training groups decreased the time needed to perform the sit-to-stand fivetimes (RT, $p \le 0.01$; AT, $p \le 0.01$), stair ascent (RT, $p \le 0.01$; AT, $p \le 0.01$) and the 8FUG (RT, $p \le 0.01$; AT, $p \le 0.01$) tests. Interestingly, the WL group also decreased the time needed to perform the sit-to-stand five times test (p=0.02). Besides improvements in body composition and fitness, the older adults in the AT group scored higher on PF (p=0.04), GH ($p\leq0.01$) and MH (p=0.03), and older adults in the RT group also scored higher on GH (p=0.04). On the contrary, worse scores on GH (p=0.04) and MH (p=0.04) were observed in the WL group after the protocol (Table 2). At baseline, in the single separate item of SF-36 that was used to assess any change in health from one year before, the majority of the subjects (70.0%), independent of group, reported no changes in their health status during the last year. On the other hand, after intervention, 72.7% and 65.0% of the RT and AT groups, respectively, evaluated their health as somewhat better or much better than one year ago, while 47.4% of the WL group self-reported their actual health status as somewhat worse now than one year ago. Moreover, none of the subjects in this group reported his or her health as somewhat better or much better than one year ago (Table 3).

Subjects did not change their physical activity levels (p=0.39) or their dietary patterns (p=0.95) across the eight-month study period.

Differences in Relative Changes Between Groups

General linear models demonstrated significant differences in relative changes between groups for BMI, %BF, 6MWT, 8FUG, stair ascent, sit-to-stand, GH, MH, and PCS. Post-hoc comparisons demonstrated that relative

changes in BMI were more pronounced in the RT group than in the WL group (p=0.03). Greater differences were also identified in the RT and AT groups than in the WL group regarding %BF (p≤0.01). Concerning changes in functional fitness, individuals in the AT group demonstrated a greater improvement in 6MWT (p≤0.01) and in stair ascent (p≤0.01) than those in the WL group. Relative changes in 8FUG and sit-to-stand five times were more pronounced in both training groups than in the WL group (p≤0.03). Finally, the relative differences for GH (p=0.01) and MH (p≤0.01) were greater in the AT group than in the WL group than in the WL group than in the WL group than in the AT group than in the KL group (p=0.02). No significant differences in relative changes were observed between the AT and RT groups.

Outcomes	Resistance		•	Acr	obic				
	(=11)			(n=70)			(77	10)	
	Before	After	Δ%	Before	After	Δ%	Before	After	Δ%
Body composition									
BMI (kg/m ²)	29.5 ± 5.0	28.1 ± 4.0	-2.4 ± 4.4	28.1 ± 4.1	27.9 ± 3.8	-0.6 ± 1.5	27.2 ± 3.5	27.6 ± 3.0	2.0 ± 4.6
%BF	34.5 ± 7.1	32.9 ± 8.3*	-5.4 ± 6.3	38.4 ± 5.3	37.2 ± 5.6*	-3.3 ± 2.9	34.5 ± 5.9	$35.2 \pm 6.0*$	2.1 ± 3.5
Lean mass (kg)	43.7 ± 9.8	43.8 ± 9.8	0,4 ± 4,8	37.2 ± 5.5	37.0 ± 4,5	0.1 ± 5.5	42.9 ± 10.2	42.5 ± 9.7	-0.6 ± 2.5
Functional fitness									
6MWD (m)† Stair ascent (s) 8FUG (s)† Sit-to-stand 5-times (s)† Hand-grip Strength(kg) / Body weight (kg)	630.5 ± 57.0 4.56 ± 0.7 5.14 ± 0.5 7.99 ± 1.0 0.43 ± 0.11	$\begin{array}{c} 659.1 \pm 73.5 \\ 3.95 \pm 0.5^* \\ 4.62 \pm 0.4^* \\ 6.45 \pm 0.7^* \\ 0.46 \pm 0.11^* \end{array}$	4.6 ± 7.4 -12,8 ± 9.9 -8.8 ± 9.7 -18.2 ± 10.8 9.0 ± 8.4	$541.8 \pm 70.4 \\ 5.29 \pm 1.1 \\ 5.88 \pm 1.0 \\ 8.73 \pm 2.1 \\ 0.40 \pm 0.9$	592.4 ± 76.9* 4.20 ± 0.7* 5.08 ± 0.7* 6.71 ± 1.4* 0.41 ± 0.8	9.5 ± 6.9 -20.1 ± 11.4 -13.3 ± 9.6 -21.5 ± 13.9 4.5 ± 13.9	$524.5 \pm 97.0 5.19 \pm 0.8 6.12 \pm 0.9 9.92 \pm 2.5 0.42 \pm 0.9$	533.2 ± 82.7 4.98 ± 1.0 5.94 ± 1.0 9.05 ± 2.5* 0.41 ± 0.1	-0.4 ±9.7 -4.8 ± 10.3 -2.7 ± 12.9 -8.0 ± 16.2 0.8 ± 11.1
Health-related quality of life									
(Standardized scales)									
PF RP† BP GH VT SF RE MH PCS† MCS Physical Activity levels (Count/min)	$\begin{array}{c} 47.6 \pm 8.8 \\ 53.6 \pm 6.6 \\ 48.3 \pm 11.2 \\ 43.4 \pm 7.5 \\ 55.2 \pm 10.0 \\ 53.8 \pm 5.7 \\ 50.7 \pm 8.4 \\ 45.4 \pm 15.0 \\ 48.7 \pm 7.2 \\ 50.7 \pm 9.1 \\ 368.9 \pm 106.8 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 51.3\pm4.3\\ 52.9\pm8.6\\ 50.2\pm10.1\\ 48.5\pm5.7*\\ 53.0\pm11.9\\ 53.8\pm4.5\\ 52.6\pm9.3\\ 44.0\pm14.6\\ 52.7\pm3.3\\ 50.9\pm8.6\\ 438.9\pm185.1\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 13.8 \pm 27.8 \\ 5.5 \pm 13.2 \\ 5.6 \pm 14.0 \\ 16.8 \pm 17.0 \\ -1.5 \pm 16.2 \\ 3.2 \pm 13.4 \\ 14.0 \pm 24.7 \\ 2.9 \pm 27.0 \\ 10.0 \pm 15.3 \\ 2.1 \pm 16.4 \\ 17.1 \pm 26.3 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 49.3 \pm 6.2 \\ 55.1 \pm 2.6 \\ 49.2 \pm 11.0 \\ 45.8 \pm 6.7 \\ 56.1 \pm 10.4 \\ 51.9 \pm 10.4 \\ 46.2 \pm 12.8 \\ 45.2 \pm 12.7 \\ 52.2 \pm 5.2 \\ 47.6 \pm 12.9 \\ 318.4 \pm 82.3 \end{array}$	$51.1 \pm 3.6^{+}$ 54.0 ± 6.5 53.1 ± 9.0 $51.5 \pm 6.0^{+}$ 57.3 ± 11.4 52.5 ± 7.1 50.3 ± 10.2 $52.2 \pm 13.0^{+}$ 52.9 ± 5.3 52.5 ± 12.3 334.8 ± 74.3	$\begin{array}{c} 4.4\pm8.1\\ -1.9\pm11.7\\ 14.0\pm36.8\\ 14.4\pm19.7\\ 2.3\pm17.6\\ 11.6\pm61.0\\ 20.9\pm51.4\\ 21.9\pm37.3\\ 2.1\pm12.2\\ 19.7\pm43.5\\ 9.1\pm25.7\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 48.2 \pm 9.3 \\ 52.4 \pm 6.8 \\ 49.2 \pm 10.7 \\ 50.4 \pm 6.4 \\ 53.9 \pm 8.6 \\ 51.1 \pm 5.9 \\ 49.5 \pm 9.9 \\ 47.9 \pm 10.6 \\ 50.6 \pm 6.2 \\ 50.2 \pm 9.1 \\ 354.9 \pm 156.0 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 46.8 \pm 9.8 \\ 47.2 \pm 12.4 \\ 45.0 \pm 8.7 \\ 47.0 \pm 8.3 * \\ 51.2 \pm 11.3 \\ 51.1 \pm 5.9 \\ 47.3 \pm 11.1 \\ 43.0 \pm 13.9 * \\ 47.4 \pm 8.9 \\ 47.6 \pm 8.8 \\ 361.0 \pm 139.3 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 1.5\pm 36.2\\ -9.0\pm 26.3\\ -4.7\pm 27.2\\ -6.6\pm 13.1\\ -4.3\pm 17.9\\ 1.7\pm 20.5\\ -0.9\pm 34.6\\ -10.5\pm 20.8\\ -6.0\pm 16.3\\ -3.1\pm 19.8\\ 8.9\pm 40.0 \end{array}$
Dietary Intake (kcal)	1 531.2± 359.7	1 678.8 ± 647.4	9.9 ± 44.3	1 368.2 ± 281.7	1 428.9 ± 301.6	-0.1±24.8	1 724.6 ± 486.4	1798.7 ± 260.9	0.5 ± 27.3

Table 2. Outcomes at baseline (before) and after protocol.

† Outcomes that presented differences between groups at baseline. *Differences within groups (before and after interventions/observation). p<0.05.

BMI – body mass index; %BF – percentage of body fat; 6MWD – six-minute walk distance; 8FUG – eight-foot up-and- go; PF – physical functioning; RP – role-physical; BP – bodily pain; GH - general health; VT – vitality; SF – social functioning; RE – role-emotional; MH - mental health; PCS – Physical Component Summary; MCS – Mental Component Summary.

	Resistance		Aer	obic	Waiting List		
	<u>Before</u>	<u>After</u>	<u>Before</u>	<u>After</u>	<u>Before</u>	After	
1. Much better now than one	-	1 (9.1)	2 (10.0)	6 (30.0)	1 (5.2)	-	
year ago, n (%)							
2. Somewhat better now than	-	7 (63.6)	3 (15.0)	7 (35.0)	3 (15.8)	1 (5.2)	
one year ago, n (%)							
3. About the same, n (%)	9 (81.8)	3 (27.3)	14 (70)	7 (35.0)	12 (63.2)	9 (47.4)	
4. Somewhat worse now than	2 (18.2)	-	1 (5.0)	-	3 (15.8)	9 (47.4)	
one year ago, n (%)							
5. Much worse now than one	-	-	-	-	-	-	
year ago, n (%)							

Table 3. Frequencies and percentages for each self-rating option in the item

 "changes in general health", before and after protocol.

Further adjustments for baseline values, age, gender, %BF and medication use slightly changed results. In the adjusted models, the factor group did not explain the relative changes in BMI. In addition, the relative changes between the RT and the WL groups in the sit-to-stand five times test and in the PCS lose significance. On the contrary, in the adjusted models, relative changes in the stair ascent were greater in both the AT and RT groups than in the WL group. Finally, the mean differences of the RE and MCS were greater in the AT group than in the WL group (see Table 4).

Table 4.	General	Linear	Models:	between	group	comparisons	of mean	relative
changes	(%Δ).							

	Un	adjusted	Model	Adjusted Model†			
Dependent Variable	F	р	Partial	F	p	p	Partial Eta ²
			Eta ² (%)		Model	Factor	(%)
Body composition							
%Δ BMI	4.0	0.03	14.5	4.0	<0.01	0.06	50.0
%Δ %BF	17.7	<0.01	42.9	6.4	<0.01	<0.01	59.0
%∆ Lean mass	0.2	0.81	0.9	1.0	0.44	0.56	45.0
Functional fitness							
%Δ 6MWT	6.9	<0.01	23.8	2.9	<0.01	<0.01	44.2
%∆ Stair ascent	9.4	<0.01	29.0	5.4	<0.01	<0.01	58.7
%Δ 8FUG	6.9	<0.01	23.1	3.6	<0.01	<0.01	47.8
$\%\Delta$ Sit-to-stand five times	7.1	<0.01	23.9	2.0	0.06	0.04	34.5
%∆ Hand-grip strength/Body	2.1	0.13	8.3	5.9	<0.01	0.08	60.0
weight							
Health-related quality of life							
%Δ PF	0.5	0.58	2.3	5.2	<0.01	0.84	57.2
%Δ RP	1.9	0.17	7.5	2.6	0.02	0.13	40.1
%Δ BP	1.9	0.16	7.7	4.8	<0.01	0.12	55.9
%Δ GH	4.6	0.02	16.6	4.7	<0.01	0.03	54.4
%Δ VT	0.8	0.46	3.2	0.9	0.57	0.19	18.1
%Δ SF	0.4	0.70	1.5	4.7	<0.01	0.81	55.4
%Δ RE	1.4	0.27	5.4	4.9	<0.01	0.02	59.0
%Δ MH	5.9	<0.01	20.2	2.8	0.01	0.03	41.5
%Δ PCS	4.2	0.02	15.4	2.7	0.01	0.04	41.2
%Δ MCS	2.7	0.08	10.6	8.2	0.01	0.02	68.4

Independent variable – mean change ($\%\Delta$) in outcomes; Factor – Group.

†Adjusted for baseline values, age, gender, %BF, and medication use.BMI – body mass index; %BF – percentage of body fat; 6MWD – six-minute walk distance; 8FUG – eight-foot up-and- go; PF – physical functioning; RP – role-physical; BP – bodily pain; GH - general health; VT – vitality; SF – social functioning; RE – role-emotional MH - mental health; PCS – Physical Component Summary; MCS – Mental Component Summary.

Correlation Between Relative Changes

All changes in functional fitness tests were significantly correlated with changes in %BF. The observed correlations between a change in %BF and changes in 6MWT and handgrip strength (-0.32 $\leq r \leq$ -0.40; $p \leq 0.02$) were negative, while the correlations between the change in %BF and a change in time to perform each of stair ascent, 8FUG, and sit-to-stand five times were positive (0.28 $\leq r \leq$ 0.41; $p \leq 0.05$). A change in one's performance in the stair ascent test negatively correlated with changes in BP (r=-0.41; $p \leq 0.01$) and MH (r=-0.39; $p \leq 0.01$).

There was a trend that a change in 6MWT would positively correlate with changes in BP (r=0.27; p=0.06) and MH (r=0.29; p=0.05). Finally, changes in body composition did not correlate with changes in HRQoL domains.

Baseline Differences Between Individuals With and Without Missing Data

When compliant individuals were compared with individuals who had dropped out, minimal differences were observed. In the RT group, the dropout subjects had lower aerobic fitness than the compliant subjects (p=0.04). The opposite was observed in the AT group: the compliant subjects had a worse performance at baseline on the aerobic fitness test than the subjects who dropped out (p=0.03). Compliant subjects in the WL group had a better performance on the stair ascent (p=0.04) and a better perception of their RP

(p=0.02) and PCS (p=0.03) than volunteers who gave up along the study period.

Discussion

The decline in HRQoL generally observed during aging is multi-factorial, including among other factors, biological aging, disease, fat mass increase and redistribution, sarcopenia, death of relatives and friends, and certain lifestyle patterns (Halvorsrud & Kalfoss, 2007). Therefore, any intervention designed to improve the HRQoL of older adults also has to combat multiple factors. In the present study it was demonstrated that after exercise training, older adults
decreased their total body fat percentage and improved their overall functional fitness. Additionally, the AT group was able to increase their self-reported PF, GH, and MH, while the RT group increased self-reported GH. Finally, the magnitude of relative changes for all variables was not different among training groups, suggesting that they have similar benefits for body fat control, functionality, and self-reported HRQoL of community-dwelling older adults.

In this study, body composition was investigated because the common decrease in skeletal muscle mass (Visser, et al., 2005) and the increase in body fat put older adults at a higher risk of chronic conditions and disability (Bouchard, et al., 2007). Moreover, it has been demonstrated that increased body fat was associated with decreased PF and RP domains for SF-36 (Villareal, Banks, Siener, Sinacore, & Klein, 2004). Studies addressing the impact of exercise training on body composition have provided conflicting results. In accordance with the present observations, others have demonstrated resistance (Sillanpaa, et al., 2008) and aerobic training (Okita, et al., 2004) as valuable for reducing body fat. Nevertheless, the contrary was also observed (Heffernan, et al., 2009; Timmerman, Flynn, Coen, Markofski, & Pence, 2008; Wanderley, Oliveira, Mota, & Carvalho, 2010). It is likely that differences in results are due methodological bias, like lower intensity and the duration of interventions, as well as the use of different methods for assessing body composition. Another explanation may be the lack of control of diet intake. None of the studies previously mentioned have controlled for this possible confounding factor. In the present study, the energy intake of subjects was assessed at baseline and at the end of the protocol, and no significant change within groups was observed. Moreover, subjects did not report any illness or medication that could interfere in their weight or body fat. In this regard, it is likely that the observed changes in body composition were probably mostly related to the exercise training.

Taking into account that social contacts (Farquhar, 1995), the number of chronic conditions (Leinonen, et al., 2001), functionality (Leinonen, et al., 2001; Netuveli & Blane, 2008), disability (Lebrun, et al., 2006), and independence

(Netuveli & Blane, 2008) are relevant aspects when older adults assess their HRQoL, it was hypothesized that if AT and RT increased physical function and fitness of subjects to levels that permitted them to carry out an array of activities relevant to effective community living, such as walking, climbing, lifting, standing from a seated position, and handling everyday objects without fatigue, it would ameliorate HRQoL. Confirming the hypothesis, and in accordance with previous findings (Henwood, Riek, & Taaffe, 2008; Hung, et al., 2004; Levinger, Goodman, Hare, Jerums, & Selig, 2007; Tsai, et al., 2002), the observed improvements in body composition and in functional fitness after training were followed by better perceptions of HRQoL in both the AT and RT groups.

Indeed, the AT group obtained higher scores in three out of eight SF-36 domains (PF, GH and MH) while the RT group scored higher on the GH domain only. It is also important to mention that before intervention, the AT and RT groups had, on average, five and four out of eight domains that scored lower than normative values, respectively. But, at the end of the protocol, the AT group scored above the norm in all SF-36 domains and the RT group in six out eight. In addition, more than 60% of the individuals in the training groups rated their general status as better after the protocol, while almost 50% of individuals in the WL group rated their health as worse after the 8-month study period. Despite the AT group demonstrated within-group changes in a greater number of HRQoL domains than the RT group, the mean relative changes between the training groups for HRQoL domains were not different. Hence, these results are consistent with previous research (Kimura, et al., 2010; Martins, Assis, Nahas, Gauche, & Moura, 2009; Tsai, et al., 2002) suggesting that HRQoL improves with exercise, whatever the training type performed.

Despite relationships between body composition and HRQoL that were demonstrated in observational studies (Lebrun, et al., 2006; Lorraine, Hammock, & Blanton, 2005), in the present study the changes observed in body composition were not related with the changes in the domains of HRQoL. On the contrary, changes in performance in all the functional fitness tests correlated with changes in %BF, suggesting that maybe the relationship between body

composition and HRQoL is, to a certain degree, mediated by functional fitness. The observed change in the stair ascent performance also related with changes in the BP and MH domains. It is not surprising that a surrogate measure of lower limb strength and mobility related with one's subjective HRQoL. Several studies have reported that a loss of strength and power in older adults seems to be more pronounced in the lower limbs than in the upper limbs (Landers, Hunter, Wetzstein, Bamman, & Weinsier, 2001) and that this lower limb muscle impairment is associated with disability and the loss of one's mobility and independence. Therefore, it is possible that increases in functional fitness, namely in lower limb strength and mobility, may provide a global indicator of health and functioning through which the improvements in health and functional performance can be perceived and reflected in everyday life (Rejeski & Mihalko, 2001) and, for that reason, in training-induced improvements in the self-reported HRQoL of the subjects.

Other possible mechanisms include the effects of exercise on an array of positive health outcomes in older adults, including mitigating cardiovascular disease risk factors and reducing one's risk of falling (King, et al., 2000). The psychological benefits of social interaction and support were also suggested to be possible mediating factors of the exercise training effects on subjective HRQoL (Liu-Ambrose, et al., 2005). Finally, it has been suggested that exercise training might improve serotonin and endorphin levels, which can lead to beneficial effects on one's mood and feelings of well-being (Kritz-Silverstein, Barrett-Connor, & Corbeau, 2001). However, these variables were not controlled for in the present study.

Some caution is warranted when interpreting the results of this study. Firstly, the sample was comprised of independent, community-dwelling older volunteers with no serious medical conditions, and thus, does not represent a true randomized sample. In addition, a higher withdrawal rate was observed particularly in the RT group. This increased rate of dropouts may undercut the benefits of randomization. In order to explore possible bias in the results, the baseline values of compliant individuals and dropouts were compared in each

group. In the RT group, the dropouts had a worse performance in 6MWT than compliant subjects, while the opposite was observed in the AT group. In general, lower fitness levels at baseline are related to greater improvements after training, which suggests that, most likely, if the dropouts in the RT group had followed the protocol, the mean increase in the 6MWT of this group would be higher than the observed increase. The contrary it would probably happened with the AT group. In the WL group, compliant subjects had a better performance on the stair ascent test and a better perception of their RP and PCS than dropouts, suggesting that if all subjects had adhered to the protocol, the mean change differences between the WL group and the training groups would be higher than the observed differences. Nevertheless, previous studies (Ring-Dimitriou, et al., 2007) with long-duration exercise programs like that seem in the present study have reported a similar withdrawal rate.

Despite these limitations, this study has several strengths. Potential confounding variables were controlled for, such as habitual physical activity levels objectively measured by accelerometers, dietary intake, number of chronic conditions, and medication.Considering the study's limitations and strengths, the results led us to conclude that eight months of moderate to vigorous exercise training – independent of the exercise type (aerobic or resistance) – is an effective intervention for decreasing body fat mass percentage, improving overall physical function, and improving several domains of self-reported HRQoL in community-dwelling older adults. With the number of older adults constantly increasing, a public health approach based on the dissemination of aerobic and/or resistance exercise programs seems to be of paramount importance to avoid an increased number of disabled older individuals living with a poor HRQoL. However, additional studies with larger samples are needed to clarify this issue.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank the volunteers of this study. Without their selfless contribution, this study would not have been possible. The authors would also like to thank Dr. José Maia and Gustavo Silva for their statistical

support. This work was supported by the Foundation for Science and Technology (grants numbers PTDC/ DES/ 108780/ 2008 and SFRH/ BD/ 33124/ 2007).

References

- Al Snih, S., Markides, K., Ottenbacher, K., & Raji, M. (2004). Hand grip strength and incident ADL disability in elderly Mexican Americans over a sevenyear period. *Aging Clinical and Experimental Research, 16*(6), 481-486.
- American College of Sports Medicine and the American Heart Association (ACSM/AHA). (2007). Physical Activity and Public Health in Older Adults: Recommendation From the American College of Sports Medicine and the American Heart Association. *Circulation*, *116*(9), 1094-1105.
- American Thoracic Society (ATS). (2002). ATS Statement: Guidelines for the Six-Minute Walk Test.. American Journalof Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine, 166(1), 111-117.
- Anderson, C., Laubscher, S., & Burns, R. (1996). Validation of the Short Form
 36 (SF-36) Health Survey Questionnaire Among Stroke Patients. *Stroke*, 27(10), 1812-1816.
- Balzi, D., Lauretani, F., Barchielli, A., Ferrucci, L., Bandinelli, S., Milaneschi, Y., et al. (2010). Risk factors for disability in older persons over 3-year follow-up. Age and Ageing, 39, 92-98.
- Barengo, N. C., Hu, G., Lakka, T. A., Pekkarinen, H., Nissinen, A., & Tuomilehto, J. (2004). Low physical activity as a predictor for total and cardiovascular disease mortality in middle-aged men and women in Finland. *European Heart Journal, 25*(24), 2204-2211.
- Bean, J. F., Kiely, D. K., Herman, S., Leveille, S. G., Mizer, K., Frontera, W. R., et al. (2002). The relationship between leg power and physical performance in mobility-limited older people. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society, 50*(3), 461-467.
- Bouchard, D. R., Beliaeff, S., Dionne, I. J., & Brochu, M. (2007). Fat Mass But Not Fat-Free Mass Is Related to Physical Capacity in Well-Functioning

Older Individuals: Nutrition as a Determinant of Successful Aging (NuAge) The Quebec Longitudinal Study. *Journals of Gerontology Series A: Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences, 62*(12), 1382-1388.

- Brown, D., Brown, D., Heath, G., Balluz, L., Giles, W., Ford, E., et al. (2004). Associations between physical activity dose and health-related quality of life. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, 36(5), 890-896.
- Chang, J. T., Morton, S. C., Rubenstein, L. Z., Mojica, W. A., Maglione, M., Suttorp, M. J., et al. (Producer). (2004) Interventions for the prevention of falls in older adults: systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised clinical trials *BMJ*
- Farquhar, M. (1995). Elderly people's definitions of quality of life. *Social Science* & *Medicine*, *41*(10), 1439-1446.
- Ferreira, P. L. (1998). A Medição do Estado de Saúde: criação da versão portuguesa do MOS SF-36. Coimbra: Universidade de Coimbra, Centro de Estudos e Investigação em Saúde, Faculdade de Economia.
- Freedson, P., Melanson, E., & Sirard, J. (1998). Calibration of the Computer Science and Applications, Inc. accelerometer. *Medicine & Science in Sports& Exercise, 30*(5), 777-781.
- Halvorsrud, L., & Kalfoss, M. (2007). The conceptualization and measurement of quality of life in older adults: a review of empirical studies published during 1994-2006. *European Journal of Ageing, 4*, 229-246.
- Heffernan, K. S., Jae, S. Y., Vieira, V. J., Iwamoto, G. A., Wilund, K. R., Woods, J. A., et al. (2009). C-reactive protein and cardiac vagal activity following resistance exercise training in young African-American and white men. *American Journal of Physiology: Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology, 296*(4), R1098-1105.

- Henwood, T. R., Riek, S., & Taaffe, D. R. (2008). Strength Versus Muscle Power-Specific Resistance Training in Community-Dwelling Older Adults. *Journals of Gerontology Series A: Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences, 63*(1), 83-91.
- Herman, S., Kiely, D. K., Leveille, S., O'Neill, E., Cyberey, S., & Bean, J. F. (2005). Upper and Lower Limb Muscle Power Relationships in Mobility-Limited Older Adults. *Journals of Gerontology Series A: Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, 60(4), 476-480.
- Hopman, W. M., Towheed, T., Anastassiades, T., Tenenhouse, A., Poliquin, S., Berger, C., et al. (2000). Canadian normative data for the SF-36 health survey. *Canadian Medical Association Journal*, *163*(3), 265-271.
- Hung, C., Daub, B., Black, B., Welsh, R., Quinney, A., & Haykowsky, M. (2004). Exercise Training Improves Overall Physical Fitness and Quality of Life in Older Women With Coronary Artery Disease. *Chest*, *126*(4), 1026-1031.
- Instituto Nacional de Estatística (INE) (Ed.). (2009). Inquérito Nacional de Saúde 2005/2006.
- Jette, A. M. (2006). Toward a Common Language for Function, Disability, and Health. *Physical Therapy*, *86*(5), 726-734.
- Kervio, G., Carre, F., & Ville, N. S. (2003). Reliability and intensity of the sixminute walk test in healthy elderly subjects. *Medicine & Science in Sports& Exercise*, 35(1), 169-174.
- Kimura, K., Obuchi, S., Arai, T., Nagasawa, H., Shiba, Y., Watanabe, S., et al. (2010). The influence of short-term strength training on health-related quality of life and executive cognitive function. *Journal of Physiological Anthropology*, 29(3), 95-101.

- King, A. C., Pruitt, L. A., Phillips, W., Oka, R., Rodenburg, A., & Haskell, W. L. (2000). Comparative effects of two physical activity programs on measured and perceived physical functioning and other health-related quality of life outcomes in older adults. *Journals of Gerontology Series A: Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, 55(2), M74-83.
- Krause, M. P., Hallage, T., Gama, M. P., Goss, F. L., Robertson, R., & da Silva,
 S. G. (2007). Association of adiposity, cardiorespiratory fitness and exercise practice with the prevalence of type 2 diabetes in Brazilian elderly women. *International Journal of Medical Sciences*, 4(5), 288-292.
- Kritz-Silverstein, D., Barrett-Connor, E., & Corbeau, C. (2001). Cross-sectional and Prospective Study of Exercise and Depressed Mood in the Elderly: The Rancho Bernardo Study. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, *153*(6), 596–603.
- Kroenke, C. H., Kubzansky, L. D., Adler, N., & Kawachi, I. (2008). Prospective Change in Health-Related Quality of Life and Subsequent Mortality Among Middle-Aged and Older Women. *American Journal of Public Health*, 98(11), 2085-2091.
- Kruger, J., Bowles, H., Jones, D., Ainsworth, B., & Kohl, H. (2007). Healthrelated quality of life, BMI and physical activity among US adults (>/=18 years): National Physical Activity and Weight Loss Survey, 2002. *International Journal of Obesity (Lond), 31*(2), 321-327.
- Landers, K. A., Hunter, G. R., Wetzstein, C. J., Bamman, M. M., & Weinsier, R. L. (2001). The Interrelationship Among Muscle Mass, Strength, and the Ability to Perform Physical Tasks of Daily Living in Younger and Older Women. *Journals of Gerontology Series A: Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, 56(10), B443-B448.
- Lebrun, C., van der Schouw, Y., de Jong, F., Pols, H., Grobbee, D., & Lamberts, S. (2006). Relations between body composition, functional

and hormonal parameters and quality of life in healthy postmenopausal women. *Maturitas, 55*(1), 82-92.

- Leinonen, R., Heikkinen, E., & Jylha, M. (2001). Predictors of decline in selfassessments of health among older people--a 5-year longitudinal study. *Social Science & Medicine*, *52*(9), 1329-1341.
- Levinger, I., Goodman, C., Hare, D. L., Jerums, G., & Selig, S. (2007). The Effect of Resistance Training on Functional Capacity and Quality of Life in Individuals with High and Low Numbers of Metabolic Risk Factors. *Diabetes Care, 30*(9), 2205-2210.
- Ling, C. H. Y., Taekema, D., de Craen, A. J. M., Gussekloo, J., Westendorp, R.
 G. J., & Maier, A. B. (2010). Handgrip strength and mortality in the oldest old population: the Leiden 85-plus study. *Canadian Medical Association Journal, 182*(5), 429-435.
- Liu-Ambrose, T., Khan, K., Eng, J., Lord, S., Lentle, B., & McKay, H. (2005). Both resistance and agility training reduce back pain and improve healthrelated quality of life in older women with low bone mass. *Osteoporosis International, 16*(11), 1321-1329.
- Lord, S. R., & Menz, H. B. (2002). Physiologic, psychologic, and health predictors of 6-minute walk performance in older people. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, 83*(7), 907-911.
- Lord, S. R., Murray, S. M., Chapman, K., Munro, B., & Tiedemann, A. (2002). Sit-to-Stand Performance Depends on Sensation, Speed, Balance, and Psychological Status in Addition to Strength in Older People. *Journals of Gerontology Series A: Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, 57(8), M539-M543.
- Lorraine, P., Hammock, R., & Blanton, J. (2005). Predictors of self-rated health status among Texas residents. *Preventing Chronic Disease, 2*(4), A12.

- Lyons, R. A., Perry, I. M., & Littlepage, B. N. C. (1994). Evidence for the Validity of the Short-form 36 Questionnaire (SF-36) in an Elderly Population. *Age and Ageing*, *23*(3), 182-184.
- Mark, A., & Janssen, I. (2008). Dose-response relation between physical activity and blood pressure in youth. *Medicine & Science in Sports& Exercise, 40*(6), 1007-1012.
- Martins, T., Assis, M., Nahas, M., Gauche, H., & Moura, E. (2009). Leisure-time physical inactivity in adults and factors associated. *Revista de Saude Publica, 43*(5), 814-824.
- McCarthy, E. K., Horvat, M. A., Holtsberg, P. A., & Wisenbaker, J. M. (2004). Repeated Chair Stands as a Measure of Lower Limb Strength in Sexagenarian Women. *Journals of Gerontology Series A: Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences,* 59(11), 1207-1212.
- Mossey, J. M., & Shapiro, E. (1982). Self-rated health: a predictor of mortality among the elderly. *American Journal of Public Health*, *72*(8), 800-808.
- Netuveli, G., & Blane, D. (2008). Quality of life in older ages. *British Medical Bulletin, 85*(1), 113-126.
- Okita, K., Nishijima, H., Murakami, T., Nagai, T., Morita, N., Yonezawa, K., et al. (2004). Can Exercise Training With Weight Loss Lower Serum C-Reactive Protein Levels? *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 24(10), 1868-1873.
- Parker, S. G., Peet, S. M., Jagger, C., Farhan, M., & Castleden, C. M. (1998). Measuring health status in older patients. The SF-36 in practice. *Age and Ageing*, 27(1), 13-18.
- Rejeski, W. J., & Mihalko, S. L. (2001). Physical Activity and Quality of Life in Older Adults. *Journals of Gerontology Series A: Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, 56, 23-35.

- Rikli, R. E., & Jones, C. J. (1998). The reliability and validity of a 6-minute walk test as a measure of physical endurance in older adults. *Journal of Aging and Physical Activity*, 6(4), 363-375.
- Rikli, R. E., & Jones, C. J. (1999). Development and Validation of a Functional Fitness Test for Community-Residing Older Adults. *Journal of Aging and Physical Activity*, 7, 129-161.
- Ring-Dimitriou, S., von Duvillard, S. P., Paulweber, B., Stadlmann, M., Lemura,
 L. M., Peak, K., et al. (2007). Nine months aerobic fitness induced changes on blood lipids and lipoproteins in untrained subjects versus controls. *European Journal of Applied Physiology*, *99*(3), 291-299.
- Sillanpaa, E., Hakkinen, A., Nyman, K., Mattila, M., Cheng, S., Karavirta, L., et al. (2008). Body composition and fitness during strength and/or endurance training in older men. *Medicine & Science in Sports& Exercise*, 40(5), 950-958.
- Syddall, H., Cooper, C., Martin, F., Briggs, R., & Aihie Sayer, A. (2003). Is grip strength a useful single marker of frailty? *Age and Ageing, 32*(6), 650-656.
- Taekema, D. G., Gussekloo, J., Maier, A. B., Westendorp, R. G. J., & de Craen,
 A. J. M. (2010). Handgrip strength as a predictor of functional, psychological and social health. A prospective population-based study among the oldest old. *Age and Ageing*, 39(3), 331-337.
- Tanaka, H., Monahan, K. D., & Seals, D. R. (2001). Age-predicted maximal heart rate revisited. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, 37(1), 153-156.
- Tiedemann, A. C., Sherrington, C., & Lord, S. R. (2007). Physical and Psychological Factors Associated With Stair Negotiation Performance in Older People. *Journals of Gerontology Series A: Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, 62(11), 1259-1265.

- Timmerman, K. L., Flynn, M. G., Coen, P. M., Markofski, M. M., & Pence, B. D. (2008). Exercise training-induced lowering of inflammatory (CD14+CD16+) monocytes: a role in the anti-inflammatory influence of exercise? *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*, 84(5), 1271-1278.
- Tsai, J., Chan, P., Wang, C., Jeng, C., Hsieh, M., Kao, P., et al. (2002). The effects of exercise training on walking function and perception of health status in elderly patients with peripheral arterial occlusive disease. *Journal of Internal Medicine*, 252(5), 448-455.
- VanSwearingen, J. M., & Brach, J. S. (2001). Making Geriatric Assessment Work: Selecting Useful Measures. *Physical Therapy*, *81*(6), 1233-1252.
- Villareal, D., Banks, M., Siener, C., Sinacore, D., & Klein, S. (2004). Physical frailty and body composition in obese elderly men and women. *Obesity Research*, *12*(6), 913-920.
- Visser, M., Goodpaster, B. H., Kritchevsky, S. B., Newman, A. B., Nevitt, M., Rubin, S. M., et al. (2005). Muscle Mass, Muscle Strength, and Muscle Fat Infiltration as Predictors of Incident Mobility Limitations in Well-Functioning Older Persons. *Journals of Gerontology Series A: Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences, 60*(3), 324-333.
- Wannamethee, G., & Shaper, A. G. (1991). Self-assessment of Health Status and Mortality in Middle-Aged British Men. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 20(1), 239-245.
- Wanderley, F. A. C., Oliveira, J., Mota, J., & Carvalho, J. (2010). Effects of a Moderate-intensity Walking Program on Blood Pressure, Body Composition and Functional Fitness in Older Women: results of a pilot study. *Archives of Exercise in Health and Disease*, 1(2), 50-57.
- Ware, J. E., Jr., & Kosinski, M. (2001). SF-36 Physical & Mental Health Summary Scales: A Manual for Users of Version 1 (Second Edition ed.). Lincoln, RI.

- Ware, J. E., Snow, K. K., Kosinski, M., & Gandek, B. (1993). SF-36 Health Survey: Manual and Interpretation Guide. Boston Mass: Health Institute, New England Medical Centre.
- Whitney, J. C., Lord, S. R., & Close, J. C. T. (2005). Streamlining assessment and intervention in a falls clinic using the Timed Up and Go Test and Physiological Profile Assessments. *Age and Ageing*, *34*(6), 567-571.

CHAPTER VIII

FINAL REMARKS

8. FINAL REMARKS

This section aims to answer the three major questions of this thesis based on the main findings of the descriptive, correlational and RCT studies.

Are simple physical/functional fitness field tests capable of identifying, in a group of community-dwelling older adults, those who are at an increased risk of CVD and those with a lower HRQoL?

The findings from Study II demonstrated that the performance of communitydwelling older adults on the 6MWT was associated with cardiovascular function at rest and with several CVDs risk factors. These findings reinforce results from previous studies which demonstrated that lower levels of aerobic fitness are related with an increased CVD risk. Moreover, this study adds to the body of literature providing evidence that a simple field-test is able to identify older individuals with high %BF, SBP, and RPP_{rest}, independent of age and sex.

Results from previous observational studies have demonstrated that lower levels of aerobic fitness and muscular strength were related with decreased functionality and increased disability and dependence in older adults. Considering that older adults generally report disability and the loss of autonomy as contributing factors to a poor QoL/HRQoL, this study aimed to observe if aerobic fitness and muscular strength, as surrogate measures of functional limitation, and assessed by simple field tests were capable of identifying older adults with a low self-reported HRQoL.

The results confirmed that, at least in this group of community-dwelling older adults, the way they reported some aspects of HRQoL were related to general physical fitness as assessed by 6MWT and hand-grip strength. The fit older adults were twice as likely to score higher in the PF, RP and VT domains, as compared to their less-fit peers. Moreover, the observed positive associations between 6MWT and hand-grip strength with PF, RP and VT seemed to be independent of BMI, the number of chronic conditions and education.

Altogether, the findings from descriptive studies suggested that (i) simple fitness tests like 6MWT are able to identify older adults with an increased CVD risk and (ii) that physical fitness is positively related with self-reported physical health domains.

However, the findings from the descriptive correlational studies do not prove causality. Thus, to observe the direct effects of increasing physical fitness on CVD risk factors, cardiovascular function, functional fitness and HRQoL of community-dwelling older adults, a RCT was designed. Although fitness is greatly influenced by genetics, exercise training seems to be the better way to improve individuals' fitness. Therefore, two different exercise training typesAT and RT were chosen in order to achieve this goal.

Does exercise training improve the CVD risk profile, cardiovascular function, functional fitness, and HRQoL of community-dwelling older adults?

After the eight months of exercise training, subjects in both AT and RT groups improved their overall performance in physical and functional fitness tests as well as decreased total %BF and trunk fat. Additionally, RT was able to increase overall HRV whereas AT was able to decrease resting BP and resting HR, increase efferent vagal activity, and decrease low-grade systemic inflammation, in community-dwelling older adults. Finally, AT was able to increase self-reported PF, GH, and MH, while RT increased self-reported GH, and independent of training type, 67.7% of trained subjects reported their health as much better or somewhat better now than one year ago.

Are there differences in the effects of aerobic versus resistance training on the CVD risk profile, cardiovascular function, functional fitness, and HRQoL of community-dwelling older adults?

The magnitude of relative changes for body composition, autonomic function (HR, BP, and HRV), lipidic profile, fasting glycemia, inflammation markers, performance on functional fitness tests, and HRQoL domains were not different among exercise training types, suggesting that they have similar benefits for

cardiovascular function, CVD risk factors, functionality, and self-reported HRQoL of community-dwelling older adults.

Altogether, the findings from the RCT studies suggested that aerobic or resistance exercise training is an effective intervention for: (i) improving overall physical function; (ii) decreasing body fat mass percentage; (iii) improving autonomic function; (iv) decreasing low-grade chronic inflammation, as assessed by hs-CRP; and (v) improving several domains of self-reported HRQoL. The last finding from the RCT studies is that AT and RT seem to induce changes of similar magnitude on the variables investigated in this thesis.

Briefly, it seems that in physically independent, community-dwelling older adults, with no serious medical conditions, the type of exercise training does not matter for increasing functionality, reducing CVD risk or increasing HRQoL; the most important is that they exercise.

Based on the present results and those from previous disability models, we suggested a new amended model, in Figure 1, in order to explain the interactions between CVD risk factors, inactive lifestyle, functional fitness, impairment-disability evolution, and HRQoL in older adults, as well as the role of physical activity and exercise training on these interactions.

It is now proposed that changing an inactive lifestyle by increasing the quantity and intensity of PA, which can be done through formal and structured PA like the exercise program presented in this thesis, will lead to an increase in physical and functional fitness. Both were demonstrated to be negatively related with CVD risk. A decreased risk for CVD added to an increased fitness and functionality will decrease the one's susceptibility to impairment, functional limitation, and disability. Finally, reducing older adults' CVD risk and disability and increasing their functionality will favor a higher subjective HRQoL.



Figure 1. The first model was suggested by Rikli & Jones (1999). The second model was amended based on the results obtained in this thesis and aims to explain the interactions between CVD risk factors, an inactive lifestyle, functional fitness, impairment-disability evolution, and HRQoL in physically independent, community-dwelling older adults with no serious medical conditions.

CHAPTER IX

CONCLUSION

9. CONCLUSION

Based on the analysis of the results drawn from the different studies presented in this thesis, it is possible to conclude that, in physically independent, community-dwelling, older adults with no serious clinical conditions:

A worse cardiovascular profile (higher %BF, trunk fat, SBP) is related with lower aerobic fitness as assessed by 6MWT.

An elevated aerobic fitness level, as assessed by 6MWT, is correlated with favorable cardiovascular function at rest.

Higher levels of physical fitness, as assessed by hand-grip strength and 6MWT, are associated with higher self-reports in several domains of HRQoL, especially those included in the physical health component.

Eight months of moderate to vigorous aerobic or resistance exercise training: (i) improves physical and functional fitness, (ii) decreases CVD risk profile, (iii) increases cardiovascular function, and (iv) improves subjective HRQoL

Aerobic and resistance training seem to induce changes of similar magnitude on physical and functional fitness, CVD risk profile, and subjective HRQoL.

For future research, it is recommend a larger sample and the use of different exercise types as well as different training intensities and duration. An investigation into the effects of exercise training on different indexes of autonomic dysfunction and other biochemical and inflammatory markers related to CVD is also recommended.

APPENDIX 1

Written Informed Consent



FCT Fundação para a Ciência e a Tecnologia

MINISTÉRIO DA CIÊNCIA, TECNOLOGIA E ENSINO SUPERIOR

Centro de Investigação em Actividade Física, Saúde e Lazer

Carta de Consentimento/ Termo de Responsabilidade

Para a presente investigação, os participantes serão submetidos a uma série de procedimentos de avaliação de parâmetros relacionados com a aptidão física e a saúde, nomeadamente:

- Avaliação da composição corporal;
- Análises de amostra sanguínea;
- Medidas de Pressão Arterial e Frequência Cardíaca em repouso e em exercício;
- Inquérito sobre estado de saúde percebido;
- Inquérito sobre hábitos nutricionais;
- Avaliação do nível de actividade física habitual;
- Testes de Aptidão física (equilíbrio, força muscular e aptidão cardiorespiratória).

Os dados recolhidos na pesquisa terão fins exclusivamente científicos, a identidade de cada participante será preservada. Espera-se, que os resultados deste estudo forneçam subsídios para o melhor entendimento do papel do exercício em algumas variáveis da aptidão física e saúde. Os resultados deste estudo estarão à disposição dos participantes mediante a solicitação dos mesmos, ao professor responsável. Nos casos onde forem detectadas restrições à prática de exercícios de intensidade moderada a vigorosa, serão sugeridos: 1) o afastamento provisório do programa de exercício e 2) a procura a um fisioterapeuta para tratamento adequado. Os voluntários têm ainda, o direito de abandonar a pesquisa, a qualquer momento, caso não se sintam satisfeitos.

Estando informado das intenções e dos propósitos desta pesquisa, eu,

declaro que participo voluntariamente nos projectos de doutorado da M.S. Flávia Wanderley, do Programa de Doutoramento em Actividade Física e Saúde da Faculdade de Desporto da Universidade do Porto, com orientação pela Profa. Dra. Joana Carvalho.

Ainda, ciente de que a realização de actividade física pode acarretar algum risco clínico, declaro que **me assegurei, previamente, de que não tenho quaisquer contra-indicações para a prática da actividade física e aceito todas as responsabilidades** inerentes à participação no Programa de Actividade Física Sénior.

Pela presente declaração, **isento de qualquer responsabilidade** a Faculdade de Desporto por alguma alteração do meu estado de saúde, decorrente directa ou indirectamente do programa de exercícios.

Porto, _____ de ______ de 2008

Assinatura do participante

APPENDIX 2

Medical Outcomes Study 36-Item Short-Form Health Study questionnaire, adapted and validated for the Portuguese population

FCT Fundação para a Ciência e a Tecnologia MINISTÉRIO DA CIÊNCIA, TECNOLOGIA E ENSINO SUPERIOR



Centro de Investigação em Actividade Física, Saúde e Lazer

MOS SF-36

Para responder coloque uma cruz no número que melhor descreve a sua saúde

1. En	n geral, diria que s	ua saúde é:		
Ópti	ma Muito b	oa Boa	Razoável	Fraca
1	2	3	4	5

2. Comparand geral actual	o com o que :	acontecia há um	ano, como desci	eve o seu estado
Muito melhor	Com algumas melhoras	Aproximadame nte igual	Um pouco pior	Muito pior
1	2	3	4	5

3. As perguntas que se seguem são sobre actividades que executa no seu dia-dia. Será que a sua saúde o/a limita nestas actividades? Se sim, quanto?

	Sim,	Sim, um	Não, nada
	muito	pouco	limitado/a
	limitado/a	limitado/a	
a) Actividades violentas, tais como participar em desportos			
violentos ou mesmo correr ou levantar pesos.	1	2	3
b) Actividades moderadas, tais como deslocar uma mesa			
ou aspirar a casa.	1	2	3
c) Levantar ou pegar nas compras da mercearia.			
	1	2	3
d) Subir vários lanços de escadas	1	2	3
e) Subir um lanço de escadas	1	2	3
f) Inclinar-se, ajoelhar-se ou baixar-se	1	2	3
g) Andar mais de 1Km	1	2	3
h) Andar vários quarteirões ou grupos de casas			
	1	2	3
i) Andar um quarteirão ou grupo de casas			
	1	2	3
j) Tomar banho ou vestir-se sozinho/a	1	2	3

4. Durante as últimas 4 semanas teve, no seu trabalho ou actividades diárias, algum dos problemas apresentados a seguir como consequência do seu estado de saúde físico?

	Sim	Não
a) Diminuiu o tempo gasto a trabalhar, ou noutras actividades	1	2
b) Fez menos do que queria	1	2
c) Sentiu-se limitado/a no tipo de trabalho ou noutras actividades	1	2
d) Teve dificuldade em executar o seu trabalho ou noutras actividades	1	2

(por exemplo foi preciso mais esforço)	

5. Durante as últimas 4 semanas teve, no seu trabalho ou actividades diárias, algum dos problemas apresentados a seguir devido a quaisquer problemas emocionais (tal como sentir-se deprimido/a ou ansioso/a)?

	Sim	Nao
a) Diminuiu o tempo gasto a trabalhar, ou noutras actividades	1	2
b) Fez menos do que queria	1	2
c) Não executou o trabalho ou outras actividades tão cuidadosamente como era	1	2
costume		

6. Durante as últimas 4 semanas, em que medida é que a sua saúde física ou problemas emocionais interferiram no seu relacionamento social normal com a família, amigos, vizinhos ou outras pessoas?

Absolutamente Nada	Pouco	Moderadamente	Bastante	Imenso
1	2	3	4	5

7. Durante as últimas 4 semanas teve dores?								
Nenhumas	Muito fracas	Ligeiras	Moderadas	Fortes	Muito Fortes			
1	2	3	4	5	6			

8. Durante as últimas 4 semanas, em que medida é que a dor interferiu com o seu trabalho normal (tanto o trabalho de casa como o trabalho doméstico)?									
Absolutamente nada	Pouco	Moderadamente	Bastante	Imenso					
1	2	3	4	5					

9. As perguntas que se seguem pretendem avaliar a forma como se sentiu e como lhe correram as coisas nas últimas quatro semanas.

Por cada pergunta, coloque por favor, uma cruz na resposta que melhor descreve a forma como se sentiu

Quanto tempo, nas últimas quatro	Sempre	A maior	Bastante	Algum	Pouco	Nunca
semanas	-	parte do	tempo	tempo	tempo	
		tempo				
a) Se sentiu cheio/a de vitalidade?	1	2	3	4	5	6
b) Se sentiu muito nervoso/a?	1	2	3	4	5	6
c) Se sentiu tão deprimido/a que	1	2	3	4	5	6
nada o/a animava?						
d) Se sentiu calmo/a e tranquilo/a?	1	2	3	4	5	6
e) Se sentiu com muita energia?	1	2	3	4	5	6
f) Se sentiu triste e em baixo?	1	2	3	4	5	6
g) Se sentiu estafado/a?	1	2	3	4	5	6
h) Se sentiu feliz?	1	2	3	4	5	6
i) Se sentiu cansado/a?	1	2	3	4	5	6

10.Durante as últimas 4 semanas teve, até que ponto é que a sua saúde física ou problemas emocionais limitaram a sua actividade social (tal como visitar amigos ou familiares próximos)?SempreA maior parte do tempoAlgum tempoPouco tempoNunca12345

11. Por favor, diga em que medida são verdadeiras ou falsas as seguintes afirmações:

annayooo.					
Ponha uma cruz em cada linha	Absolutamente	Verdade	Não	Falso	Absolutamente
	verdade		sei		Falso
a) Parece que adoeço mais facilmente	1	2	3	4	5
do que os outros					
b) Sou tão saudável como qualquer	1	2	3	4	5
outra pessoa					
c) Estou convecido/a que a minha	1	2	3	4	5
saúde vai piorar					
d) A minha saúde é óptima	1	2	3	4	5
d) A minna saude e optima	1	2	3	4	5

APPENDIX 3

Physical Activity Diary




Diário

O aparelho que vai usar a partir de agora é um monitor de actividade. Pretende medir a quantidade de movimento que vai efectuar ao longo do dia. Deve por isso usá-lo durante todo o dia, colocando-o à cintura logo pela manhã e retirando-o quando se for deitar. Tem que ser colocado sempre no mesmo lado da cintura e sempre na mesma posição. Enquanto usar o aparelho deve fazer tudo o que costuma fazer habitualmente. Este aparelho *não* é à *prova de água*, por isso quando for tomar banho, ou nadar, não o pode usar. Registar sempre, todos os dias, a hora que o colocou e o retirou.

Nome:		Código:	
Data de início:	Hora:	Data do fim:	Hora:

	Ao Ievantar	Antes de ir dormir	Só se realizou aquática (nadar	uma <u>actividade</u> , hidroginástica)
Dia da	Hora que	Hora que	Hora que	Hora que
semana	colocou	retirou	retirou	colocou
			(antes da	(depois da
			actividade)	actividade)
2ª Feira				
3ª Feira				
4 ^a Feira				
5ª Feira				
6ª Feira				
Sábado				
Domingo				

Obrigado pela colaboração!

APPENDIX 4

Dietary Record







INSTRUÇÕES PARA O PREENCHIMENTO DO DIÁRIO ALIMENTAR DE 4 DIAS

Por favor anote tudo o que comer ou beber durante 4 dias seguidos, a começar no próximo domingo. Faça descrições pormenorizadas de alimentos e bebidas como, por exemplo, tipo de pão (trigo, mistura, integral, etc.) ou tipo de leite (magro, meio-gordo ou gordo). Mencione também o tipo de confecção culinária como, por exemplo, carne de vaca guisada, ovos estrelados, costeleta de porco frita em margarina, etc..

Quando comer fora de casa, por favor anote tudo o que comer ou beber, imediatamente após o consumo. Não se esqueça de apontar tudo o que for comido ou bebido no intervalo das refeições como, por exemplo, cachorros, bolachas, café, açúcar, etc.

Como fazer o registo:

Inicie o registo com a página correspondente a esse dia (existem 2 páginas para cada dia); por favor assegure-se que preencheu as partes correspondentes a: HORA, LOCAL, ALIMENTOS E BEBIDAS CONSUMIDOS, TAMANHO DAS PORÇÕES.

Quanto às quantidades e aos tamanhos das porções:

Mencione o tamanho dos alimentos e a quantidade das bebidas. Para tal, use medidas caseiras como, por exemplo, 1 colher de chá de manteiga, 9 colheres de sopa cheias de arroz, 3 conchas de massa, 1 tigela de sopa, 1/2 chávena almoçadeira de leite (ou 1/2 chávena de chá, se for mais pequena), 1 copo de cerveja, etc. Seguem-se alguns exemplos:

Bebidas

Use copos ou chávenas e refira o tipo como, por exemplo, chávena almoçadeira, de chá ou de café. Quando misturar leite com café, mencione as quantidades de cada uma das bebidas (por exemplo, 1/4 de chávena almoçadeira com leite magro e o restante com café).

Sopas

Use tigelas (semelhantes à da cantina), número de conchas ou pratos (cheio, meio prato).

Molhos

Para cada molho (de fritos, guisados, maionese, etc.) use colheres de sopa ou de chá.

Carne, pescado, aves e pizza

Indique as quantidades consumidas especificando os alimentos e classificando as porções em pequenas, médias, grandes, fatias, unidades, cubos de carne, latas (de atum, por exemplo), ou medidas caseiras (colheres de sopa, chávena almoçadeira, etc.).

Hortaliças e legumes

Use rodelas (por exemplo, tomate, cebola, pepino), parte do prato (meio prato, um quarto de prato) ou chávenas almoçadeiras (meia chávena de alface, por exemplo).

Arroz, massa, feijão, ervilhas ou grão

Indique o número de colheres de sopa.

Batatas

Se forem cozidas, indique o número de batatas do tamanho de um ovo; em puré, diga o número de colheres de sopa. Se forem fritas, indique a que parte do prato corresponde (meio prato, um quarto de prato); em pacote, diga se é pequeno, médio ou grande.

Óleos, manteiga e margarina

Use colheres de sopa ou de chá

Açúcar, cacau, chocolate, mel Use pacotes de açúcar ou colheres de chá

Pão, pastelaria e doces

Use o número de pães ou fatias e mencione o tipo de pão se não for corrente (de trigo). Bolos: 1 unidade ou 1 fatia

Fruta

Refira o nome da fruta e indique o número de porções médias; se forem uvas, a unidade é 1 cacho.

NOTA: Se tiver balança ou conhecer o peso do alimento pode referi-lo

Dia da semana:

Data: / /

Hora	Local	Alimento	Quantidade

APPENDIX 5

Individual Physical Fitness Report



FCT Fundação para a Ciência e a Tecnologia MINISTÉRIO DA CIÊNCIA, TECNOLOGIA E ENSINO SUPERIOR



Relatório

AVALIAÇÕES DA APTIDÃO FÍSICA E ANTROPOMÉTRICA

Λ	lunol	' a '	۰.
A	uno	a	/.



Nota: O símbolo — significa que piorou e o + que melhorou

Força Isocinética Pico de torque 60° **Out/Nov 2008** Julho 2009 Alteração Músculos Flexores do Joelho Direito Músculos Flexores do Joelho Esquerdo Músculos Extensores do **Joelho Direito** Força Isocinética Músculos Extensores do Joelho Esquerdo Pico de torque 180° **Out/Nov 2008** Julho 2009 Alteração Músculos Flexores do Joelho Direito Músculos Flexores do **Joelho Esquerdo** Músculos Extensores do Joelho Direito Músculos Extensores do Joelho Esquerdo



Nota: O símbolo — significa que piorou e o + que melhorou

Peso		
Os Meus Resultados		Alteração
Out/Nov 2008 Julho 2009		
Kg Kg		
Índice de Massa Corporal – IMC		
Os Meus Resultados	Encontro-me:	Alteração
Out/Nov 2008 Julho 2009	Dentro da Zona	
Kq/m^2 Kq/m^2	Fora da Zona	
<u>5'</u>	Saudável	
Perímetro do Abdómen		
Os Meus Resultados	Encontro-me:	Alteração
Out/New 2008 Julke 2000	Dentro da Zona	
	Saudavei	
	Saudável	
Percentual de Gordura Corporal		
Os Meus Resultados	Encontro-me:	Alteração
Out/Nov 2008 Julho 2009	Saudável	
% %	Fora da Zona	
	Saudável	
Relação Cintura Quadru – RCO		
Os Meus Resultados		Alteração
		Alterayau
Out/Nov 2008 Julho 2009		

Nota: O símbolo — significa que piorou e o + que melhorou

Os Meus V	/alores		Alteração
0	ut/Nov 2008	Julho 2009	
PAS	PAD	PAS PAD	
	mmł	Hg mmHa	
Frequên	cia C ardíaca e	EM REPOUSO	
FREQUÊN Os Meus V	CIA C ARDÍACA E /alores	EM REPOUSO	Alteração
FREQUÊN Os Meus V	CIA CARDÍACA E /alores Out/Nov 2008	EM REPOUSO Julho 2009	Alteração
FREQUÊN Os Meus V	CIA CARDÍACA E /alores Out/Nov 2008	EM REPOUSO Julho 2009 opm bpm	Alteração

ASSIDUIDADE	
N ^o falta	Frequência (%)

Nota: O símbolo — significa que piorou e o + que melhorou

OBRIGADO PELA SUA COLABORAÇÃO

Atenciosamente,

M.S. Flávia Wanderley

APPENDIX 6

Acknowledgement Letter



Carta de Agradecimento

Caro Sr(a).,

A aluna Flávia Accioly Canuto Wanderley, do Programa Doutoral em Actividade Física e Saúde bem como sua orientadora, Professora Dra. Joana Carvalho, ambas da Faculdade de Desporto da Universidade do Porto vêm por meio desta agradecer vossa enorme colaboração. Sem vossa disponibilidade para responder aos inquéritos, realizar testes, e retirar amostras de sangue nossa pesquisa não teria sido possível.

Aproveitamos a oportunidade para nos desculpar pela demora referente a entrega deste último relatório. Infelizmente, tivemos alguns problemas técnicos que impossibilitaram que as análises de sangue ficassem prontas com maior rapidez.

Temos também o prazer de informar que alguns dos resultados desta pesquisa já foram apresentados em eventos científicos nacionais e internacionais. Nestas ocasiões, tomou-se sempre o cuidado de preservar a identidade de cada participante. Por fim, lembramos que os resultados deste estudo estarão à disposição dos participantes mediante a solicitação dos mesmos, ao professor responsável.

Com os melhores cumprimentos,

M.S. Flávia A. C. Wanderley

Porto, Setembro de 2010